
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO REMOTE MEETINGS 
 

During the Covid 19 pandemic virtual meetings are taking place. 
 
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen to proceedings at 
this virtual meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the Council website at 
least 24hrs before the meeting. 
 
To view live paste this link into your browser: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ 
 
 
Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the live broadcast, as 
they would be able to during a regular Committee meeting in the Council Offices. 
It is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without 
disruption, so the only participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors 
concerned and the officers advising the Committee. 
 
 

 

 

Cabinet 
Thursday 5 November 2020 at 

6pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ


Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: 
Councillors I Courts, K Grinsell, K Hawkins, 
A Mackiewicz, K Meeson, T Richards OBE, 
A Rolf, R Sleigh OBE, J Tildesley, 
A Adeyemo, S Caudwell and F Nash 
 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121-704 6000  
 
Jane Game 
Tel: 0121 704 6051 
Email: jgame@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Date Wednesday 28 October 2020 
 

 
CABINET - Thursday 5 November 2020 

 
AGENDA 

 
Leader of the Council to announce: 
 
‘May I remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live to 

YouTube via the internet.’ 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 

To receive declarations of interest from Members. 
 

3.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 

To answer any questions, if any asked by any resident of the Borough pursuant 
to Standing Orders. 
 

4.  MINUTES (Pages 7 - 10) 
 

To receive for information only the minutes of the previous meeting held on 1 
October 2020. 
 

5.  COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2021/22 (Pages 11 - 18) 
 

To provide an update on Solihull Council’s Council Tax Reduction (CTR) 
Scheme from April 2021. 
 

6.  SOLIHULL TOWN CENTRE MASTERPLAN (Pages 19 - 76) 
 

To present to Cabinet the refreshed Solihull Town Centre Masterplan (‘the 



Masterplan’), highlighting the process that has been undertaken in developing 
the Masterplan and providing an overview of the research, engagement, 
analysis and evidence base that have informed the proposals within it. To seek 
approval to adopt the Masterplan. 

 
7.  SMARTER WAYS OF WORKING STRATEGY (Pages 77 - 90) 

 

To request Cabinet to approve an allocation from the Budget Strategy Reserve 
and budget adjustments to support proposals to reset the organisation following 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

8.  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY UPDATE (INCORPORATING THE 
PERIOD 6 POSITION) AS AT 30TH SEPTEMBER 2020 (Pages 91 - 106) 
 

The purpose of the report is: 

 To outline the Medium term Financial Strategy (MTFS) latest financial 
position as at 30th September 2020 (Period 6) including the latest Covid-
19 financial impact as at the same date; 

 To report on the latest Red, Amber and Green (RAG) ratings for the 
delivery of the (MTFS) savings 2020/21 to 2022/23, as detailed in 
Appendix A; 

 To update on the overall Covid-19 financial position over the current 
MTFS period compared to the position reported to Cabinet in September 
2020. More detail can be found in Appendix B; 

 To provide details of all the budget movements which have taken place 
up to Period 6 of this financial year, as required by Financial Regulations 
and the revised budget resulting from those movements, which Members 
are asked to approve detailed in Appendix C; and 

 To summarise the reports to the individual Cabinet portfolio meetings 
made during November 2020.  

 
9.  DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT (DSG) RECOVERY PLAN (Pages 107 - 122) 

 

The purpose of the report is to:  
 

 Confirm the actions being taken to improve the availability of education 
provision and increase capacity within the Borough so that more of our 
children and young people can have their needs met locally; and 

 Update on the progress of the DSG Recovery Plan and the actions taken 
following the previous reports to Cabinet in October 2019 and February 
2020. 

 
10.  PROPERTY INVESTMENT STRATEGY (Pages 123 - 150) 

 

To seek approval for a revised Property Investment Strategy. 
 

11.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  



 

The meeting is likely not to be open to the public during discussion of the 
following items because the reports contain exempt information as defined in 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
 

12.  PRIVATE APPENDIX PROPERTY INVESTMENT STRATEGY (Pages 151 - 
152) 
 

Private Appendix B to be read in conjunction with the public report, item 10 on 
the agenda. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
CABINET - 1 October 2020 

 
 

 

1  

MINUTES 
 
 
Present: Councillors: I Courts, K Grinsell, K Hawkins, A Mackiewicz, K Meeson, 

T Richards OBE, A Rolf, R Sleigh OBE, J Tildesley, A Adeyemo, S Caudwell 
and F Nash 
 

Officers: Nick Page, Paul Johnson, Deborah Merry, Andrew Kinsey,  Ruth Tennant, 
Mary Morrissey, Perry Wardle, Gary Palmer, Mark Andrews, Walter Bailey 
and Jane Game 
 

  
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
None were received. 
 

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
Cllr Hawkins advised he knew one of residents referred to in Mr Coombs deputation. 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 
Three requests were received to address Cabinet from residents of the Borough: 
 

 Mrs McGarry asked when the Local Plan Transport Assessment would be 
made public. 

 

 Mr Coombs made a deputation setting out his concerns regarding the “Arden 
Triangle” (site 9). 
 

 Cllr McLoughlin made a deputation setting out his concern regarding the length 
of the consultation period being the statutory minimum of 6 weeks during a 
pandemic and the need for the Local Plan in its final format be presented to 
Council for final approval prior to submission to the Secretary of State.  

 
The Leader responded to each question and deputation. 
 

4. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10 September were presented for information 
only. 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 10 September be received for 
information. 

 

5. LOCAL PLAN REVIEW – DRAFT SUBMISSION PLAN  
 
The Cabinet was invited to endorse the Local Plan Review - Draft Submission Plan 
and asked to make a recommendation to Full Council on 6 October 2020 seeking 
approval for publication of the plan and arrangements for submission of the Plan to the 
Secretary of State for examination. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
CABINET - 1 October 2020 

 
 

 

2  

 
Members were reminded that the Council had already consulted on Issues and 
Options twice on a Draft Local Plan. These earlier consultations had helped shape the 
content of the Plan and the Council now needed to publish the version of the Plan it 
intended to submit for independent examination. 
 
The Plan contained a strategy and policies that not only set out the level and 
distribution of where growth took place, but also how it was to be undertaken to ensure 
quality outcomes, and importantly where it shouldn’t take place. It was also an 
opportunity to incorporate the Council’s Climate Change Declaration into a statutory 
plan. Detailed in the report was a summary of some of the key components of the Plan 
(paragraph 3.5). The report also detailed what the next steps would be (paragraph 
3.6). 
 
The Leader advised Members that as well as the deputations received at the start of 
the meeting, he had also received a number of written representations from Hampton 
Parish Council and Hockley Heath Parish Council, Knowle Dorridge and Bentley Heath 
Neighbourhood Plan Forum and Pegasus on behalf of their client. The Leader briefed 
Cabinet on the issues raised and the responses to be given. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning and Housing set out the context 
for the Plan, and the principles which had informed the development of the Plan. The 
Cabinet Member referenced the evidence base used to inform the Plan and the 
benefits which would result from having an agreed Plan in terms of the Council being 
in control of development within the Borough and the ability to meet the demands for 
more homes, jobs and infrastructure. 
 
Officers advised Members of the legal framework principles which had, had to be 
adhered to while developing the Plan i.e.  positively prepared, justified, effective and 
consistent with national planning policies. Officers also referenced paragraph 3.5 of 
the report in particular (c) and (e) site selection, and specifically the inclusion of sites in 
the green belt. 
 
In considering the report Members asked a number of questions, made a number of 
observations and sought clarification on a number of points which in summary 
included:- 
 

 Officers confirmed that they would clarify issues raised around site SO1; 
 

 Members felt it was important to provide clear explanations about the 
mitigations planed with regard to sites selected which were within the green 
belt; 
 

 It was noted that in relation to the need to increase school capacity, the School 
Organisation Plan would address the increased demand for school places; 
 

 With regard to concerns about the length of the consultation process, Members 
were reminded about the previous consultations which had been undertaken 
over a number of years and the need to act sooner rather than later to ensure 
that the evidence being relied upon to inform the draft submission Plan did not 
become out of date. The point was also made that any further delay in having 
an agreed Local Plan in place would risk planning by appeal, rather than the 
Council having control; 
 

Page 8



 
CABINET - 1 October 2020 

 
 

 

3  

 Members questioned how the public would know whether what was being 
proposed was legally compliant. Officer advised they would engage with people 
to support their understanding and publish FAQs; 
 

 Officers also clarified what would be considered a major modification requiring 
further Council agreement such as a site being removed from the submission 
Plan and minor modifications which would be delegated to the Leader and 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning and Housing to make such as 
grammatical or cartography changes; and 
 

 Cabinet Members confirmed that they were content that the draft submission 
had been drawn up in compliance with the legal framework, had been 
developed using an evidence based process, and the consultation process up 
to this point of submission had been proportionate. It was also noted that all the 
representation received during the 6 week consultation would be submitted to 
the Secretary of State for examination. 

  
  

RESOLVED: 
 

(i) That the Local Plan Review - Draft Submission Plan (Appendix A) be 
endorsed; 
 

(ii) That the Sustainability Appraisal (Appendix B) and the Fair Treatment 
Assessment (Appendix C) as supporting documents to the Draft 
Local Plan be noted; 

 
(iii) That Full Council be RECOMMENDED to: 

 

a) Agree the publication of The Draft Submission Plan for a period 
of 6 weeks inviting representations on the soundness and legal 
compliance of the plan; 
 

b) Agree that prior to the formal publication of the Local Plan for a 
statutory period of representations, authority to make minor 
changes to the plan (if necessary) be delegated to the Director 
for Economy & Infrastructure in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council and Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning 
& Housing. Any such changes will be recorded in a schedule 
and published for transparency; and  

 

c) That following a review of the representations that are 
subsequently received, delegate authority to the Director for 
Economy & Infrastructure in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning & 
Housing to take full account of the representations received, 
propose minor amendments to the Local Plan (where this is 
necessary to correct any errors and aid clarity) and submit the 
Local Plan to the Secretary of State for a period of public 
examination. 

 
 
 

The meeting ended at 7.20 pm 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Meeting date: 5 November 2020 

 

Report to: Full Cabinet 

Subject/report 
title: 

COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2021/22 

Report from: Director of Resources & Deputy Chief Executive  

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Joanne Robinson, Head of Income and Awards 
joanne.robinson@solihull.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To provide an update on Solihull Council’s Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 
from April 2021. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Cabinet is asked to recommend that Full Council approves the Council’s Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2021/22.  

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 In April 2013 the national Council Tax Benefit regulations were abolished and local 
authorities became responsible for developing their own local schemes for Council 
Tax support.  

3.2 Each year Full Council must approve the Council’s CTR scheme. We are now looking 
to agree our scheme from April 2021 onwards.  

3.3 From April 2017 the Council decided that all working age residents who are liable for 
council tax should pay a minimum of 15% towards their council tax irrespective of 
income.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

mailto:joanne.robinson@solihull.gov.uk


 

 
 

3.4 Pensioners are protected under the original scheme rules and are not affected by this 
change. 

3.5 There is an obligation on the Council to consider whether to revise or replace its CTR 
scheme each year. We are not proposing to make any changes or revisions to our 
CTR scheme for April 2021, the reasons for this are set out in section 5. 

 Impact of Covid-19  

3.6 The impact of Covid-19 has resulted in an increase in the number of new claims 
received for CTR. The Council receives CTR claims through two sources – through 
our online application form and directly from the Department of Work and Pensions 
where the claimant has made a claim for universal credit and is of working age.   

3.7 We usually receive an average of 300 new claims per month for those of working age. 
The table below shows the number of new claims received since February 2020 to the 
end of September 2020. 

Month Number of new CTR Claims Received  

February 2020 341 

March 2020 886 

April 2020 1044 

May 2020 714 

June 2020 656 

July 2020 504 

August 2020 506 

September 2020 455 

 

3.8 With the ongoing impact of Covid-19 we expect our caseload to increase during 
2020/21. We estimated that we would receive an average of 600 new claims a month 
from working age claimants between May and August with the numbers estimated to 
be 400 per month from September to March. The reduction in numbers from 
September is an estimate only and may be impacted by any further lockdowns or 
when the Government’s furlough scheme ends in October (although this will now be 
replaced by the Job Support Scheme).  

3.9 Our current CTR caseload as at September is 14,222. This is the highest number of 
cases since August 2017. The number of working age CTR claimants now represents 
61% of the total number of cases. Since March 2020 our caseload has increased by 
1,203. 

Page 12



 

 
 

CTR Caseload Figures (as at April each year) 

2013 18,500 

2014 16,604 

2015 16,085 

2016 15,337 

2017 14,727 

2018 13,428 

2019 12,903 

2020 13,103 

 

3.10 Government has provided local authorities with a ‘Covid-19 Hardship Fund’. The 
Covid-19 Hardship Fund relates to the 2020/21 financial year only and is designed to 
meet the immediate needs of all working age taxpayers who are currently claiming 
local council tax reduction. The value of the fund is £1.572million. 

3.11 9,969 working age claimants have been eligible to receive the funding, and payments 
of £1.376million have been made (9,969 is the total number of claimants who have 
received a hardship payment and is higher than our current working age caseload 
figures as claimants move off CTR if their circumstances change). 

3.12 The latest projections indicate that the hardship payments will exceed the available 
allocation by £300,000 and this figure is included in the Covid-19 service impacts 
reported as part of the financial monitoring elsewhere on your agenda.  

Collection Rates 

3.13 Based on analysis of the impact on collection rates seen by authorities who introduced 
a minimum payment requirement for their CTR schemes we assumed a collection rate 
of 80% for our CTR customers. 

3.14 Our collection statistics show that we collected 81.84% of council tax from CTR 
customers in 2019/20 which exceeded our target by 1.84%.  

3.15 In recognition of the challenging financial circumstances faced by residents as a result 
of Covid-19, the Council did not issue any payment reminder notices from March 2020 
to July 2020. No liability order hearings took place during this time and no 
enforcement action was taken. This has had an impact on our collection figures for 
2020/21 to date. 

3.16 As at the end of September 2020, the collection rate for CTR customers of working 
age is 45.96%. This compares to 47.92% in September 2019 - a difference of 1.96% 
(in monetary terms £44k). Recovery action has now commenced and along with the 

Page 13



 

 
 

issuing of payment reminders we continue to provide help and support to any CTR 
customer experiencing financial hardship.  

Support Mechanisms 

3.17 Since the introduction of the minimum 15% payment of council tax for working age 
CTR customers we have worked with our financial inclusion partners to put measures 
of support in place for customers who find it difficult to pay. A summary of the current 
support mechanisms available is detailed below. 

3.18 The Financial Inclusion Officers in Income & Awards are proactively contacting CTR 
claimants that have fallen into persistent arrears on their account. As part of this 
contact, officers are engaging with claimants to help them undertake personalised 
budgeting and maximise their entitlements to benefits, exemptions and further 
discounts. Officers on this team are working closely with the community advice hubs 
to ensure debt counselling and specialist welfare benefit assistance is being offered to 
help applicants make affordable repayments.  

3.19 As part of this personalised budgeting, officers are identifying where claimants may 
qualify for discretionary grants. We are utilising the Discretionary Hardship Payment 
Scheme to clear any eligible rent arrears or cover short term housing costs to provide 
breathing space for the repayment of council tax debt. Importantly, prior to the Covid-
19 restrictions in taking court action, this intervention had prevented rent arrears 
cases from being entered into court by their landlords and at the same time enabled 
claimants to find additional income to pay their council tax in part or full.   

3.20 Regular case conferencing has been established within the Income & Awards Team to 
identify complex CTR cases that have exhausted all recovery options and 
personalised budgeting support. In these instances, officers are considering the use of 
the Discretionary Reduction in Liability for Council Tax as set out by Section 13A 
(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. An online application form has been 
developed with guidance to help make it easier for applicants to get the right help. 
There are currently 8 cases being considered for the use of this hardship fund with 
one applicant receiving support as a result of being furloughed and having a 
significantly reduced income.  

3.21 Where claimants have been told to isolate as a result of Covid-19 and have a 
significant reduced income, we are working in partnership with the Helping Hands 
food bank to facilitate food parcels. In addition, we are issuing pre-paid meter top ups 
to provide emergency heating. The Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme is also in 
place from 28 September 2020 to 31 January 2021 to assist those who either test 
positive for Covid-19 or who are told to self-isolate and who are on a low income. A 
payment of £500 is made to those eligible.  

3.22 For those on a low income who are moving to affordable accommodation, the 
Financial Inclusion Officers are assisting with rent deposits, rent in advances and 
basic furnishings to reduce the pressures of setting up a new home and the impact of 
paying other priority debts such as council tax. They are working closely with the 
home options team at Solihull Community Housing to target residents that are 
threatened with homelessness.  

Page 14



 

 
 

 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 We could consider revising the CTR scheme to decrease or increase the minimum 
payment of 15% for our working age customers. However given the reasons in section 
5 this is not our preferred option. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 The reasons why we are not proposing to make any changes to our CTR scheme are: 

(a) The support for customers is based on each individual’s ability to pay and this 
means tested approach is fair and equitable. 

(b) Pensioners continue to be protected under the original scheme rules. 

(c) Collection rates for CTR customers have been achieved in 2017/18, 2018/19 
and 2019/20. Although current collection rates are lower than compared to the 
same time in previous years, this is as a result of the Council’s decision to not 
undertake any recovery action from March 2020 to July 2020.  

(d) The Council provides a variety of support mechanisms as detailed in section 3. 
These support mechanisms are available for any CTR claimant who is suffering 
financial hardship as a result of their council tax liability. The support 
mechanisms are in place to offer longer term solutions to help claimants with 
money management.  

5.2 As outlined in section 6.3 below, the cost of the CTR scheme has increased 
significantly as a result of Covid-19. Any change to the CTR scheme which increases 
the costs further will put additional pressure on the MTFS at a time when the Council’s 
finances are under substantial strain.  

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the 
opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply of housing, 
especially affordable and social 
housing. 

      

Environment:       

Page 15

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Ourvisionandpriorities/Council_plan.pdf


 

 
 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment. 
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances in 
our most disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable 

provision for adults & children with 
complex needs. 

CTR provides means tested awards to 
those residents who require financial 
support in relation to their council tax 
liability.  

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 In accordance with Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012, 
paragraphs 3 and 5 confirm that there is a requirement to review the CTR scheme 
each year however consultation is only required when revisions or replacements are 
proposed. As no revisions or replacements are proposed to the CTR scheme for April 
2021 consultation is not required.  

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 The total estimated cost of the CTR scheme in 2020/21 was £11.676 million, the 
Council’s share of which was reflected in our council tax base for the year.  

6.3.2 As at September 2020, the estimated cost of the CTR scheme had increased by 11% 
to £12.913 million. The increase in the SMBC element of the in-year cost of the 
scheme will form part of the forecast deficit on the Council’s collection fund, which is 
being captured as part of the Covid-19 reporting. In response to the disruption caused 
by the pandemic, local authorities will be allowed to spread their collection fund 
deficits over three years rather than the usual one, and the effect of this on the MTFS 
(currently estimated at £585,000 per annum) will be addressed through the budget 
strategy process.  

6.3.3 The position as at September will be used to inform the latest estimate of the impact 
on the Council’s tax base for 2021/22. This will be reported to the Budget Strategy 
Group and will be addressed as part of the MTFS update.  

6.3.4 The tax base for 2021/22, including an updated assessment of the cost of the CTR 
scheme, will be finalised in December for approval by the cabinet member for 
Resources in January 2021.  

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 None 

Page 16



 

 
 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 There is a risk that the CTR caseload could continue to increase depending on the 
progress of the pandemic, when and how current restrictions are tightened or eased 
and the path of economic recovery from the disruption caused by Covid-19.  

6.5.2 Any increase in the caseload prior to 30 November would be taken into account as 
part of the tax base calculation for 2021/22, but further increases after that date would 
increase the council tax deficit on the collection fund.  

6.5.3 The number of working age CTR claimants as at September 2020 represented an 
increase of 16% compared to April 2020 figures. The impact of further increases in the 
working age caseload of 8% and 16% above September 2020 levels has been 
modelled to give an indication of the sensitivity of the assumptions included in section 
6.3 above. 

% increase in working age 
caseload (compared to Sept 2020) 

Total 
estimated 
caseload 

Estimated additional cost 
compared to Sept 

assumption 

+8%  14,921 £0.492m 

+16%  15,620 £0.984m 

 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 From the monitoring undertaken the most significant impact has been for those of 
working age. Our working age v’s pensioner caseload split prior to 2020/21 was 51% 
working age v’s 49% pensioner. This has now risen to 61% working age v’s 39% 
pensioner and is as a result of Covid-19. Mitigating actions to address this has 
included implementing the governments Council Tax Hardship Fund to award a 
maximum of £150 to all those of working age in receipt of CTR (this is applied directly 
to their bill) and we have also reviewed and updated our Council Tax Discretionary 
Reductions Policy. This policy applies to any ratepayer regardless of age but the 
majority of claims so far have been from those of working age. 

6.6.2 As there are no changes proposed to the CTR scheme from last year a Fair 
Treatment Assessment has not been undertaken. We will continue to monitor how 
many groups covered under the scheme may be affected and will address or mitigate 
against any negative impact that arises. This includes maximising the use of the 
support mechanisms referred to in section 3.  

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 None  

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 None 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None  

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Meeting date: 5th November 2020 

 

Report to: Full Cabinet 

Subject/report 
title: 

Solihull Town Centre Masterplan 

Report from: Councillor Courts 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Catriona Gilbey – catriona.gilbey@solihull.gov.uk 

Perry Wardle - perry.wardle@solihull.gov.uk 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☒ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☒ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☒ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

(If ‘Private’, select relevant paragraph below and delete the rest. 

If ‘Public’, delete all paragraph options) 

  
 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To present to Cabinet the refreshed Solihull Town Centre Masterplan (‘the 
Masterplan’), highlighting the process that has been undertaken in developing the 
Masterplan and providing an overview of the research, engagement, analysis and 
evidence base that have informed the proposals within it. 

1.2 To seek approval to adopt the Masterplan. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Cabinet is asked to  

a) Approve the adoption of the Masterplan - Appendix A. 

b) Note the next steps involved in publishing, promoting, and delivering the 
Masterplan. 

c) Delegate authority to the Assistant Director for Growth and Development to 
approve any non-material amendments required to the document following Cabinet 
approval 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



 

 
 

3. Matters for Consideration  

Background 

3.1 The purpose of the refreshed Masterplan is to provide a framework for future 
investment and development which maximises the opportunities for Solihull town 
centre, capitalises on its existing assets and sets out a clear vision for Solihull in 2036 
as a thriving, vibrant and visionary town.  

3.2 The Masterplan forms part of the evidence base and informs Policy P2 (Maintain 
Strong and Competitive Town Centres) of the Council’s Local Plan. 

3.3 The Masterplan is based on the master-planning work that was originally drafted in 
2016. It was produced with the support of the following activity: town centre visioning 
and associated studies, a property market review, an access and movement study, 
and extensive stakeholder engagement and consultation activities.  

3.4 The majority of the work carried out in 2016 remains relevant, including the 
background and contextual information detailing the history of the town centre, the 
analysis of the key components of the town centre, the consideration of the strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats, and the findings of the extensive consultation 
and engagement. 

Masterplan Refresh 2020 

3.5 The 2016 Masterplan has been updated over the summer of 2020 to ensure it 
considers and responds to the following: recent strategic decisions; local, regional and 
national policy and best practice; land and property development that have occurred in 
the intervening four years; and macro and micro economic conditions including the 
impact of COVID-19. 

3.6 Economic consultants, Amion, were commissioned by the Council to refresh important 
parts of the evidence base of the Masterplan by undertaking a baseline and economic 
assessment that includes: 

a) A review of how the masterplan proposals align with strategic policy at the 
national, sub-regional and local level. 

b) The impact of COVID-19. 
c) A review of socioeconomic conditions. 
d) A review of market conditions. 
e) An economic assessment of each of the proposals identified in the masterplan. 

3.7 In light of the refreshed evidence base, and as a result of the above assessments, the 
refreshed Masterplan features a number of changes, the most significant being: 

a) The 2016 Masterplan identifies seven Areas of Change, which have been revised 
in the refreshed Masterplan to six Areas of Change. The evolution of the Areas of 
Change is shown in Appendix B. 

b) The removal of proposals and related references to relocate Solihull Train Station 
to the Monkspath Hall Road site. 

c) The removal of proposals relating to the planned extension of Touchwood in the 
‘Heart of Solihull’ Area of Change. 

Page 20



 

 
 

d) The amendment of proposals relating to the ‘Business and Commercial Quarter’ 
Area of Change as a result of the redevelopment of the former Magistrates Court 
as an Aldi supermarket. 

e) Updating of the Transport and Movement section of the Masterplan to reflect the 
progress that has been on the key town centre junction improvement scheme, and 
the principles and concepts emerging from the development of the town centre 
Multi Modal Access Strategy. 

The Masterplan 

3.8 The refreshed Masterplan follows the same structure as the 2016 Masterplan, and is 
set out in nine chapters. 

3.9 Chapters 1 & 2 provide the Executive Summary and Introduction. 

3.10 Chapter 3 analyses the main urban components of Solihull Town Centre including: 
heritage, public realm, land use, activities and movement. It provides the foundation 
that informs and underpins the development proposals and recommended 
interventions of the Masterplan. 

3.11 Chapter 4 sets out the vision for the town centre as: ‘a thriving, premier town centre 
and a vibrant destination at the forefront of visionary design, sustainability and 
innovation’. 

3.12 Chapter 5 explores the overarching concepts that emerged from the data collection, 
analysis and engagement conducted in the early stages of the masterplan studies. By 
gaining a clear understanding of the fundamental issues, opportunities and ambitions 
for Solihull, three main themes emerged which hold the key to achieving the Solihull 
2036 Vision: Connections; Living and Working; and Experience. 

3.13 Chapter 6 identifies the six Areas of Change within the town centre and details 
development sites and practical interventions that can be delivered within those areas 
in order to realise our vision and achieve our ambitions to improve: Connections, 
Experience, and Living and Working. 

3.14 The key features of the Masterplan can be seen on the illustrative Masterplan shown 
in Appendix C, and include: 

a) Redevelopment of Solihull Station to create a modern ‘integrated transport hub’ 
that includes upgrades to the public realm and green space surrounding the 
station and creates a high quality gateway into the town centre. 

b) Traffic management interventions and enhancements to the public realm 
around Blossomfield Road Roundabout, including improvements to the 
pedestrian and cycle connectivity between the town centre and the station. 

c) Grade A town centre office development at Westgate to enhance the town’s 
employment offer and provide an attractive new gateway to the town centre’s 
commercial and business quarter. 

d) High quality new residential development at the Lode Lane/Warwick Road 
roundabout to provide an attractive frontage incorporating enhancements to the 

Page 21



 

 
 

public realm. 

e) Redevelopment of Mell Square to create a diverse and high quality mixed use 
space. This area will offer the optimal balance of residential, leisure and 
commercial use. It will be safe, attractive and inclusive place, accessible to all, 
tied together by high quality public realm to create an attractive, vibrant, and 
modern destination in the heart of the town centre. 

f) Medium density family housing providing an attractive frontage on New Road to 
include public realm improvements that enhance the important link between the 
town centre and Brueton Park. 

g) Brand-new civic building on the Council owned Eastgate site that incorporates: 
high quality accessible public spaces, new retail and leisure uses and connects 
well with the existing town centre. This development will also include a new 
residential neighbourhood providing modern, sustainable, and attainable 
homes in a town centre setting to increase the town’s residential population and 
add vibrancy. 

h) New mixed use buildings comprising of active ground floor uses and high 
quality office accommodation on Homer Road. 

i) An attractive new north-south pedestrian and cycle link between the southern 
gateway of the town including the Monkspath Hall Road site, and the Business 
and Commercial Quarter and the core of the town centre. 

j) New office development fronting onto Princes Way, creating an active frontage 
and a high quality gateway into the town centre. 

k) New multi-storey car park located on the Monkspath Hall Road Site. 

l) A prime development site at Monkspath Hall Road with the size, setting and 
and location that make it suitable to accommodate a wide range of 
development uses including housing, commericial, leisure or education. 

3.15 Delivery of the Masterplan in full would see development across all six Areas of 
Change, totalling: 

a) 1,178 new homes. 
b) 50,000 sqm office floor space. 
c) 40,000 sqm retail, leisure and active ground floor space. 

 
 

3.16 As a significant proportion of the development is proposed on sites already in active 
use, much of the proposed development involves the repurposing of existing 
buildings. Net development would therefore equate to: 

a) Circa 1,178 new homes. 
b) Circa 16,500 sqm office floor space. 
c) Circa. 8,000 sqm retail, leisure and active ground floor space. 

 

Page 22



 

 
 

3.17 A key theme of the Masterplan involves strengthening connectivity and ensuring the 
town centre is accessible to all by providing improved routes for pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport that are high quality, legible and safe. Chapter 6 sets out the 
proposals and principles of the emerging Town Centre Multi-Modal Access Strategy 
which seeks to enhance future accessibility into, out from and within the town centre.   

3.18 As well as supporting the Masterplan, the Access Strategy has the following 
objectives: 

a) Identify the scale of the transport ‘problem’, overall approach to mitigate it and 
identify the areas on which to focus. 

b) Provide a more accurate, relevant and iterative estimate of travel demand to 
Solihull town centre. 

c) Identify the potential propensity for active travel and public transport within 
close proximity to the town centre. 

d) Provide an aspirational vision for movement and place within Solihull town 
centre. 

e) Inform SMBC in readiness for the Local Plan review.   
 

3.19 The Access Strategy will support the Masterplan by developing interventions to 
provide alternative solutions to ease congestion and enhance connectivity within the 
town centre area for both residents and visitors. 

3.20 Chapter 6 also provides details of planned highways interventions, the cycling and 
walking strategy, planned enhancements to public transport, and proposals for a 
parking strategy. All these movement interventions will complement and facilitate the 
proposals and vision of the Masterplan. 

3.21 Chapter 7 of the Masterplan details the strategies and policies which have helped to 
shape the vision, themes, and proposals of the masterplan. It also identifies where 
further work is required on developing strategies which will will be influenced by the 
proposals in the Masterplan. The key strategies referred to include: 

 Landscape and Public Realm Strategy 

 Sustainability Strategy (Climate Change Prospectus) 

 Safety and Security Strategy 

 Parking Strategy 

 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-22 
 

Engagement and Consultation 

3.22 The 2016 Masterplan proposals were built upon the findings of an extensive period of 
research and information gathering through stakeholder workshops and face to face 
meetings. 

3.23 Refreshing the 2016 Masterplan has involved engagement with key officers across the 
Council, including Planning, Transport Strategy and especially the Strategic Land 
Team to ensure that the new Masterplan accurately reflects the Council’s latest 
ambitions for the development of key assets including: Westgate, Eastgate, 
Monkspath Hall Road and Mell Square, and also defines plans for the improvement of 

Page 23



 

 
 

key town centre junctions and infrastructure. 

Next Steps 

3.24 On completion of the refreshed Masterplan there are a number of important steps that 
need to be taken to publish, promote, embed the proposals and to deliver them.  

3.25 Graphic designers have been commissioned to produce a professionally designed 
Masterplan for publication that portrays the quality of the proposals and the 
opportunities that it presents.  

3.26 The published Masterplan will be used to help promote the scale, ambition and 
opportunity of Solihull town centre locally, regionally and nationally. There are a 
number of specific audiences to whom we will seek to communicate the Masterplan 
including: local and potential residents and key businesses, all of which are seeking 
confidence that the council understands the challenges facing town centres and has a 
credible and robust plan for the town’s development, as well as potential developers 
and investors. A shorter ‘prospectus’ style version of the Masterplan will be produced 
which will be better suited to some of the intended audiences. 

3.27 To ensure that the Masterplan is used as a blueprint for future development in the 
town centre, on completion of the Local Plan the Council will seek to adopt the 
Masterplan as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 

3.28 A delivery plan will be developed that gives further consideration to the potential 
phasing and prioritisation of the projects in the Masterplan, and identifies the potential 
development approaches that may be appropriate for each site. 

3.29 Work on the Masterplan’s supporting strategies, including the Public Realm Strategy, 
Multi-Modal Access Strategy, and the Car Parking Strategy, which are considered at a 
high level in the Masterplan, will continue to be progressed. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 The process of developing the 2016 Masterplan and its subsequent recent 
refreshment involved identifying a full list of potential development sites and 
interventions across the relevant area. The potential use and development capacity 
for those sites was considered, and following a process of assessment, consultation 
and scrutiny sites were either taken through to form proposals in the completed 
Masterplan, or disregarded. 

4.2 An economic impact assessment has been carried out for each of the proposed 
development sites in the refreshed Masterplan demonstrating that each of the 
proposals in their own right delivers a number of economic benefits to the town centre 
and Borough. The assessment identifies for each of the development sites the 
quantum of: 

a) Total commercial floor space delivered. 
b) Gross capital expenditure, employment, and GVA in the construction phase. 
c) Employment, GVA and local resident expenditure in the operation phase. 
d) Fiscal impact including council tax and business rates uplift. 

Page 24



 

 
 

 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 Solihull town centre is a regionally important economic centre and its success 
therefore has significant implications for the Borough and beyond. Having a 
Masterplan is, firstly, vital to ensuring that development of the town centre is 
effectively planned, coordinated and promoted and, secondly, is also managed to 
ensure it responds to and complements the Council’s priorities, particularly around the 
themes of: economic growth and development, sustainability and climate change, 
transport and movement, and safety and security.  

5.2 The Masterplan has been built upon a firm understanding of Solihull town centre’s 
strengths and weaknesses which has been informed by extensive consultation, 
engagement and research. It responds to the known strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats that have been identified by key stakeholders and the public. 

5.3 An economic baseline and market review has recently been carried out which 
identifies that: 

a) Office vacancy rates were at 5% in Q2 2020, indicating a supply constrained 
market, and much of the vacant stock is outdated and fails to meet current 
expectations and requirements. Whilst the medium and long term impact of 
COVID-19 on the office market is still unknown, research shows that there will 
continue to be a demand for offices, but the look, layout and use may be quite 
different. In contrast to the neighbouring city of Birmingham, there has been no 
Grade A new build office development within Solihull town centre since 2016. In 
order to ensure that the town centre is fit for future and complements the HS2 
development, the masterplan identifies the capacity to accommodate up to 
50,000 sqm of Grade A office development.  

b) The market review has identified a significant shortage of residential 
accommodation in the town centre. A strong local resident population is 
necessary to create a mixed use environment which will encourage activity in 
the town centre beyond retail trading hours and help support a thriving market 
to evening economy and leisure opportunities. In response the Masterplan 
identifies the capacity to accommodate over 1,100 new residential units. 

c) Diversification of town centres is considered to be the key to future success, 
and the masterplan identifies various opportunities to modernise and diversify 
the current leisure and ‘experience’ offer. 

5.4 The economic impact of the masterplan has been assessed and estimates that the 
proposals have the potential to deliver the following benefits: 

a) Circa £395m Gross Capital Expenditure and £150m GVA in the construction 
phase. 

b) Circa 4000+ Full Time Equivalent jobs, £200m GVA and £13m local 
resident expenditure in the operational phase. 

c) Circa £1.5m Council Tax uplift per annum 
d) Circa £4.5m Business Rates uplift per annum 

Page 25



 

 
 

 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising 
the opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply of housing, 
especially affordable and social 
housing. 

The Masterplan has a direct impact on 
helping to revitalise our towns and local 
centres. The town centre is a key 
development zone within the UKC Central 
strategic plan that is designed and 
contributes directly to maximising the 
opportunities of the area, including HS2. 
The plan identifies capacity for circa 1,200 
new homes.  

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural 
environment. 

5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon 

emissions. 

The Masterplan identifies interventions that 
have a direct positive impact on the natural 
environment. It encourages soft 
landscaping and planting in the town centre. 
It facilitates active and sustainable travel 
modes into and around the town centre. It 
also promotes sustainable building, 
including the establishment of an ambitious 
local heat network. In this way, the 
Masterplan responds to and complements 
the aims and vision set out in the Climate 
Change Prospectus and should improve air 
quality. 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life 
chances in our most 
disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable 

provision for adults & children with 
complex needs. 

The Masterplan sets out the development 
and interventions that will deliver new 
homes, new jobs, and have a positive 
impact on quality of life of residents, 
workers and visitors. 

 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 As part of the 2016 Masterplan development two stakeholder engagement events 
were held, which gave people the opportunity to ascertain, share and debate the town 
centres key opportunities and constraints. These events helped to confirm an 
understanding of the key issues and also began to shape the emerging vision and 
spatial strategy for the town centre. 

Page 26

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/ourvision-priorities/councilplan


 

 
 

6.2.2 Following the engagement events, all outputs were collated and analysed, and the key 
findings were then used to develop the 2016 masterplan and vision for the town 
centre, together with the definition of the potential areas for change. 

6.2.3 Public consultation was held in a series of venues in the town centre that gave the 
local community an opportunity to get involved in shaping the masterplan. The public 
consultation gave the consultees an opportunity to understand the existing key issues 
informing the masterplan and an appreciation of the emerging opportunities and 
proposals. The associated feedback process enabled the community to comment on 
the process so far, influence the direction of travel and ensured comments were given 
due regard into the next, more detailed stage of the Masterplan development. 

6.2.4 In addition to feedback from the public, consultation responses were received from 
organisations including: Campaign for Better Transport, MADE (Regional Architecture 
Centre for the West Midlands), Touchwood, NEC Ltd, RNIB, Caldwell Properties, IM 
Properties, Canal and River Trust, Transport for West Midlands, Chiltern Railways, 
Natural England, National Grid, Woodland Trust, Chief Constable of the WM Police. 

6.2.5 In the period between completing the current Masterplan and this refresh, a number of 
the projects and proposals within the plan have been subject to their own engagement 
and consultation, specifically: the preferred location of the rail station, the Westgate 
scheme, and the Eastgate scheme. 

6.2.6 Engagement in refreshing the Masterplan has been more targeted, focussing on those 
stakeholders specifically interested in those areas subject to change. Within the 
Council, this has meant significant engagement with colleagues in the Strategic Land 
and Assets Team, the Transport Strategy Team and the Planning Development Team.  

6.2.7 The refreshed Masterplan has also been presented to: special interest groups, UKC 
Project and Programme Board, cabinet members, the Town Centre Steering Group, 
and town centre ward members. 

6.2.8 Detailed consultation will be undertaken on individual development sites and 
infrastructure projects as they come forward, with consultations planned for the 
following sites, schemes and proposals in the last two quarters of 2020/21: 

a) Solihull Town Centre Low Carbon Heat Network. 
b) Town Centre Multi-Modal Access Strategy and Junction Improvements. 
c) Solihull Station Integrated Transport Hub. 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with the Masterplan. The financial 
implications of each project and intervention identified in the masterplan will be 
considered on an individual basis as and when they are brought forward.  

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 There are no legal implications associated with the Masterplan.  

Page 27



 

 
 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 There are a number of potential risk implications of not having an approved 
masterplan: 

a) Developers and investors are unaware of the Council’s long term vision and 
ambition for development of the town centre and development occurs in a 
disjointed and uncoordinated manner and fails to address the known 
weaknesses or realise the opportunities.  

b) The Council fails to provide reassurance and confidence to investors, 
developers, residents and visitors about the opportunities the town centre 
presents and how the Council intends to address the challenges facing towns 
and local centres. 

c) Without a pipeline of defined and robust projects the Council will be unable to 
respond quickly to calls for bids for funding to support delivery of town centre 
proposals. 

d) Projects and schemes that develop the town centre will occur in an ad hoc and 
uncoordinated way failing to achieve efficiencies of scale or to realise additional 
and complementary benefits. 

6.6 Equality implications: 

The Masterplan has been reviewed against the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2019-22 to ensure that the vision, themes and proposals of the Masterplan 
complement and support the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. An 
Equality Impact Assessment was completed for the 2016 Masterplan, and Fair 
Treatment Assessments will be completed for each of the individual masterplan 
projects and schemes as they are brought forward for development. 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A – The Refreshed Masterplan 

7.2 Appendix B – Areas of Change 

7.3 Appendix C – Illustrative Masterplan 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 The 2016 Masterplan can be found here 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 Click here to enter text. 

Page 28

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/masterplan


Solihull 
Town Centre 
Masterplan

DRAFT

Page 29



2 3

1. EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY
The Solihull Town Centre Masterplan aims to provide a framework for future investment 
and development which maximises the opportunities for Solihull, capitalises on its 
existing assets, and sets out a clear vision for Solihull 2036; as a thriving, vibrant 
and visionary town. It is predicted that UK Central could create an additional 100,000 
jobs with a town centre range of between 4,000 and 16,000 jobs, and increase the 
region’s revenue up to £19.5 billion annually by 2040. The masterplan outlines how 
bold measures need to be taken to capitalise on the potential of the town centre; 
guaranteeing its resilience and ensuring that it can meet future challenges through 
‘managed’ growth, whilst retaining the character which makes Solihull so popular.

1.1 UNDERSTANDING 
SOLIHULL TODAY
The masterplan is underpinned by a 
strong evidence base which brings 
together; detailed physical analysis of the 
town centre; a baseline socioeconomic 
assessment and market report; and 
feedback from stakeholder engagement.

The evidence base draws out the 
current strengths of the town centre 
including the high quality character and 
rich heritage of Solihull, its existing 
market reputation and its use as a visitor 
destination because of its strong middle 
and upper market retail offering. This 
is weighed against its weaknesses, in 
particular the effect of large scale 
infrastructure on placemaking and the 
pedestrian experience and the national 
trends for decreasing footfall and 
increased retail vacancies which are 
also being reflected locally and have 
the potential to change the character 
and usage of the town centre.

1.2 CREATING A 
SHARED VISION
Achieving local buy-in to the framework 
and principles identified in the 
masterplan is a fundamental requirement 
of the whole process. In response a 
public consultation was held in a series 
of venues within the town centre; it gave 
the local community an opportunity to 
get involved in shaping the vision for the 
town and confirmed key objectives. Key 
outcomes of the consultation included:

n A large number of people recognised 
the importance of maintaining the 
inherent character of Solihull;

n Renovation of Mell Square 
is welcomed

n Support for improving pedestrian 
and cycle connectivity;

n 68% agreed that residential 
uses should be encouraged 
within the town centre

n 86% agreed that a more 
diverse evening and leisure 
offer is required; and

n 68% thought that there was 
opportunity for commercial 
development, particularly in 
the existing business area.

Key elements drawn from the 
evidence base together with the 
outcomes of the stakeholder and 
public consultation, have driven the 
formation of the Solihull 2036 Vision:

This vision is underpinned by 
three key elements that set out 
our ambition for Solihull:

n THRIVING – “A prosperous and 
desirable town centre with a strong 
retail and growing commercial core 
and residential offer, alongside 
outstanding connectivity.”

n VIBRANT – “A network of integrated 
spaces offering unique experiences 
through a constantly evolving offer 
and a variety of reasons to return.”

n VISIONARY – “A demonstrator 
of new trends and opportunities, 
championing sustainability in all 
aspects of design and accessibility 
and a commitment to invest 
in innovation and growth.”

These elements are the drivers of the 
concepts that have emerged through the 
Masterplan and support the emerging 
activities proposed in the document.

Figure 1.1 Plan identifying the six areas of change incorporating key areas for intervention. 

4

1

3

2

5

6

SOLIHULL A THRIVING, PREMIER 
TOWN CENTRE AND A VIBRANT 
DESTINATION AT THE FOREFRONT 
OF VISIONARY DESIGN, 
SUSTAINABILITY AND INNOVATION.

1. Western Gateway
2. Southern Gateway
3. Business and 

Commercial Quarter 
4. Northern Approach
5. Heart of Solihull (Retail Core)
6. St Alphege Quarter

P
age 30



4 5

1 Redevelopment of Solihull Station to create a modern 
Integrated Transport Hub, to include upgrades to the 
public realm and green space surrounding the station and 
create a high quality gateway into the town centre

2 Traffic management interventions and enhancements to 
the public realm around Blossomfield Road Roundabout, 
including improvements to the pedestrian and cycle 
connectivity between the town centre and the station

3 Grade A town centre office development to 
provide an attractive new gateway to the town 
centres commercial and business quarter

4 High quality new residential development to 
provide an attractive frontage onto Lode Lane 
incorporating enhancements to the public realm 

5 Redevelopment of Mell Square to create a truly diverse 
mixed use space. Offering the optimal balance of residential, 
leisure and commercial use tied together by a high quality 
public realm scheme, to create an attractive, vibrant, and 
modern destination in the heart of the town centre

6 Primly located medium density family housing 
providing attractive frontage onto New Road

7 Brand-new civic building with high quality public 
spaces, new retail and leisure uses to connect the site 
with the existing town centre, and a new residential 
neighbourhood providing modern, sustainable homes in 
a town centre setting, to attract a new demographic of 
residential population, adding vibrancy to the scheme.

8 New mixed use building comprising of retail units 
and high quality office accommodation

9 An attractive new north-south pedestrian and cycle 
link between the southern gateway of the town 
including the Monkspath Hall Road site, and the 
commercial quarter and heart of the town centre

10 New office development fronting onto Princes Way, 
creating an active frontage along Princes way and 
a high quality gateway into the town centre.

11 New multi storey carpark  

12 Prime development site on a key gateway with size, setting 
and location to offer flexibility for a wide range of development 
uses including residential, commercial, leisure or eduction.

1.3 DEVELOPING 
MASTERPLAN CONCEPTS
By gaining a clear understanding of 
the fundamental issues, opportunities 
and ambitions for Solihull, three main 
themes emerged which hold the key 
to achieving the Solihull 2036 Vision:

n Connectivity – The overall 
connection concept is focussed on 
the need to reconnect Solihull Town 
Centre with its currently disjointed 
areas into one cohesive, integrated 
centre. It seeks to create a network 
which integrates the town centres 
various retail, commercial, civic, 
residential, and cultural precincts;

n Work/Life Balance – Diversification 
is a central aim of the living 
and working concept helping to 
inform future market and land 
use considerations. Central to this 
concept is the introduction of more 
residential uses and further office 
uses into the town centre to inject 
new vitality through a mixture of 
activities, economic relationships, 
times of use and built form; and

n The Solihull Experience – The Solihull 
Town Centre user experience is a 
crucial component of creating an 
appealing environment to live, work 
and enjoy. This concept seeks to 
enhance the town’s evening and 
leisure offer, upgrade the quality of 
the streets and public spaces and 
promoting high quality development; 
encouraging people to play an 
active role in streets and confirming 
Solihull as a prime destination.

Both in combination and as distinctive 
agendas, these strategies set out a 
broad framework for future growth 
and development, which can then 
form the basis for future development 
projects and interventions.

1.4 IDENTIFYING 
AREAS OF CHANGE
The masterplan identifies six areas of 
change (see figure 1.1) within Solihull 
Town Centre which provide opportunities 
to identify practical interventions which 
can deliver the three emerging concepts.

It is not the intention of the areas of 
change to be prescriptive in a way that 
suppresses future creativity or the 
ability of the town centre to respond 
to external influences. However, it is 
important to explore a number of the 
spatial relationships that are likely to 
be generated through examination of 
a particular approach. The definition 
of the physical boundaries have 
been derived through the spatial and 

market analysis of Solihull as well as 
an appreciation of existing ambition 
for change that has emerged through 
discussions with key stakeholders.

Within each of the areas of change, 
the masterplan identified a number 
of development sites through which 
Solihull might accommodate significant 
additional growth and improvements 
to the connectivity of the town centre. 
The Solihull Town Centre Masterplan 
broadly follows the sites identified in 
earlier work, but also includes a number 
of new sites which could provide 
further opportunities to respond to the 
emerging concepts in the longer term.

1.5 SOLIHULL TOWN 
CENTRE MASTERPLAN
The following points relate to the plan 
opposite (figure 1.2) and summarise 
the key interventions proposed by the 
Solihull Town Centre Masterplan.

Figure 1.2 Solihull Town Centre key masterplan objectives

1 2
4

3
5

68

7
10

9
11

12

 Green Infrastructure
 Mixed Use
 Office
 Commercial
 Civic
 Car Parking/ Private Open Space
 Medium Density Residential
 High Density Residential Apartments
 Train Station
 Urban Realm
 Plot Areas
 Public Realm Upgrades
 Multi-Storey Car Park

P
age 31



6 7

2 INTRODUCTION
Solihull is already a successful and popular town, and has consistently been named 
as one of the best places to live within the United Kingdom. With its excellent 
shopping, cultural facilities, buoyant employment (presently around 12,500 jobs) and 
attractive setting; Solihull has a lot to offer to residents, businesses and visitors.

That said, national trends in retail have 
shown that many places are suffering 
declines in footfall and increased retail 
vacancies which are transforming High 
Streets up and down the country and 
although it is a successful thriving town, 
Solihull has not been immune to these 
trends which have been accelerated 
during the Covid-19 crisis.  To maintain 
the current character of the town 
and plan for sustainable, inclusive 
growth it is important to establish 
now the identity of the town and the 
crystallise aspirations for the future 
uses of the town centre, including 
identifying the interventions that will 
need to be made if Solihull is to remain 
a retail and leisure destination.

UK Central is a prime investment 
location, which is the West Midland’s 
principal economic gateway and 
strongest performing economy, centred 
around Solihull. Incorporating the town 
centre, Birmingham Airport, Jaguar 
Land Rover and the National Exhibition 
Centre, UK Central is also the site of 
the new High Speed Rail Interchange 
Station. In June 2013, Solihull Council, 
the Greater Birmingham and Solihull 
Local Enterprise Partnership, and Arup 
published the UK Central Masterplan, 
showcasing the development potential 
of the area up to 2040. The masterplan 
outlines how bold measures need to 
be taken to capitalise on the potential 
of the already successful gateway 
site. It is predicted that UK Central 
could create an additional 100,000 
jobs with a town centre range of 
between 4,000 and 16,000 jobs, and 
increase the region’s revenue up 
to £19.5 billion annually by 2040.

It provides significant opportunities 
to maintain and enhance Solihull’s 
existing economic base on a scale 
of national significance; positioning 
the town as part of the engine room 
of the West Midlands. In order to 
ensure managed growth and the 
retention of the character which makes 
Solihull so popular, the Town Centre 
Masterplan will provide a framework 
for future development, which aims 
to balance the sometimes conflicting 
needs for growth and infrastructure 
investment, with quality of place.

2.1 PURPOSE OF THIS 
DOCUMENT
This document presents the supporting 
evidence and final Solihull Town Centre 
Masterplan, which builds upon previous 
visioning work, established through the 
Town Centre Study (GVA Grimley, 2009) it 
draws together principles and objectives 
defined in existing and emerging 
strategies and policies including the 
emerging Surface Access Strategy, 
Climate Change Prospectus, Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, and The Council Plan.

The masterplan aims to provide a 
framework for future investment and 
development which maximises the 
opportunities for Solihull, capitalises 
on its existing assets, and sets out 
a clear vision for Solihull 2036; as 
a thriving, vibrant and visionary 
town. The masterplan is underpinned 
by a baseline assessment of the 
socioeconomic condition of the town 
centre and market analysis, which 
reviews the current and potential 
office, retail, leisure and residential 
markets within Solihull Town Centre.

The original masterplan was drafted in 
2016, and has been updated over the 
spring/summer 2020 to incorporate 
strategic decisions, local, regional 
and national policy and trends; and 
intervening property development.

2.2 EXTENT OF THE STUDY
The Town Centre Masterplan study 
area (Figure 2.1) covers the immediate 
town centre which is bounded by the 
B4102 Warwick Road to the north, 
the railway line to the south, Church 
Hill Road / New Road to the east and 
Solihull Train station and Lode Lane 
to the west. This area encompasses 
Solihull’s retail and commercial core.

In addition, two further areas of 
influence have been identified, one to 
the north and one to the south. The 
northern area of influence, beyond 
the B4102 includes Solihull Hospital, 
Solihull School and a number of existing 
commercial buildings. The area to the 
south includes Tudor Grange Park and 
Solihull College. These areas, whilst 
not forming part of the town centre 
core, are important components 
of the town and it is important that 
the masterplan ensures that these 
important assets are integrated and 
well connected with the town centre.

THRIVING “A PROSPEROUS 
AND DESIRABLE TOWN CENTRE 
WITH A STRONG RETAIL AND 
GROWING COMMERCIAL CORE AND 
RESIDENTIAL OFFER, ALONGSIDE 
OUTSTANDING CONNECTIVITY.”

Figure 2.1 Extent of the Solihull town centre masterplan study area and associated area of influence.

 Study area

 Area of influence

P
age 32



8 9

3 SOLIHULL TODAY
This section analyses the various urban components of Solihull Town Centre including; 
heritage, public realm, land use, activities and movement. It aims to provide a foundation 
which informs and underpins development of the Solihull Town Centre Masterplan.

3.1 HERITAGE
Patterns of development over time as 
recorded in the historical mapping show 
a number of fixed points (St Alphege 
Church) and considerable change in the 
development of the Town Centre over 
the last two hundred years. Dating back 
to the 12th Century, Solihull originated 
as a small, successful market town, 
which flourished until the 14th Century 
when it suffered ongoing decline due 
to poor harvests and competition 
from other towns. Solihull continued 
as a quiet village until the 18th Century, 
when the introduction of turnpike 
roads and more importantly the railway 
in the mid-19th Century stimulated 
new growth. This improved transport 
network helped to establish Solihull as 
a successful commuter town, providing 
an attractive place to live for wealthy 
professionals working in Birmingham.

Figure 3.1 opposite illustrates the 
evolution of the town from a traditional 
village high street to a significant 
town; demonstrating visually, how the 
development of the town’s movement 
networks over time have influenced land 
use arrangement and created physical 
barriers for pedestrians and cyclists:

Solihull 1789
This image illustrates how the extent 
of the settlement is largely contained 
along the High Street and Warwick 
Road, demonstrating the traditional 
linear character of its market town 
origins. The High Street terminates at 
Malvern Park where St Alphege church 
forms the eastern edge of town.

Solihull 1945
This mapping illustrates how the 
introduction of the railway in the 
mid-19th Century now forms the 
southern edge of town, with Solihull 
Train station located just to the west 
of the town centre and connected via 
Station Road. The arrival of the railway 
caused a significant change in the 
town’s character as it opened access 
for commuters to Birmingham which 
commenced a period of suburbanisation. 
Due to the station location, settlement 
and activity in the town centre has 
over time shown a gradual shift 
away from St Alphege Church and 
further west. New settlement has 
expanded into Malvern Park, which 
has also merged with Brueton Park 
creating a linear green space on the 
eastern fringe of the town centre.

Solihull 1999
Solihull again underwent considerable 
change over the last 50 years, evolving 
from a wealthy suburban neighbourhood 
into a commercial centre. This 
evolution comes as a result of Solihull’s 

accessible location at the centre of the 
national motorway and rail network, 
and its close proximity to Birmingham 
International Airport. It was over this 
50 year period that Solihull’s population 
grew substantially, advancing the town 
from Solihull Rural District to Solihull 
Metropolitan Borough created in 1974. 
This image illustrates the impact of the 
introduction of Lode Lane to the west of 
the town centre and also the conversion 
of the Lode Lane and Blossomfield Road 
junctions into roundabouts. Land to 
the south of the railway becomes Tudor 
Grange Park with the town expanding 
south into the countryside. Interestingly, 
a large area in the heart of the centre 
is now void due to the construction of 
the new Touchwood Shopping Centre. 
In addition, a large area of housing has 
been removed to the south of Warwick 
Road and replaced with Mell Square 
shopping centre, which retains the 
historic street pattern. The final image 
shows the development of a number of 
large scale blocks located to the north 
and south of the town centre, which are 
poorly integrated and further fragment 
the previously tight urban grain.

Solihull 2013 to today
Lastly, the latest mapping shows 
Solihull as it is today, following the 
development of Touchwood which forms 
the new heart of the town centre.

Settlement

Parkland

Figure 3.1: Solihull Town Centre Heritage and Conservation Plan

SOLIHULL TRAIN 
STATION

LOAD LANE

STATION RD

HOMER RD

HIGH ST.

PRINCE’S W
AY

M
ON

KS
PA

TH
 

HAL
L 

RD

 Area of Influence
 Town Centre Study Area
 Railway

 Listed Buildings
 Conservation Area

3.2 SOLIHULL CONSERVATION AREA
Solihull Conservation Area is located at the heart of the town centre and 
roughly follows the High Street and Poplar Road as indicated in Figure 3.1. The 
conservation area contains all of the listed buildings within the study area 
which create the historic character associated with Solihull. These include:

n The Church of Saint Alphege (Grade I Listed);

n War Memorial to the front of the Church of Saint Alphege (Grade II Listed);

n A cluster of 15 listed buildings along the eastern end of the 
High Street (Grade II and Grade II* Listed);

n The Roman Catholic Church of Saint Augustine of Canterbury, located 
on the corner of Herbert Road / Station Road (Grade II Listed); and

n A cluster of 5 listed buildings located to the north of the 
Warwick Road/Poplar Road junction (Grade II Listed).

Other notable listed buildings just outside of the study include: parts of 
Solihull School (Chatwin Building and Bradford House, Grade II Listed) which 
front onto Warwick Road, just north of the study area; and The old Grammar 
School (Grade II* Listed) located at the Park Road/New Road Junction.

P
age 33



10 11

3.3 GATEWAYS AND KEY FRONTAGES
Gateways and frontages are instrumental in helping to determine the character of a place and the ability to navigate through it. They 
signify the key arrival points into a town and provide key landmarks which aid wayfinding and emphasise the hierarchy of a place.

Perhaps surprising for a town of such quality and heritage, Solihull’s main gateways are currently characterised by large 
scale infrastructure such as the Lode Lane/ Prince’s Way roundabout, Lode Lane / Warwick Road roundabout and Church 
Hill Road / Prince’s Way roundabout which dominate in scale compared to the surrounding context. This presents a 
missed opportunity in terms of creating a ‘front door’ to Solihull which demonstrates the inherent quality of the town. Key 
arrival points for pedestrians and cyclists include Solihull Train station and the underpass which connects Tudor Grange 
Park and Prince’s Way. These areas fail to convey the quality and vibrancy associated with Solihull, particularly in terms 
of the station, which feels extremely remote from the town, and is relatively poor in terms of environmental quality.

There is a marked contrast between the quality of frontages within the internal town centre (such as the High Street) and 
the outward facing town centre viewed from the surrounding ring roads. Frontages associated with the main High Street 
are relatively high quality and provide a varied and positive street frontage with numerous cafés and a varied built form 
which reflects the historic nature of the town. Frontages along the ring road are generally of a lower quality and quite often 
do not overlook the street; this is particularly evident along Prince’s Way which is characterised by tall vegetation and 
backs of existing office buildings. This has the resulting effect of creating an insular facing town, which fails to promote 
itself to people arriving into Solihull, creating a negative perception which is at odds with the town centre core.

3.4 PUBLIC REALM AND OPEN SPACE
Public Realm
Solihull Town Centre provides a variety of public spaces, which support a range of 
different functions. Some like the eastern entrance to Touchwood (Manor Walk) 
accommodate quieter, more reflective uses; whilst others such as Mell Square 
and Theatre Square are more geared towards activity and public events.

n Mell Square is the main public square within the town and is a large formally arranged 
rectangular space, which incorporates street trees, planters, lighting, bollards, 
benches and litter bins. Whilst the space experiences a large volume of footfall, the 
layout and relatively poor quality of the public realm mean it is currently underutilised 
and is not representative of Solihull’s high quality town centre. In addition, the large 
volume of street furniture and trees combined with the layout means that the potential 
uses of the space are restricted despite its large size. Reacting to the changing nature 
of the retail and leisure environment, the owners of Mell Square recently introduced a 
new food and beverage concept ‘Taste Collective’, including four pop-up style, street 
food kiosks and a covered outdoor pergola style seating area, where people can meet 
up and socialise throughout the day. Already a high footfall area, this will change the 
nature of the square and support further investment into the surrounding public realm.

n Theatre Square provides spaces for seating and events adjacent to the library. 
Whilst well maintained and overlooked by the library café, this space is relatively 
underutilised, perhaps due to the shade cast by surrounding buildings and the 
characterless facades defining the north of the space, which is as a result of the 
space fronting onto the back walls of Touchwood Shopping Centre. The space 
provides opportunities to introduce other complementary uses such as an 
outdoor gallery, which could introduce colour and draw people into the space.

n Manor Walk Square successfully contrasts modern stainless steel street 
furniture with a formal layout and heritage style planting (clipped box hedges) 
and provides a more reflective space than Solihull’s other public spaces. Whilst 
successful the space could be improved through increased seating provision.

n The High Street is pedestrianised and was formerly the main retail spine through 
the town centre. Over time however, the retail emphasis has shifted as a 
consequence of Touchwood Shopping Centre. The positive feel of the High Street 
is due largely to the vibrant and high quality uses located to either side, which 
offer a positive café culture and attractive heritage architecture. Whilst the High 
Street does benefit from a wide range of street furniture, the often contrasting 
styles (stainless steel, cast iron and wood) and sheer volume of elements give the 
public realm a rather cluttered feel. In addition, the dated and low quality concrete 
pavers do little to respond to the historical buildings and conservation area.

Figure 3.2: Solihull Town Centre Spatial Appreciation Plan

SOLIHULL 
TRAIN  

STATION
LODE LANE

STATION RD

HOMER RD

HIGH ST.

P
R

IN
CE’S W

AY

M
ON

KS
PA

TH
 H

AL
L 

RD

POOR QUALITY

POOR FRONTAGE

POOR Q
UALITY

 Area of Influence
 Site Boundary
 Railway Corridor
 Disconnection along 
key routes

 Warwick Road and Load 
Lane Barrier to Movement

 Listed Buildings
 Key Pedestrian movement 

activity areas
 Nodes/ Gateways into 

the town centre
 Poor Quality Urban Area
 Priority Habitat Inventory 

Deciduous Woodland (England)

Figure 3.3: Solihull Town Centre photographic survey plan

1

2
3

4

5
6

7

9

8

10

11

12

13

14

1

2

P
age 34



12 13

Open Space
Solihull Town Centre benefits from being in close proximity to two large 
public parks namely Tudor Grange Park; and Malvern and Brueton Park;

n Tudor Grange Park –Located adjacent to the southern edge of the town 
centre, this Green Flag Park incorporates a children’s play area, skate 
park, outdoor gym, cycle track and pitch and putt course. Situated 
adjacent to the Leisure Centre and Solihull College, the main access to 
the park from the town centre is via the underpass to Prince’s Way.

n Malvern and Brueton Park – Located to the east of the town centre is designated 
as a Green Flag Park and incorporates ornamental and sensory gardens, 
tennis courts, children’s play area, picnic area and walking trails. The park is 
also a designated nature reserve, characterised by mature woodland.

By improving accessibility to these parks and encouraging people to use 
them, they offer the potential to improve the health and wellbeing of residents 
and make Solihull Town Centre a more attractive place to live and work.

Despite the close proximity of these large green open spaces, there is 
very little soft landscaping within the town centre itself and access to the 
parks is at present poorly signposted and visually disconnected.

Within the town centre itself there are a number of smaller green spaces including:

n Jubilee Gardens – Located to the northern edge of Homer Road (adjacent to Solihull 
Registry Office), this south facing space has the potential to become a popular and 
well used destination for workers and shoppers. However, the park is relatively 
underutilised and lacks suitable facilities such as seating, bins and shelter for people 
to access and use the space through varying weather conditions and changing 
times of day. In order to improve this space, new user friendly facilities could be 
introduced and improvements made to the relationship between the park and the 
buildings immediately surrounding it. Links could also be improved between the 
park and; Theatre Square, the Hotel, Tudor Grange Park, and the Council Offices.

n The setting of St Alphege Church provides an attractive green edge to the 
town centre and complements the historic nature of the High Street.

n At the eastern edge of the Lode Lane/Station Road roundabout is an area of 
green space consisting of mature trees and vegetation which provides a green 
buffer between the town centre and the roundabout. Situated at a key gateway 
into the town centre, this space provides little function and has the potential to be 
greatly improved as an urban park or be consolidated into the surrounding urban 
fabric to complement nearby land uses and create frontage onto Lode Lane.

14

11

8

5

13

10

7

4

12

9

6

3

BY IMPROVING ACCESSIBILITY TO 
THESE PARKS AND ENCOURAGING 
PEOPLE TO USE THEM, THEY 
OFFER THE POTENTIAL TO 
IMPROVE THE HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING OF RESIDENTS

P
age 35



14 15

3.5 USE AND ACTIVITIES
The historic development patterns described within Section 3 have ultimately shaped 
the town centre land use characteristics. This is presently dominated by large single 
use areas, which have little interaction between uses and form obvious character areas; 
these are illustrated within Figure 3.4. Whilst this provides positives in reducing potential 
conflicts between differing land uses, it fails to recognise the potential benefits which 
complementary mixed land uses can provide, which can include greater promotion of 
walking and cycling, enhanced vitality and development of an area’s unique identity.

At present, land uses are generally divided as follows:

n The retail core at the centre of the town, to both sides of the High Street, 
and extending north towards the B4102. This area encompasses the 
existing Touchwood Shopping Centre, Mell Square and the High street.

n The commercial area centred along Homer Road that includes National 
Grid’s Metering Head Quarters, Solihull Immigration Centre, Solihull 
Police Station, Paragon House and The Crowne Plaza Hotel.

n A commercial area located along the Lode Lane/Warwick Road junction which 
includes the Premier Inn Hotel, The Courtyard, plus a number of smaller scale offices.

n A number of civic uses are located throughout the town centre including St 
Augustine’s Catholic Church which provides an attractive frontage onto Station 
Road and St Alphege Church which provides a striking terminus to the High Street, 
and is a key landmark within Solihull. As previously stated within Section 3.3, Solihull 
Train station is located on the periphery of the town centre to the west of Lode Lane, 
which makes it feel isolated from the town due to the existing infrastructure.

n There are currently very few residential areas within the town centre as they are 
generally located on the periphery of the town. A relatively modest residential 
area is located along New Road and is mainly formed of terraced housing with 
the exception of a number of apartments located off George Road and Deerhurst 
Court sheltered apartments at the New Road/Warwick Road junction.

High St.

Prince’s W
ay

3.6 MOVEMENT
There is no doubt that Solihull is currently dominated by the car; with 77% of people arriving by car or other light vehicle despite the town 
centre being the most accessible place in the Borough (Solihull Cordon, January 2018). In addition 42% of commuters into the town centre 
are travelling less than 5km and walking and cycling combined account for just 7% of the current number of trips being generated.

Solihull’s town centre is defined and bounded by an inner ring road formed from Lode Lane, Warwick Road, New Road 
and Prince’s Way. Created originally to alleviate traffic congestion within the centre, the ring road also acts as a barrier 
to pedestrian and cycle movement, effectively disconnecting the town centre with its surrounding areas.

The same is also true of Solihull Train station, which is currently disconnected from the town centre by the ring road 
and requires people to cross a number of busy roads and major junctions; further compounded by a lack of signage, 
poor legibility and lack of clear sightlines to the town centre. At present, Solihull suffers from relatively low usage 
of the train station compared to other modes, despite its frequent services to Birmingham and London.

The main bus interchange is located opposite the station entrance on Station Approach, and provides connections to the town centre 
and beyond. Whilst the public realm is functional with improvement works undertaken in 2018 to widen narrow footways and improve the 
approach aesthetically, the space and current layout has led to conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians. Overall, the current station 
environment fails to provide a sense of arrival or facilitate seamless movement of travellers between various modes of transport.

Despite the majority of the town centre being just five minutes’ walk (400m) from the centre of the High Street the town 
centre currently has a disconnected and staggered network of pedestrian and cycle routes into and out of the town. This 
is particularly evident in the poor connections that exist between the north and the south of the town, largely due to the 
sloping gradient and terracing of buildings. This has led to routes into the town centre often being stopped short at the outer 
edges, severed by buildings, rail lines and major roads. The few routes that do exist, such as the pedestrian route between 
the Solihull Immigration Office and the Crowne Plaza Hotel are often poor quality, not overlooked and feel unsafe.

In comparison, east-west connections for pedestrians are relatively good, largely due to the pedestrianized High 
Street and Mell Square, which provide a safe vehicle free environment. Furthermore the internal connections 
provided by Touchwood, are high quality, sheltered from the weather and well integrated with other routes.

Provision for cyclists within the town centre is relatively poor, with current cycle routes disconnected, sporadic and mainly 
limited to main roads, away from key desire lines. In particular, cyclists are prevented from using the main pedestrianised routes 
such as the High Street, forcing them onto the more hostile main roads, and reducing the incentive to cycle. In addition, there 
is also a distinct lack of cycle parking throughout the town and at key destinations, particularly Solihull Train station.

As Solihull continues to grow over time, there is a risk that new development could potentially increase the number of cars and 
therefore exacerbate congestion. Therefore it is imperative that the masterplan provides opportunities to increase accessibility 
for sustainable travel and improve the environment to encourage greater pedestrian, cycle and public transport use.

PROVIDES 
POSITIVES 
IN REDUCING 
POTENTIAL 
CONFLICTS 
BETWEEN 
DIFFERING 
LAND USES

Figure 3.4: Solihull Town Centre Existing Land Use Plan

1. Tudor Grange Park
2. St Alphege Church
3. St Augustines Church
4. Mell Square
5. Solihull School
6. Solihull Hospital

 Area of Influence

 Site Boundary

 Railway Corridor

 Residential Area

 Mixed Retail/ Commercial Core

 Cultural

 Commercial (including hotel)

 Greenspace

 Solihull Hospital

 Solihull College

1

2

3
4

5

6

Figure 3.5: Solihull Town Centre Movement and Access Analysis Plan

 Railway line

 Primary routes

 Secondary routes

 Pedestrian/Cycle routes

 Advisory cycle route

 Public right of way

 Car parks

 Gateways into the town centre

 Bus stop

LOAD LANE

STATION RD

M
ON

KS
PA

TH
 

HAL
L R

D

HOMER RD

P
age 36



16

3.7 KEY OPPORTUNITIES 
& CONSTRAINTS
The table below provides a 
summary of the key strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and 
threats outlined within section 3.

STRENGTHS
A high quality town rich in heritage.

Frontages associated with the main High Street are relatively high quality 
and provide a varied and positive street frontage with numerous cafés 
and a varied built form which reflects the historic nature of the town.

Solihull town centre benefits from being in close proximity to two large 
public parks namely Tudor Grange Park; and Malvern and Brueton Park.

Existing market reputation and high quality of living

WEAKNESSES
Lack of outward frontage resulting in an insular facing town, which 
fails to promote itself to people arriving into Solihull.

Solihull’s main gateways are currently characterised by large scale infrastructure.

Key arrival points for pedestrians and cyclists fail to convey 
the quality and vibrancy associated with Solihull.

The train station feels remote from the centre, and 
has a relatively poor environmental quality.

Frontages along the ring road are generally of a lower 
quality and do not overlook the street.

There is very little greenspace within the town centre core 
and access to parks is at present poorly signposted.

The town is characterised by large single use areas, which have little interaction.

Limited residential offer in the town centre.

OPPORTUNITIES 
Train station has the opportunity to create a ‘front door’ to Solihull 
which demonstrates the inherent quality of the town.

Build on it’s reputation as an affluent town.

Build on Solihull Town Centre’s existing variety of public 
spaces, which support a range of different functions.

Improve accessibility to surrounding parks toencourage people to use them.

Increase the residential offer in the town centre.

Recognise the potential benefits which complementary mixed land uses provide.

Support the wider Borough ambitions outlined by UK Central.

THREATS
Market considerations for demand and viability.

Environmentally and socially responsive to a changing demographic; elderly, 
youth and young families – from an environmental and social perspective.

Responding to the competitive nature of similar towns in the wider context.

Responding to climate change and the push for sustainability. 

17

P
age 37



1918

4 VISION
The creation of a clear vision will help communicate the 
values and ideas which will drive the future development 
of Solihull Town Centre. It will also continue to inform 
the development of aims and objectives for the town 
centre which respond to current and anticipated needs. 
The vision presented within this section encapsulates 
a deliverable set of aspirations for Solihull Town 
Centre which has been based upon its current success 
and takes into account stakeholder collaboration 
and wider economic drivers such as UK Central.

This vision is underpinned by three key elements that set out our ambition for Solihull:

THRIVING
“A prosperous and desirable town centre with a strong 
retail and growing commercial core and residential 
offer, alongside outstanding connectivity.”

VIBRANT
“A network of integrated spaces offering unique 
experiences through a constantly evolving 
offer and a variety of reasons to return.”

VISIONARY
“A demonstrator of new trends and opportunities, 
championing sustainability in all aspects of 
design and accessibility and a commitment 
to invest in innovation and growth.”

These elements are the drivers of the concepts that have emerged through the 
Masterplan and support the emerging activities proposed in the document.

SOLIHULL A THRIVING, 
PREMIER TOWN 
CENTRE AND A 
VIBRANT DESTINATION 
AT THE FOREFRONT 
OF VISIONARY DESIGN, 
SUSTAINABILITY 
AND INNOVATION.P

age 38



20 21

5 MASTERPLAN 
CONCEPTS
This section explores the overarching concepts that emerged from the data 
collection, analysis and engagement conducted in the early stages of the 
masterplan studies. By gaining a clear understanding of the fundamental 
issues, opportunities and ambitions for Solihull, three main themes 
emerged which hold the key to achieving the Solihull 2036 Vision:

Connections n Living and Working n Experience.
Both in combination and as distinctive agendas, these concepts set out a broad framework for future growth 
and development, which can then form the basis for future development projects and interventions.

CREATE A NETWORK 
WHICH INTEGRATES 
THE TOWN CENTRES 
VARIOUS RETAIL, 
COMMERCIAL, CIVIC, 
RESIDENTIAL, AND 
CULTURAL PRECINCTS

Connections
The overall connection concept is focussed on the need to reconnect Solihull Town Centre with its currently disjointed 
areas – areas which are covered in the analysis undertaken in section 3– into one cohesive, integrated centre. It 
seeks to create a network which integrates the town centres various retail, commercial, civic, residential, and 
cultural precincts. The connection concept is underpinned by the following ambitions for the Town Centre:

n Deliver a train station which serves as a strong gateway and arrival point into the town centre. The station forms 
part of the wider town centre influence area with strong links to the centre’s major destinations;

n Maximise opportunities for sustainable travel through improved transport infrastructure that helps to reduce 
congestion in the town centre. Vehicular movement around the town centre will be focused along the western edge 
at Lode Lane and Prince’s Way, reducing vehicle movement in the east along Church Hill Road and New Road;

n Complement the public realm experience which as a result of softening the northern and eastern 
edges of the town centre will open Warwick and Church Hill Roads to opportunities for placemaking, 
green infrastructure, improved permeability, and improved public realm;

 P
RI

M
ARY M

OVEMENT

IM
PROVED N

ORTH SOUTH CONNECTIONS PLACEMAKING

IMPROVED PUBLIC REALM

n Improve access between the town 
centre and surrounding neighbourhoods. 
Reducing the road barriers surrounding 
the town centre will improve connections 
with the residential neighbourhoods 
and parklands beyond. It will also 
better enable and encourage residents, 
visitors, and workers to choose more 
sustainable means of travel into town.

n Key locations surrounding the town 
centre will benefit from improved 
pedestrian, cycle and bus connections 
including Solihull Hospital, Solihull 
School, Tudor Grange Leisure 
Centre, Solihull Train station.

n Better integrate key destinations 
within the town centre by upgrading 
key connections such as the High 
Street, Blossomfield roundabout 
and Lode Lane roundabout; and

n Set out proposals for the management 
of town centre car parking to ensure 
that this supports accessibility to the 
town centre and economic activity.

 Buildings

 Car Parking

 Streets

 Parkland

 Placemaking

 Movement

 Upgraded Public Realm

 Establish/improve connections

 Improve Gateway

 Station Redevelopment

Figure 5.1: Conceptual connections strategy for Solihull Town Centre 

P
age 39



22 23

Living and Working
Diversification is a central aim of the living and working concept for Solihull Town Centre, helping to inform future market and land use 
considerations. Central to this concept is the introduction of more residential uses and further office uses into the town centre to inject 
new vitality through a mixture of activities, economic relationships, times of use and built form. The living and working concept will:

n Strengthen the centre’s retail core to reinforce Solihull as a unique town and retail destination;

n Encourage residential uses into the town centre, particularly in areas around the eastern and western periphery of the 
retail core. This will create a mixed use residential and commercial environment which will encourage activity in the town 
centre beyond retail trading hours and help open the market to evening economy and leisure opportunities; and

n Promote the development of high quality new office development with positive frontages onto key routes. This will 
consolidate and build upon the existing office offer, and provide opportunities to improve north-south connections.

Whilst COVID-19 has led forced us to take huge steps forward into the world of home working and much of the workforce has 
embraced the change, office will continue to provide a clear and vital purpose in the post COVID work environment, “to provide inspiring 
destinations that strengthens cultural connection, learning, bonding with customers and colleagues, and supports innovation”

Experience
“Millennials would rather spend their money on an experience or an event than buying things, and 
this is reflected in the shift towards leisure, arts, culture and dining on high streets”

The Solihull Town Centre user experience is a crucial component of creating an appealing 
environment to live, work and enjoy. The experience concept will aim to:

n Reinforce the retail appeal of Solihull by maintaining a retail core focused around Touchwood Shopping 
Centre, Mell Square and the High Street which will include widening the retail offer;

n Provide new opportunities to enhance 
the town centre’s evening and leisure, 
arts and culture offer which can 
be focused around the High Street 
and Mell Square and Eastgate;

n Promote high quality and 
sustainable urban design which 
Solihull can be proud of;

n Create a town centre where people 
can choose to live, work and spend 
their leisure time, encouraging people 
to play an active role in streets. In 
turn this will encourage activity in 
the town centre beyond retail trading 
hours and strengthen the market for 
evening and leisure opportunities;

n Build upon the town’s existing 
assets including its heritage, 
to create a distinctive place 
to shop, work and live;

n Encourage green infrastructure 
into the town centre tracing from 
Tudor Grange Park and Malvern 
Park and Brueton Park; and

n Upgrade key areas of public realm 
with high movement and activity 
within the town centre such as the 
High Street, Blossomfield roundabout 
and Lode Lane roundabout.

LIVING & WORKING

THRIVING “A PROSPEROUS 
AND DESIRABLE TOWN CENTRE 
WITH A STRONG RETAIL AND 
GROWING COMMERCIAL CORE AND 
RESIDENTIAL OFFER, ALONGSIDE 
OUTSTANDING CONNECTIVITY.”

VIBRANT “A NETWORK 
OF INTEGRATED 
SPACES OFFERING 
UNIQUE EXPERIENCES 
THROUGH A 
CONSTANTLY 
EVOLVING OFFER 
AND A VARIETY OF 
REASONS TO RETURN.”

 Buildings

 Car Parking

 Streets

 Parkland

 Green Infrastructure

 Evening/Leisure

 Retail Core

 Residential

 Commercial

 Station Redevelopment

 Improved Gateway

Figure 5.3: Plan illustrating the experience strategy Solihull Town CentreFigure 5.2: Concept of the future living and working strategy for Solihull Town Centre 

RETAIL 
CORE

 Buildings

 Car Parking

 Streets

 Parkland

 Living and working

 Retail Core

 Residential

 Commercial

 Station Redevelopment

RETAIL 
CORE

P
age 40



24 25

Solihull Town Centre Masterplan 2020
The preferred framework and illustrative 
masterplan detailed in this section 
has been developed in response to the 
understanding of place, key spatial, 
transport and property considerations 
that have been debated throughout 
its evolution and as a consequential 
outcome of the overarching messages 
derived from both stakeholder 
engagement and public consultation. 
The framework incorporates a 
description of the individual masterplan 
layers supported with a series of high 
level 3D studies that portray the type of 
place envisaged and the key principles 
for future development. It responds to 
the key objectives that were defined 
in the initial information and analysis 
stages of the masterplan design process 
and shows how the areas of change 
could be developed over the next 20 
years. Figure 6.1 – 6.2 overlays the 
illustrative masterplan onto an existing 
aerial view of the town centre and 
demonstrates how areas of development 
and public realm intervention will 
come together as a holistic strategy.

The following sections provide a 
breakdown of the individual development 
parameters that will inform more 
detailed design studies. The material 
includes the principal components 
that come together to achieve the 
illustrative masterplan such as land 
use, scale, movement and frontages

6 THE SOLIHULL 
TOWN CENTRE 
MASTERPLAN
6.1. EVOLUTION OF THE MASTERPLAN
The masterplanning design process 
undertaken in 2016 evolved through 
a comprehensive understanding of 
Solihull’s physical setting in the context 
of wider market, stakeholder and 

economic drivers. In order to gain an 
initial understanding of the potential 
scale of change that could occur over 
the masterplan period, three levels of 
intervention were produced that tested 

different quantum’s of development 
and land use in order to understand 
the potential impact of car parking and 
public transport connectivity, and in 
response to different market scenarios.

This updated edition of the masterplan 
responds to a number of decisions and 
developments that have occurred locally 
over the intervening 3 years. It also 
considers changes to socioeconomic 
and market conditions locally and 
nationally, new and emerging regional 
and national best practice and 
policy relating to the future of town 
centres; and newly adopted council 
policy and plans. For example:

n The decision not to relocate the 
station onto Monkspath Hall Road 
and to pursue the redevelopment 
of anintegrated transport Hub 
at the current station site

n Completion of a new Aldi Store on 
the site of the Magistrates Court 
on Homer Road, in the Business 
and Commercial Quarter

n The decision not to progress with 
the planned Touchwood II extension 
and the impact for the planned 
redevelopment of the Council House

n Progress on development of 
Homer Road Gateway site

n The impact of COVID on 
market conditions

n The Grimsey Report, Future High 
Street Fund, and industry insight 
into the future of the workplace

n Climate Change prospectus, 
#WM2041, & the Climate Change 
Emergency Statement of Intent.

VISIONARY “A 
DEMONSTRATOR OF 
NEW TRENDS AND 
OPPORTUNITIES, 
CHAMPIONING 
SUSTAINABILITY 
IN ALL ASPECTS 
OF DESIGN AND 
ACCESSIBILITY AND 
A COMMITMENT TO 
INVEST IN INNOVATION 
AND GROWTH.”

Figure 6.2: Solihull Town Centre Illustrative Masterplan

Figure 6.1: Solihull Town Centre Illustrative Masterplan

P
age 41



26 27

6.2 LAND USE
The plan opposite (Figure 6.3) 
indicatively illustrates the potential 
land use response to the framework 
concepts and areas of change described 
within Sections 5 and 6 of the document. 
The strategy’s central aim looks to 
diversify Solihull Town Centre through 
the introduction of new residential 
and commercial uses to attract more 
people throughout the day and meet 
changing demands. The masterplan 
looks to create a broader mixture of 
land uses, across different areas of 
the town centre, which blend together 
and create a positive and distinct 
identity whilst ensuring that the existing 
character of Solihull is preserved and 
strengthened. Each site will be evaluated 
individually and evidence produced on 
the potential development use, taking 
into account the demand profile for 
the sector uses in the town centre.

New high quality office development 
could front along Prince’s Way 
strengthening Solihull as a place 
for business and investment and 
enabling greater permeability 
between the Southern Gateway, Tudor 
Grange Park and the town centre.

Through the introduction of new 
residential uses in the heart of the town 
centre, the masterplan looks to support 
existing commercial and leisure uses, 
whilst also providing additional activity 
and vibrancy outside normal shopping 
hours. Residential development 
could also support objectives of the 
Climate Change prospectus and the 
emerging Surface Access Strategy, 
with many residents able to walk, cycle 
or use public transport to their work 
place and other parts of the town 
centre, reducing reliance on the car.

The schedule below confirms 
the development capacity and 
potential number of dwellings 
that could be achieved in the 
preferred land use framework:

n 1,178 New Homes

n 50,000sqm. office floor space

n 40,000 sqm. Retail, Leisure and 
active ground floor space.

“FOR GENERATIONS 
OUR URBAN AREAS 
HAVE BEEN DESIGNED 
EXCLUSIVELY AROUND 
THE CAR. BUT CAR 
DEPENDENCE IS 
NO LONGER BUILT 
INEXTRICABLY INTO 
THE FABRIC OF TOWNS 
AND CITIES, AND 
BOLD MOVES ARE 
BEING TAKEN TO 
MAKE HIGH STREETS 
MORE WALKABLE AND 
CYCLE FRIENDLY”

 Green Infrastructure

 Mixed Use

 Office

 Commercial

 Civic

 Car Parking/ Private Open Space

 Medium Density R esidential

 High Density Residential Apartments

 Train Station

 Urban Realm

 Plot Areas

 Public Realm Upgrades

 Multi-Storey Car Park

Figure 6.3: Solihull Town Centre Illustrative Masterplan

P
age 42



28 29

6.3 MOVEMENT
The masterplan has evolved around 
strengthening connectivity by providing 
improved routes for pedestrians, 
cyclists and public transport that 
are high quality, legible and safe. An 
important consideration has been 
the need to support the masterplan 
aims in respect of strengthening 
the ‘place’ element of the transport 
network in Solihull town centre, 
including those areas where the needs 
of pedestrians, cyclists and public 
transport users are to be prioritised. 
This includes High Street, Station 
Road and Warwick Road in particular.

The masterplan has evolved around 
strengthening connectivity by providing 
improved routes for pedestrians, 
cyclists and public transport that 
are high quality, legible and safe. To 
support the Masterplan, a Town 
Centre Multi Modal Access Strategy 
is currently under development. 
The Access Strategy will seek to 
enhance future accessibility to, 
from and within the Town Centre.

As well as supporting the 
Masterplan, The Access Strategy 
has the following objectives:

n Identify the scale of the transport 
‘problem’, overall approach to 
mitigate it and areas focus on;

n Provide a more accurate, relevant 
and iterative estimate of travel 
demand to Solihull Town Centre;

n Identify the potential propensity 
for active travel and public 
transport within close proximity 
to the town centre;

n Provide an aspirational vision 
for movement and place within 
Solihull Town Centre; and

n Inform SMBC in readiness 
for the Local Plan review.

The Strategy will support the Masterplan 
by developing interventions to provide 
alternative solutions to ease congestion 
and enhance connectivity within the 
town centre area for both residents 
and visitors. An analysis of transport 
movements within the town centre (in 
the AM peak) has shown that 36% of 
journeys are less than two miles and 66% 
of journeys are less than 5 miles. As part 
of the Access Strategy, interventions 
will be developed to encourage short 
distance journeys to be undertaken by 
public transport, cycling and/or walking.

Interventions to be considered as 
part of the Access Strategy include

n High quality segregated cycle 
routes on the key arterial corridors 
connecting into the Town Centre

n Improved pedestrian provision 
including public realm improvements

n Reducing severance for 
pedestrians and cycle users

n Bus Lanes/Bus priority

n Highway efficiency improvements – 
traffic signalling, use of technology

n Improved connectivity 
between Solihull Railway 
Station and Town Centre

Whilst the Access Strategy is under 
development, progress has already 
been made with the Town Centre 
Approach scheme which officially 
opened in September 2018. This 
scheme included the following:

n Widening of the footway along 
Station Approach between the 
station entrance and Blossomfield 
Road to provide a two way shared 
cycle and pedestrian facility;

n Re-alignment and improvement 
of the Toucan crossing along 
Blossomfield Road.

n New street lighting with LED 
bulbs to brighten the route 
into the town centre

This scheme has improved the quality of 
the pedestrian link between the railway 
station and the town centre and is a first 
step in addressing some of the existing 
and potential development accessibility 
issues identified in the earlier 
Masterplan stakeholder workshops, 
and as part of work undertaken 
to develop Solihull Connected.

To be truly transformative, the standard 
of future schemes needs to reflect 
this best practice in terms of design, 
materials and signage and should 
support the ambition to create a 
balanced investment in multi-modal 
transport infrastructure and behaviour 
change which recognises the roles 
of public transport and active travel 
modes (walking and cycling) as well as 
the car. It will be imperative that high 
quality cycling and walking provision 
is provided to encourage and enable 
more active travel journeys are 
undertaken within the town centre.

6.3.1 HIGHWAY INTERVENTIONS
Options development and initial appraisal work is underway at several locations 
in the town centre which have been identified as locations which experience 
significant levels of congestion at peak times and have poor provision for walking 
and cycling. A traffic model is being developed to enable the testing of options / 
combinations of options to ensure that any schemes put forward meet the needs of 
pedestrians, cyclists and public transport, whilst maintaining access for traffic.

Specific locations where further option development 
work is being undertaken are as follows:

n Blossomfield Road / Streetsbrook Road / Princes Way junction. Insofar as possible, 
the aim here is to maintain or improve highways capacity whilst improving the 
quality and continuity of walk and cycle access between the railway station and 
High Street and Homer Road areas, including potential development sites.

n Lode Lane / Warwick Road junction – This is already a large junction which 
is not controlled by traffic signals. This makes crossing the road difficult 
for cyclists and pedestrians. The lack of control also makes it difficult 
to manage the town centre highway network in a holistic manner.

n B4102 Warwick Road / New Road / Hampton Lane junction. During peak 
periods the junction acts as a significant delay point on the town centre arterial 
road network as well as being a significant barrier to walking and cycling 
(because of its relatively wide geometry and limited space for pedestrians 
and cyclists). During school drop off times at Solihull School, the junction 
becomes particularly problematic and can result in blocking back to the B4102/
George Road junction as well as significant queue lengths along New Road.

n A41 Solihull Bypass / Hampton Lane / Yew Tree Lane junction. This is in effect 
two junctions in close proximity linked together with the A41 as the dominant 
through route. Due to safety issues, some right turn movements at this junction 
are segregated which adds to the delay due to increased signal cycle times.

n A41 Solihull Bypass / Lode Lane Junction. This is a key access point into Solihull 
town centre and sits on a major public transport corridor linking the town 
centre, Solihull Hospital and major employers such as Jaguar Land Rover.

This list is not exhaustive and the traffic model will be used to help inform where 
further investigation and options development work should take place.

Consideration is also being given to the following:

n Development of a local highway signage strategy (including carparks) to 
develop options to better manage the flow of traffic around the town centre.

n A review of the operation of the existing Solihull town centre traffic 
control centre and traffic signal equipment and any improvements that 
can be made to it to provide a robust and innovative traffic management 
tool. The aim being to control and manage existing congestion and 
accommodate future development and growth in the town centre.

6.3.2 CYCLING AND WALKING
To enable more short distance journeys to be undertaken on foot or by bike within the 
town centre, it’s imperative that cycling and walking provision is of a high standard. It 
is important that local residents and visitors believe that travelling by active modes 
is safe, attractive and convenient. To recognise the importance of active travel, the 
councils Cycling and Walking Strategy outlines a clear ambition to increase the 
amount of cycling and walking journeys across the borough. The Strategy states 
the need for a high standard of cycling infrastructure including the implementation 
of segregated cycle routes connecting residential areas to key employment sites.

As part of the Cycling and Walking Strategy, a Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan (LCWIP) has been developed. The Solihull LCWIP has developed a long term 
Cycling Network Plan and a number of Core Walking Zones (CWZs). The Cycling 
Network Plan includes a number of arterial corridors connecting to the Town Centre.

The LCWIP will support the Access Strategy by providing recommendations on 
the level of provision required for cycle users and pedestrians within the town 
centre. The LCWIP has identified a number of priority cycle routes connecting 
to the Town Centre which will be included in the Access Strategy with a view of 
implementation in the coming years. Solihull Town Centre was included as a CWZ 
within the LCWIP. The Town Centre CWZ has identified a package of interventions 
required to improve the pedestrian environment within the town centre.

PEOPLE 
WANT 
TO VISIT, 
LIVE 
AND 
WORK

P
age 43



30 31

*

*

*

* *
*

*

6.5 BUILDING HEIGHTS
The modest scale of existing development in the town centre is reflected in the building 
heights framework plan (Figure 6.5). The scale of proposed buildings looks to respond 
to this context, with larger buildings fronting onto principal routes and keys gateways 
to reflect street hierarchy and improve legibility. This will be particularly true along 
Prince’s Way, Lode Lane and Warwick Road, which are primary routes and require 
buildings of a more significant presence to balance out the scale of the street.

In contrast, it is envisaged that building heights in sensitive areas like St 
Alphege Quarter will be of a lower order to ensure that existing character is 
maintained and that the prominence of St Alphege Church is preserved.

Solihull Town Centre is impacted by the Civil Aviation Authorities Obstruction 
Zone regulations, limiting the height of new buildings. All new development will 
need to adhere to the requirements of these regulations, however within these 
parameters the masterplan does not seek to be prescriptive about building 
heights in areas of change or on opportunity sites. The scale and massing of 
proposed development will be dealt with through the planning process and will 
be subject to contextual analysis and quality of design considerations.

Figure 6.5: Solihull Town Centre Building density/heights

 High density

 Medium density

 Low density

Sprint network map

6.3.4 PUBLIC TRANSPORT
The following Sprint (bus rapid transit 
routes) will serve Solihull town centre 
and Solihull Station interchange:

n Birmingham Airport and Solihull to 
Birmingham City Centre (A45); and

n Hall Green to UK Central 
(A34 Stratford Road)

The first route is planned for delivery in 
advance of the Commonwealth Games in 
2022. Both routes will maintain access 
to the existing town centre and the 
emerging Masterplan developments.

6.3.5 CAR PARKING
A Car Parking Strategy is being 
developed, to ensure that Solihull 
continues to be served by an appropriate 
level of parking provision. The strategy 
considers the impacts that new 
development will have upon existing 
parking provision, both in terms of 
supply and demand, whilst also taking 
into account the potential for change 
in how people access and use the 
town centre (as a result of changes to 
travel behaviour that may be generated 
through the non-motorised user 
interventions highlighted above, and 
the on-going change in services and 
facilities provided within such centres).

6.4 GATEWAYS AND 
FRONTAGES
The framework level gateway and 
frontages strategy (Figure 6.4), looks 
to mark the town’s key gateways 
including Lode Lane/Blossomfield Road 
roundabout, Prince’s Way / Church Hill 
Road roundabout, Lode Lane / Warwick 
Road roundabout and New Road / 
Warwick Road junction, through the 
creation of new landmark buildings. It 
is envisaged that these buildings will 
be of a larger scale and have notable 
architectural character which gives them 
a unique style and identity. It is important 
that new development in Solihull 
supports the creation of well – designed 
streets and understands that they play a 
key part in delivering sustainable places 
where people want to visit, live and work. 
Providing active and attractive frontage 
onto key routes will encourage a vibrant 
and active street life, while buildings 
of varying scales will create character 
and define important spaces / routes.

Figure 6.4: Solihull Town Centre Gateways and Frontages

 Key frontage

 Gateway

P
age 44



32 33

6.6 STRATEGIC MARKET 
COMMENTARY
The following section provides insight 
into the sociodemographic conditions, 
and current market for office, retail/
leisure and residential development 
in Solihull Town Centre. It has been 
produced to provide local context which 
informs land use proposals for key 
development sites in the town centre.

6.6.1 OVERVIEW
Solihull is consistently identified as one 
of the strongest performing town centre 
locations within the West Midlands sub-
region. The Touchwood shopping centre 
anchors a range of national retail chains 
alongside local retailers and a food and 
drink offer and, alongside Mell Square, 
contributes to a vibrant town centre. 
In the face of long term pressures, 
Solihull has been relatively successful in 
retaining key retailers and maintaining 
an attractive retail offer. Alongside 
this, the town centre as developed its 
role as a focus for professional service 
and other office based activities.

Nationally, town centres have 
experienced significant pressure as 
a result of a series of collapses and 
closures on the high street. Within this 
environment, investment to sustain 
existing centres is coming under 
increasing pressure. These changes 
reflect long-term structural changes 
in consumer behaviour and the way in 
which people use the town centre and 
shopping trends in particular. Many of 
these trends have been exacerbated by 
the COVID-19 crisis, with new patterns of 
working potentially forcing businesses 
to review the need for workspace.

While Solihull has experienced significant 
challenges – particularly over 2020 – it 
remains well placed to act as a focus 
for renewal as the economy recovers 
over the medium term. This reflects the 
fact the fundamental characteristics 
of the town centre remain strong. It 
continues to provide a mixed and 
high quality shopping experience, 
anchored by high quality tenants and 
operators; The BID and the Council work 
collaboratively in support of a long term 
vision; and the catchment continues 
to comprise settled households 
with high disposable incomes and 
a highly qualified labour market.

6.6.2 POLICY CONTEXT
The masterplan has been developed having full regard to policy objectives at 
the national, regional and local levels, reflecting key strategic themes:

n Vibrant town centres – the creation of the High Street Task Force recognises 
the key role that town centres play as a focus for activity, community and identity 
at the local level, and it has been charged with overseeing the delivery of a 
routemap to transformation – ensuring that the high street continues to lie at the 
heart of vibrant town centres over years to come. The Grimsey Review outlines 
a framework that highlights the importance of ensuring that town centres lie 
at the heart of recovery from COVID-19. These principles underpin the GBSLEP 
Towns and Local Centres Framework, which highlights the importance of targeted 
intervention to sustaining vibrant town centres. The Masterplan has been prepared 
in full alignment with this framework, promoting change in support of growth.

n Enhanced productivity – seeking to create strong foundations for growth, the 
Industrial Strategy and Local Industrial Strategy recognise the key importance 
of enhancing productivity through investment in ideas, people, infrastructure, the 
business environment and places. The role of place in creating an environment 
that attracts investment and talent – at a UK and local level – is recognised 
within the masterplan. Building upon the established strength of Solihull town 
centre, its wider catchment and strategic linkages, the Masterplan will promote 
measures that create the conditions to attract investment and generate growth.

n Regional growth drivers – Solihull lies at the heart of the Midlands Engine for Growth 
as a key economic driver, building upon established assets and the huge potential 
of transformational schemes – including HS2 and UK:Central. The masterplan for 
the town centre represents a core element of the wider UK:Central infrastructure 
plan, recognising its importance in creating the conditions for strategic investment. 
In particular, it is envisaged that these initiatives will extend the catchment 
of the town centre, generating future requirements for homes, services and 
jobs. The proposals for the town centre respond directly to this requirement.

n Local growth objectives – at a local level, revitalising town centre environments 
forms a key strand of the Council Plan for the period to 2025, with the masterplan 
recognsied as a core foundation for a strategic plan led approach. This underpins the 
inclusive vision for the Borough, where everyone has an equal chance to be healthier, 
happier, safer and more prosperous through growth that creates opportunities for all.

6.6.3 SOCIO-ECONOMIC BASELINE
Key socio-economic indicators have been assessed at the Solihull level 
and for Solihull town centre. The assessment confirms the clear strength 
of the Borough and the town centre. This offers potential long-term 
resilience against the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, which will continue 
to impact on activity and investment over the short to medium term.

Solihull level
Within Solihull, rapid output growth of 37.3% from 2014 to 2019 has significantly 
outpaced growth in the WMCA and the UK comparator areas (14.7% and 9.1% 
respectively). Considering the specific sectors where this economic activity has 
been concentrated, Solihull demonstrates established strengths in relation to key 
office based sectors including telecoms, computing and IT services and business 
support services, alongside manufacturing and logistics. Additionally, there are a 
diverse range of sectors where strong employment growth has been witnessed 
and is expected to continue, including professional services and recreation. 
Whilst analysis suggests that the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on GVA will 
have been relatively severe at the local level, economic forecasts suggest that 
Solihull is potentially well placed to recover over the medium to longer term.

Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, key indicators suggest that the area has 
benefited from high rates of economic activity and employment. The strength 
of the labour market in Solihull was married with an increase of workplace and 
resident earnings which has outpaced the national average, providing residents 
with relatively high disposable incomes. Moreover, qualification levels in Solihull 
set the area ahead of regional and national trends. However, further analysis has 
revealed an uneven geographical distribution of these skills levels in Solihull.

With respect to the housing market in Solihull, growth of house prices from 2014 to 
2019 was slower in Solihull than regionally or nationally. Despite this, the housing 
affordability ratio for Solihull in 2019 was only marginally lower than the national 
average (7.83 versus 8.13), and significantly higher than for the wider WMCA 
region. There is limited affordable housing in and around the town centre.

In addition to this, the population of Solihull performs strongly in terms of health 
outcomes, physical activity rates, educational attainment and social mobility.

Town Centre level
At the Solihull Town Centre level, the growth in the number of local businesses 
has outpaced the trends within the wider Solihull area and nationally. Whilst the 
composition of the business base in terms of the size of business in Solihull 
Town Centre broadly mirrors wider comparator areas, there are specific 
sectors which have a greater representation of businesses in Solihull than in 
comparator areas. These include information and communications, property, 
professional, scientific and technical, education, and health sectors.

The rate of population growth in Solihull Town Centre over the period 2014 to 2018 
was broadly similar to the wider Solihull area, although it is noted that the majority 
of the population lives adjacent to the masterplan area within established and 
relatively affluent residential neighbourhoods. The housing stock within Solihull 
town centre contains a greater proportion of high value properties than in the 
wider Solihull area or nationally, suggesting there could be issues associated with 
affordability in the town centre. Although population growth for the wider Solihull 
area was outpaced regionally and nationally, population projections indicate that the 
anticipated population growth of 12.7% by 2040 in Solihull will be higher than for the 
WMCA area and England as a whole, with growth expected across all age groups.

According to the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD), Solihull overall ranked 
206 out 324 and is therefore deprivation of the area is considered relatively 
low. All LSOAs within Solihull town centre rank within the least 20% deprived 
LSOAs nationally. However, the centre does not rank as favourably in terms of 
the barriers to housing and services domain, with deprivation also becoming 
worse in the education, skills and training and health domain since 2015.

SOLIHULL IS 
CONSISTENTLY 
IDENTIFIED AS ONE 
OF THE STRONGEST 
PERFORMING TOWN 
CENTRE LOCATIONS 
WITHIN THE WEST 
MIDLANDS SUB-REGION

P
age 45



34 35

6.6.4 MARKET CONDITIONS
Overview
Based on local data, there are approximately 600 commercial premises within 
Solihull town centre. Overall, shops account for around 40% of commercial premises 
within the town centre area, reflecting the traditional status of retail as a high 
value activity. Office premises accounted for around 35%. While a number of other 
activities make important contributions, the leisure and hospitality sector remains 
relatively underrepresented within the town centre, accounting for 7% of premises.

Retail
Solihull is consistently identified as one of the strongest performing town centre 
locations within the West Midlands sub-region. The Centre is anchored by Touchwood 
and Mell Square, acting as a focus for national retailers. The high street remains part 
of the retail core, providing a link from St Alphege to the station. Overall, Solihull town 
centre remains a major shopping destination with a strong retail offer – underpinned 
by the presence of key anchors. It responds to a wide range of requirements, but 
benefits from a relatively affluence catchment population. Prior to COVID-19, footfall 
remained strong – supported by a range of demand drivers – while access by 
private and public transport enhances convenience for visitors and workers alike.

In spite of these strengths, the town centre still experiences a number of visible long 
term vacancies, suggesting the key areas enjoy lower footfall and activity. In addition, 
the hospitality and leisure offer is relatively limited. The quality of the public realm has 
declined over time and the centre no longer offers a very high quality experience outside 
of the main centres. It also suffers from visible rough sleeping and anti-social behaviour. 
The impact of COVID-19 will continue to be significant for the retail sector over the 
medium term. It is envisaged that increased flexibility will be key to enable adaptation 
within the retail sector, with further emphasis on promoting a high quality experience.

Office
“Ultimately, flexibility will be the new requirement for the office sector, with 
occupiers and their employees demanding comfortable, accessible spaces 
that can be easily adapted as required. This isn’t anything new, but where these 
spaces are located and how they are designed is worth thinking about”

The office market in Solihull is outperforming many indicators across a ten-year average. 
Whilst this is a positive sign, the lack of development over the past four to five years 
has severely constrained the market. This is evident in the low vacancy rates of 5.6% 
and rising rents. In response, the Council is playing an integral role in promoting new 
development within the town centre through the Westgate development. It is envisaged 
that this will play a key role in reinforcing key economic sectors within the town centre.

Residential
The residential market is showing signs of recovery in the short term, in 
part as a result of the stamp duty holiday imposed by the government in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, over the longer term activity 
may slow as the availability of mortgages, particularly to first-time buyers 
and those with limited financial power, becomes more constrained.

Within masterplan area, there is a limited supply of housing. Across the wider 
B91 1 postcode sector, the market is dominated by established neighbourhoods 
comprising detached dwellings which surround the town centre. New residential 
development within the town centre has been relatively limited over the 
last five years, comprising mainly higher value, aspirational homes.

Demand for residential provision in and around the town centre remains strong, 
reflecting the transport links, quality of schools, amenity and access to services. 
Affordability remains a significant barrier for many prospective residents, reflecting 
the limited choice of accommodation within the centre. It is recognised that 
increasing the density and diversity of the resident population could play a key role in 
supporting a more vibrant and sustainable town centre offer over the longer term.

6.7 PLANNING 
REFORM 2020
In June 2020, the Government 
announced that it will look to streamline 
the planning process as part of its 
objective to ‘kickstart’ the economy 
post Covid-19. The reforms to legislation 
within England are stated to be the 
most radial since the Second World War. 
One of the initiatives includes greater 
flexibility to enable the ‘repurposing’ 
of commercial premises. This would 
include a ‘permitted change’ from 
retail (A1) to other commercial uses 
including: cafes and restaurants (A3) 
and offices (B1a). The effect of the 
proposed legislation would mean there 
would no longer be a requirement for a 
formal planning application to facilitate 
changes of use. The new legislation 
will empower the property market with 
greater agility to respond to changes 
in demand, which could encourage a 
wider range of uses thereby contributing 
to vibrancy and vitality in the Town 
Centre. It also presents a number of 
challenges for ensuring that growth 
and development occurs in a joined 
up and cohesive way with a constant 
consideration of the impact of individual 
development sites on the look, feel 
and purpose of the town centre as a 
whole. Whilst the planning reform poses 
challenges for using planning policies 
to control the mix of uses in the town 
centre, this masterplan will ensure that 
those looking to invest and develop 
in the town centre are clear about the 
vision and ambition for future growth

“ULTIMATELY, FLEXIBILITY WILL BE 
THE NEW REQUIREMENT FOR THE 
OFFICE SECTOR, WITH OCCUPIERS 
AND THEIR EMPLOYEES DEMANDING 
COMFORTABLE, ACCESSIBLE SPACES 
THAT CAN BE EASILY ADAPTED AS 
REQUIRED. THIS ISN’T ANYTHING 
NEW, BUT WHERE THESE SPACES 
ARE LOCATED AND HOW THEY ARE 
DESIGNED IS WORTH THINKING ABOUT”

P
age 46



37

6.8 AREAS OF CHANGE

The framework concepts define an overarching 
direction for the Solihull Town Centre Masterplan; a 
strategy for change that can be flexible over time 
in order to accommodate changes in the market as 
well as social and economic trends. It is important 
to maintain this flexibility whilst at the same time 
demonstrating how intervention in a specific part of 
town will link to the wider area and can have potential 
cross-cutting benefits such as improvements in the 
perception branding of Solihull and general health 
and wellbeing, leading to a more sustainable place.

THIS SECTION 
IDENTIFIES SIX AREAS 
OF CHANGE WITHIN 
SOLIHULL TOWN 
CENTRE WHICH 
PROVIDE PRACTICAL 
INTERVENTIONS IN 
ORDER TO DELIVER 
THE EMERGING 
CONCEPTS OUTLINED 
WITHIN THE 
PREVIOUS SECTION.

It is important to recognise that the 
level of intervention envisaged as part 
of the Solihull Town Centre Masterplan 
will be delivered over a broad timeline. 
Areas are likely to overlap and will 
influence one another as well as forming 
part of an evolution of the overall 
town centre offer, as highlighted in 
the Vision section of this document

It is not the intention of the areas of 
change to be prescriptive in a way that 
suppresses future creativity or the 
ability of the town centre to respond 
to external influences. However, it is 
important to explore a number of the 
spatial relationships that are likely to 
be generated through examination of 
a particular approach. The definition 
of the physical boundaries have 
been derived through the spatial and 
market analysis of Solihull as well as 
an appreciation of existing ambition 
for change that has emerged through 
discussions with key stakeholders.

Section 6.8.1 – 6.8.6 provide details 
of each area of change which set out 
the key opportunities and influences 
associated with each area. The 
association with the three emerging 
concepts is confirmed and the ideas are 
reinforced through a series of precedent 
images and best practice examples.

Development Sites
The Solihull Town Centre Masterplan 
builds upon the previous work carried 
out as part of the Solihull Town Centre 
Study. The study identified a number 
of opportunity sites through which 
Solihull might accommodate significant 
additional growth and improvements 
to the connectivity of the town centre. 
The Solihull Town Centre Masterplan 
broadly follows the sites identified in 
earlier work, but also includes a number 
of new sites which could provide further 
opportunities to respond to the emerging 
concepts in the longer term. Sections 
6.8.1 – 6.8.6 provide a breakdown 
of the individual development sites 
within each area of change. They have 
been defined in order to help inform 
developing transport studies and give 
an early indication of potential future 
capacity. It should be noted that the 
boundaries of the sites are not definitive 
at this stage, and it is envisaged that 
they may evolve as sites are subject to 
further feasibility and viability work.

Each section includes a brief overview 
of the opportunity site and its location 
followed by a high level indication of the 
potential capacity of new development 
calculated under its preferred end use.

36

1. Western Gateway
2. Southern Gateway
3. Business and Commercial Quarter 
4. Northern Approach
5. Heart of Solihull (Retail Core)
6. St Alphege Quarter

Figure 6.6 Solihull Town Centre Masterplan – Model View

Figure 6.7 Plan identifying the seven 
areas of change incorporating 
key areas for intervention. 

5

6
3

2

4

1

P
age 47



38 39

6.8.1 AREA OF CHANGE:

Western 
Gateway
THE OPPORTUNITY

The western arrival into the town is currently dominated 
by roads and a lack of frontages around the Solihull 
Methodist Church and Westgate site, with the train 
station physically and psychologically disconnected from 
the town centre. Reconfiguration of key frontages and 
movement patterns here would provide opportunities 
to enhance key pedestrian and cycle connections 
from Solihull Train station into the town centre, and 
also potentially improve journey times for buses by 
reprioritising and supporting sustainable travel.

Supported by new land mark development on the Westgate site fronting onto the 
street and an improved public realm, with reprioritisation of the road for pedestrians 
and cyclists, the Blossomfield Road roundabout could be transformed into a key visual 
gateway; which represents an important arrival point into Solihull Town Centre.

ASSOCIATION WITH FRAMEWORK CONCEPTS

CONNECTIONS LIVING AND WORKING EXPERIENCE

Improve pedestrian and 
cycle connections into and 
out of the town centre

Enhance connection to Solihull 
College and Tudor Grange Park. 

Encourage greater use 
of sustainable travel.

Longer term opportunities to 
diversify the town centre and 
provide sustainable urban living. 

Strengthen and enhance the 
key gateway into the town.

Promotion of high quality and 
sustainable new development. 

Upgrade key route into town 
improve legibility and wayfinding. 

TUDOR GRANGE PARK

MALVERN PARK

**

Figure 6.8: Broad design principles and precedent image examples.

Figure 6.9: Location plan

 Railway Line

 Potential for landmark building

 Potential frontage

 Connections (Improved connections)

 Living & Working (Potential 
living and working)

 Experience (Impoved urban 
experience and placemaking)

P
age 48



40 41

DEVELOPMENT SITE: SOLIHULL TRAIN STATION

THE VISION
The creation of a multi-modal Integrated Transport Hub that gives 
the Western Gateway a new sense of place, with a landmark 
building providing a gateway into the town centre that reflects the 
reputation and quality of the town centre, whilst complementing its 
surroundings. A new Transport Hub will facilitate the forecast economic 
growth of the town centre, and support the transformation of the 
connectivity between the station and the heart of the Town Centre.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
The Station Masterplan provides an 
opportunity to re-examine the current 
role of the station as a key entrance 
point to the town and the commercial 
opportunities this brings. While the 
primary role of the station will remain 
the safe, fast and efficient movement 
of passengers from one mode to 
another, and improve connectivity to 
the town, it also acts as the arrival 
point for many into the town and so 
the vision and ambition of the town 
should be reflected in the scheme 
design and quality of delivery.

Redevelopment of the station is likely 
to involve a new larger station building 
replacing the existing building, in its 
current location. Improvements would 
be made to platforms, stairwells, subway, 
and waiting areas to deliver 
the highest quality of passenger experience, with modern facilities, provision 
of customer information and comfortable convenience and waiting facilities, 
which meets the highest levels of safety and environmental standards.

The highway and public open space adjacent to the new station building will be 
reconfigured to enable quick, safe and seamless interchange between multiple 
modes of transport, including cars, taxis, buses and sprint. Development provides the 
opportunity to pedestrianise the lower end of Station Approach to create a high-quality 
civic space, providing Solihull with a true gateway; partially bridging the perceived gap 
between the station and the town centre. The green space would be reallocated around 
the site in smaller scale plots, rather than necessarily creating a large public square.

There are commercial opportunities at the station that can be realised to 
support growth, but must be balanced with the development potential of the 
town centre. The development of a quality retail, food and beverage offer within 
the station building will initially serve interchange users, but has the potential 
to be developed further in the future to serve the surrounding employment 
and residential uses, without having a detrimental impact on the footfall 
and demand in the town centre, and improving the visitor experience.

There are also opportunities for residential development, which can support an 
increased town centre population in a sustainable location, and commercial office 
development opportunities which can provide a potentially different product and 
service a different market compared to the town centre office market. These 
development opportunities will support the delivery of a high quality, and well maintained 
station environment, which will be important in providing an arrival experience that 
matches the vision and ambition for Solihull. These opportunities will be scaled 
to ensure they do not interfere with the primary role of the station as a transport 
interchange, or impact on the demand and development potential of the town centre.

Station Approach

Blossom
field R

oad

Streetsbrook Road

DEVELOPMENT SITE: WESTGATE

THE VISION
The vision is to optimise the potential development of a prime site within Solihull’s 
commercial district by providing a landmark Grade A+ speculative office 
development. By providing a development containing larger floor plates, which 
through occupier demand, could attract a major organisation into Solihull, and 
which emphasises the scale and prominence of the development. The scheme 
includes enhancements to the public realm, improvements to pedestrian 
connectivity and provides an attractive setting for new development.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
Located on Blossomfield Road 
roundabout, the Westgate site is 
situated on a prominent gateway into the 
town centre and provides opportunity 
to create an impressive new arrival 
point into Solihull’s business and 
commercial quarter. It is envisaged that 
high quality new town centre offices 
could be developed complementing 
the proposed offer at The Hub of UK 
Central, home to Birmingham Airport, 
the National Exhibition Centre and 
Jaguar Land Rover as well as the 
new High Speed Rail Interchange. it 
is envisaged that enhancements 
would be made to the public realm and 
around Lode Lane/Blossomfield Road 
roundabout to improve pedestrian 
connectivity and provide an attractive 
setting for new development.

Development of the Westgate site 
has the potential to deliver:

n Approx. 10,100sqm of Grade 
A office development

n Collaborative workspaces 
for community use with café 
facilities and meeting rooms 
that will help businesses to 
innovate and work together

n External landscaping and Public 
Realm areas around the building, 
with hard landscaping that helps to 
connect the buildings grounding to its 
wider context and soft landscaping 
that includes green walls, raised beds 
and parklets to create a streetscape 
atmosphere with all year interest

n Surface level parking including 
disabled, visitor and electric 
charging spaces.

n Development that is designed in 
accordance with British Council for 
Offices BCO guidelines, achieves, 
BREEAM New Construction 
2018 ‘Excellent’, and Well 
Building Silver standard

Figure 6.10: Model View – Solihull Train Station

Figure 6.11: Model View – 
Solihull Train Station

Figure 6.12: Model View – Homer Road Triangle

Figure 6.13: Illustrative View – Homer Road Triangle

LODE LANE

STREETSBROOK ROAD

BLOSSOMFIELD ROAD

Station Approach

P
age 49



42 43

6.8.2 AREA OF CHANGE

Southern 
Gateway
THE OPPORTUNITY

Cut off from the town by busy roads and the rail line embankment, the south of the town 
centre feels disconnected from its surroundings, in particular Tudor Grange Park and the 
business and commercial quarter. Large swathes of surface car parking leave large voids 
in the urban structure at a key arrival point into the town. Prince’s Way is characterised 
by tall vegetation and backs of existing office buildings which has the resulting effect 
of creating an insular facing town, which fails to promote itself to people arriving into 
Solihull, creating a negative perception which is at odds with the town centre core.

There is an opportunity to breathe new life into the Southern Gateway by promoting development that introduces a new 
active use and brings with it a new group of town centre users. A key feature of any development should be the introduction 
of new pedestrian and cycling routes linking the north and the south of the town, with attractive public realm, open spaces, 
active frontages that provide an attractive and impressive entrance to the town centre through the southern gateway.

ASSOCIATION WITH FRAMEWORK CONCEPTS

CONNECTIONS LIVING AND WORKING EXPERIENCE

Improved cycle and pedestrian 
connections into the town 
from the south, across Princes 
Way and the railway line

Opportunity to introduce new 
residential accommodation 
or commercial development, 
or a mix of both.

Positive frontage onto 
Tudor Grange Park.

Linking the town centre 
with public parks.

TUDOR 
GRANGE 
PARK

MALVERN PARK

*
TUDOR GRANGE PARK

POTENTIAL NEW 
MULTI STOREY 
CAR PARK

Figure 6.14: Broad design principles and precedent image examples.

Figure 6.15: Location plan

 Railway Line

 Potential for landmark building

 Potential frontage

 Connections (Improved connections)

 Potential development and carpark

 Experience (Impoved urban 
experience and placemaking)

P
age 50



44 45

DEVELOPMENT SITE: 
MONKSPATH HALL ROAD

THE VISION
The introduction of a vibrant, active use on a key town centre site, that creates 
an attractive gateway and contributes towards creating a vibrant town centre 
economy that meets the needs of the growing town centre resident population.

The size, location and layout of the site means that it is a truly flexible space that 
could accommodate a wide variety of uses including residential, commercial, 
leisure or education. The site has the capacity to accommodate the development 
of a multi-story carpark as an early phase of works, which will mitigate the 
loss of car parking from Monkspath Hall Road Car Park and the Mell Square car 
park allowing redevelopment of these sites for future growth within the town. 

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
The Masterplan does not identify a preferred use for this site. The size, location 
and setting of the site mean that it is flexible and suitable to house a variety of 
uses, including mixed use. Any development on this site should look to include, 
active frontage along Monkspath Hall Road, and improved connections between 
the southern gateway and the other areas of the town centre to the north.

M
ON

KS
PA

TH
 H

AL
L 

RO
AD

MONKSPATH HALL ROAD

CREATING 
A VIBRANT 
TOWN CENTRE 
ECONOMY 
THAT MEETS 
THE NEEDS OF 
THE GROWING 
TOWN CENTRE 
RESIDENT 
POPULATION  

Figure 6.17: Illustrative View – Monkspath Hall Road Car Park

Figure 6.16: Model View – Indicative Monkspath Hall Road Car Park

P
age 51



46 47

6.8.3 AREA OF CHANGE

Business and 
Commercial 
Quarter
THE OPPORTUNITY

Challenges facing the business and commercial quarter are the poor 
quality of existing north – south connections, inadequate cycle provision, 
weak urban form and the lack of frontage along Prince’s Road.

Through expansion of the current commercial offer and the potential integration of new urban living, there are opportunities 
to promote Solihull as a place to do business, whilst addressing some of the key urban design issues facing the town. 
Potential enhancement of Homer Road and north-south connections could provide opportunities to promote walking 
and cycling, and also introduce green infrastructure into the town linking with Tudor Grange Park. The introduction of 
landmark buildings could improve the southern aspect of the town along Princes Way by redefining frontage.

Prince’s Way and Homer Road are presently characterized by a high concentration of large, single occupier, buildings. A number 
of well-known names including Npower, National Grid, Paragon Financial Services, and HM Immigration Office, occupy these 
buildings and consequently lend the area a particular quality. In particular, the area between Prince’s Way and Homer Road, is 
defined by large buildings, set back from the road with extensive surface parking areas. These qualities have been important 
in establishing Solihull Town Centre as an important location within the wider office market outside of Birmingham.

There is an opportunity in the business and commercial quarter to create office accommodation that meets modern working 
preferences. Much of the existing office stock in the town centre doesn’t provide the focus around ‘collaboration, meeting 
and knowledge sharing’ that employers and employees are likely to seek in their post COVID working environments.

ASSOCIATION WITH FRAMEWORK CONCEPTS

CONNECTIONS LIVING AND WORKING EXPERIENCE

Improve north-south connections 
through the town centre

Enhance provision for cyclists to 
encourage sustainable travel.

Create a more permeable town centre.

Strengthen support and 
extend Solihull’s business 
and commercial offer.

Opportunity to diversify the 
town centre and provide 
sustainable urban living. 

Introduction of green 
infrastructure linking the town 
centre with public parks.

Improving the look and feel of 
the north-south connections.

Enhance the Southern Gateway 
into town centre through high 
quality new development.

*

*

*

TOUCHWOOD

JUBILEE PARK

TUDOR GRANGE PARK

MALVERN PARK

Figure 6.18: Broad design principles and precedent image examples.

Figure 6.19: Location plan

 Railway Line

 Potential for landmark building

 Potential frontage

 Connections (Improved connections)

 Living & Working (Potential 
living and working)

 Experience (Impoved urban 
experience and placemaking)

P
age 52



48 49

DEVELOPMENT 
SITE: HOMER ROAD 
CIVIC BUILDINGS

THE VISION
Replacement of existing 
large scale, low quality civic 
buildings with high quality 
office accommodation and 
new urban living opportunities 
to create a vibrant mixed use 
area that supports the living 
and working concept, and 
helps to diversify the town 
centre economy. As part of the 
development, new public realm 
and open space will be created 
that improves connectivity 
for pedestrians and cyclists 
moving between Touchwood, 
Homer Road, and Princes Way.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
Situated between Homer Road and 
Touchwood Shopping Centre this 
development site includes the police 
station and the Core building, and 
potential capacity is based on these two 
sites combined. A key objective of the 
Masterplan is to promote appropriate 
sites for residential development 
with a view to increasing the resident 
population of the town centre, in order 
to diversify the town centre economy, 
particularly the “evening economy”. 
There is continued market interest in 
apartment building in Solihull town 
centre, with the location appealing 
both to young professionals and 

“downsizing” couples. The site occupies 
a location in good proximity to town 
centre amenities, and appeals as a 
residential development location.

The site has the potential 
to accommodate:

n Circa 200,000 sq ft office floorspace

n Circa 65 residential units

n 200,000 sqft. active ground floor use

DEVELOPMENT 
SITE: PRINCES WAY

THE VISION
The reconfiguration of space to 
the rear of existing offices to 
create new office developments 
that provides an impressive new 
frontage onto Princes Way which 
is an important arterial route in 
the town centre. At the heart of 
the design of the site would be 
an attractive new pedestrian 
and cycle boulevard connecting 
north to south that radically 
improves the permeability 
of the town and creates an 
attractive new streetscape.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
This site is located to the rear of 
existing office buildings on Homer Road, 
currently utilised for parking. A higher 
density form of office development is 
envisaged, with a frontage on to Princes 
Way and the capacity to accommodate 
Circa 100,000sqft high quality office 
development. Clearly, the current 
uses on the site all remain viable, and 
occupy land out of the control of Solihull 
Council, such that the redevelopment 
of this area as envisaged should be 
seen as a long term aspiration, and is 
unlikely to be promoted ahead of other 
office development sites detailed 
in the masterplan with shorter term 
delivery prospects, such as Westgate.

HOMER ROAD

HOMER ROAD

HOMER ROAD

PRINCE’S WAY

HOMER ROAD

PRINCE’S W
AY

Figure 6.22: Model View – Prince’s Way

Figure 6.23: Illustrative View – Prince’s Way

Figure 6.20: Model View – Indicative Homer Road Civic Buildings

Figure 6.21: Illustrative View – Homer Road Civic Buildings

P
age 53



50 51

6.8.4 AREA OF CHANGE

Northern 
Approach
THE OPPORTUNITY

Heavily dominated by traffic and large scale highway infrastructure, the Lode 
Lane / Warwick Road roundabout currently acts as a barrier to pedestrian and 
cycle movement. The distinct lack of direct frontage onto the street and relatively 
poor quality of surrounding buildings mean that this key arrival point into the 
town fails to match the attractiveness of the heart of the town centre.

Improvements to this area have the potential to enhance connectivity along the northern edge of the town with opportunities to 
create improved crossing facilities and greater provision for cyclists. A new landmark development fronting onto the roundabout 
could improve the attractiveness of this important arrival point and deliver attractive new urban living with associated parking 
provision. This new residential offer will have particular appeal to the retirement market and young professionals. A greater 
representation of these demographic groups will support the diversification of the evening economy in the town centre, as such 
groups appreciate and seek an increasingly broad range of good quality and convenient leisure and entertainment options.

ASSOCIATION WITH FRAMEWORK CONCEPTS

CONNECTIONS LIVING AND WORKING EXPERIENCE

Enhanced connectivity 
across Warwick Road

Improved pedestrian 
and cycle facilities 

Opportunity to diversify the town 
centre and provide sustainable 
urban living potentially alongside 
new car parking facilities. 

Enhance the northern arrival 
point unto the town through high 
quality new development.

*

TUDOR GRANGE PARK MALVERN PARK

Figure 6.24: Broad design principles and precedent image examples.

Figure 6.25: Location plan

 Railway Line

 Potential for landmark building

 Potential frontage

 Connections (Improved connections)

 Living & Working (Potential 
living and working)

 Experience (Impoved urban 
experience and placemaking)

P
age 54



52 53

DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITY: 
LODE LANE CAR PARK

THE VISION
The creation of an attractive, high quality new residential development that 
will increase the resident population of the town centre helping to diversify 
the town centre economy and particularly the evening economy. The 
development would provide an exciting new frontage onto this key junction 
and transform the public realm and surrounding green space to deliver a 
striking new streetscape at this important gateway into the town centre.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
The Lode Lane site is situated adjacent a major arterial route and junction and 
currently contains an underutilised Multi Storey Car Park which provides 486 
car parking spaces. The site also provides vehicular access to the existing 
adjacent uses including the Premier Inn Hotel. The car park is currently utilised 
by the hotel to provide guest parking. Interest in Lode Lane as a residential site is 
demonstrated by the recent completion of the Telephone Exchange development.

There is potential to redevelop this site to provide high quality new residential 
development, whilst retaining existing access to adjacent building uses including the 
Premier Inn Hotel, to accommodate circa 120 new apartments and 153 parking spaces

LODE LANE

LODE LANE

WARWICK ROAD

W
ARW

ICK ROAD

Lode Lane

Figure 6.27: Model View – Lode Lane Car Park Redevelopment

Figure 6.26: Model View – Lode Lane Car Park Redevelopment

P
age 55



54 55

6.8.5 AREA OF CHANGE

Heart of Solihull
THE OPPORTUNITY

Solihull benefits from a popular and successful retail core centred on Touchwood 
Shopping Centre, High Street and Mell Square. The masterplan will seek to re-
establish the High Street as a key component of Solihull’s retail heart.

Currently there is a distinct lack of quality evening offer and some of the existing public realm is tired and fails to reflect the 
ambitions of the town. The introduction of new mixed use development providing a greater variety of food and beverage uses, 
would boost Solihull’s evening economy, which could be further supported through the development of new higher density 
residential uses. There are also opportunities to enhance pedestrian and cycle connections through the town, using new 
development to reinforce and positively reflect main routes, particularly around St Alphege Church. Furthermore, an upgraded 
public realm along the High Street and at Mell Square will more appropriately reflect the historic character and quality of the 
town centre, and provide the opportunity to create a high quality destination space for residents, visitors and workers.

A strong emphasis will be placed on enhancing the existing retail core, by encouraging renewal though enhancing connectivity 
and encouraging mixed uses such as residential and leisure development. Any new notable retail development, aside from 
that already in the planning process, would be envisaged from reconfiguration of the existing underused sites.

Elements within the north east of the town centre are underutilised and fail to provide an attractive frontage along Warwick 
Road. In addition, the existing building formats hinder permeability and there is a lack of positive frontage onto many pedestrian 
routes. There is an exciting opportunity to further diversify the town and support the wider town centre’s envisaged new evening 
uses through the creation of a new residential quarter in the Heart of Solihull. We envisage the quarter may have particular 
appeal to the retirement market and young professionals. A greater representation of these demographic groups will support the 
diversification of the evening economy in the town centre, as such groups appreciate and seek an increasingly broad range of good 
quality and convenient leisure and entertainment options. This would provide new opportunities to consolidate and reconfigure 
existing car parking provision, and enable increased permeability from Mell Square through to the eastern edge of the town.

New development would also provide opportunities to improve frontage onto Warwick Road, enhancing the edge of the town and 
adding further vibrancy and variety into the town centre. Enhanced crossings across Warwick Road could improve pedestrian 
connectivity with the north of the town, whilst an upgraded public realm will assist in creating an attractive, outward facing Solihull.

ASSOCIATION WITH FRAMEWORK CONCEPTS

CONNECTIONS LIVING AND WORKING EXPERIENCE

Improve provision for cyclists.

Enhance connections through 
the town centre through 
additional wayfinding measures 
and a clear route hierarchy.

Increase the diversity of uses 
within the town centre.

Grow Solihull’s evening economy.

Introduce further sustainable urban 
living to support the town centre

Strengthen the identity and 
historic character of the town.

Create a vibrant and 
attractive destination.

Enhance streets and public realm 
and develop a clear hierarchy 
of routes to id legibility.

TOUCHWOOD

ST ALPHEGE CHURCH

MALVERN PARK

TUDOR GRANGE PARK

Figure 6.28: Broad design principles

Figure 6.29: Location plan

 Railway Line

 Potential for landmark building

 Potential frontage

 Connections (Improved connections)

 Living & Working (Potential 
living and working)

 Experience (Impoved urban 
experience and placemaking)

P
age 56



56 57

DEVELOPMENT SITE: MELL SQUARE

THE VISION
Creation of a vibrant mixed use destination at the heart of the town centre 
attracting visitors morning noon and night. Home to high quality retailers, 
restaurateurs, and independent businesses, set within the context of stunning 
high quality multi-functional public realm. An exceptional new residential offer 
will breathe new life into the area, drawing a new resident population, who 
will be drawn to and support the employment opportunities on the door step, 
the thriving leisure arts and culture offer, and bustling evening economy. 

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
Mell Square is located in the heart of the town centre, bounded to the north by the busy 
Warwick Road, the pedestrianised high street to the south, Drury Lane to the east and 
Poplar Road to the West. At the centre of the site is Mell Square itself, a hard landscaped 
pedestrianised space with a food and beverage venue in the middle. Current use of 
the site is predominantly retail, with a number of national high street names present. 
Development here is likely to seek to enhance the current retail offer by encouraging 
renewal, by bringing in new complementary uses to the area such as residential and 
more varied leisure offer, and is most likely to occur through the reconfiguration 
of existing underutilised sites.

The House of Fraser Building and Mell 
Square Car Park form the north eastern 
boundary of the site fronting Warwick 
Road, this prominent area of the site has 
the long term potential to accommodate 
large scale redevelopment for high 
density urban living. Providing attractive 
new frontage onto Warwick Road, 
new residential development will 
present an opportunity to enhance 
the existing public realm and tie in 
with future Mell Square proposals to 
improve pedestrian connectivity.

There are opportunities to bring forward 
the site in stages to align with when 
sites become available, however it will 
be important to ensure that the overall 
development has a common character 
and links together, and seeks to:

n Create a retail loop linking with 
Touchwood, High Street and 
Eastgate site, to complete 
the shopping experience;

n Create a legible and 
attractive environment for visitors from the scale and massing of buildings, 
to the detailing of the landscaping, street furniture and signage.

n improve frontage onto Warwick Road, enhancing the appearance of the edge 
of the town and improving permeability for pedestrians and cyclists

n Reduce traffic flow in order to prioritise pedestrians;

n Redesign the existing retail, leisure, food and beverage offer

n Increase the residential offer within the site (circa 500 new homes); and

n Redesign the public spaces to establish Mell Square as flexible space that 
is better utilised by visitors day to day, whilst also being capable of hosting 
a variety of public events that will add to the vibrancy of the site.

The success of Mell Square is vital to the success of the town centre as a 
whole. Definitive proposals or capacities for the site are not yet known, and 
over the coming months the council will be exploring the potential of the site in 
more detail, considering local, regional and national trends and drawing on best 
practice, to identify the preferred approach to development of this key site.

HIGH STREET

WARWICK ROAD

GEORGE ROAD

Figure 6.31: Model View – Indicative Mell SquareFigure 6.30: Illustrative View – Mell Square

P
age 57



58 59

DEVELOPMENT SITE: EASTGATE

THE VISION
Creation of a distinctive place, to house a mix of uses and create a vibrant and 
new quarter within the town. The site will be able to accommodate re-provisioned 
council offices, within a sustainable and high-quality spatial design that fits in 
with wider town centre development strategies. This will be an inclusive, safe 
and accessible development that supports health and wellbeing, and contributes 
towards stimulating town centre wide economic development. A development 
that connects seamlessly with the wider town centre through the provision 
of high-quality linkages, spaces, paths and other transport movements.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
Located in a prime town centre location adjacent to the Touchwood Shopping 
Centre, extending from Homer Road to the south up to and including the High Street 
at the northern end and Church Hill Road to the east, the site provides an exciting 
opportunity to provide a vibrant and new mixed-use destination that supports 
the living and working concept in a sustainable mixed-use development.

The site will include a brand-new civic building with high quality public spaces, new retail and 
leisure, arts and culture uses to connect the site with the existing town centre, and a new 
residential neighbourhood providing modern, sustainable homes in a town centre setting, 
to attract a new demographic of residential population, adding vibrancy to the scheme.

The draft masterplan for Eastgate includes:

n Civic Office Building – approximately 13,500 m²(c.145,000 ft²)

n Residential – up to 469 units

n Retail & Leisure – circa 2,043 m² (22,000 ft²) including a 650 m² (7,000 ft²) gym

n High Quality Public Spaces and permeable connectivity to the wider town centre

HIGH STREET

H
O

M
ER R

O
A

D

PRINCE’S WAY

Figure 6.32: Model View – Council Offices

P
age 58



60 61

6.8.6 AREA OF CHANGE

St Alphege 
Quarter
THE OPPORTUNITY

St Alphege Church is a key landmark and provides an attractive conclusion to the 
eastern end of the High Street. The quality of the surrounding historic buildings is 
representative of Solihull’s attractive heritage character, however the relatively tired 
public realm, and heavy traffic disappoint. In addition, the popular and attractive 
Malvern and Brueton Park is located just a short distance to the east; however the park 
is not promoted and the connection is not obvious for visitors to follow. Opportunities 
to provide attractive and sensitive new residential development here could improve 
frontages onto New Road and further diversify the town centre. Improvements in the 
public realm could prioritise pedestrians and cyclists, whilst also supporting the areas 
historic character. In addition, improved wayfinding and the introduction of new green 
infrastructure could actively link the town centre with Malvern and Brueton Park.

ASSOCIATION WITH FRAMEWORK CONCEPTS

CONNECTIONS LIVING AND WORKING EXPERIENCE

Improved provision on for cyclists.

Enhanced pedestrian 
connections along New Road.

Improved connectivity to 
Malvern and Brueton Park.

Opportunity to diversify the 
town centre and provide 
sustainable urban living.

Creation of positive frontage 
onto St Alphege Church.

Linking the town centre 
with public parks.

Strengthens the identity and 
historic character of the town.

ST ALPHEGE CHURCH

TUDOR GRANGE PARK

MALVERN PARK

Figure 6.33: Broad design principles and precedent image examples.

Figure 6.34: Location plan

 Railway Line

 Potential for landmark building

 Potential frontage

 Connections (Improved connections)

 Living & Working (Potential 
living and working)

 Experience (Impoved urban 
experience and placemaking)

P
age 59



62 63

DEVELOPMENT SITE: THE JOB CENTRE

THE VISION
Delivery of a new residential development fronting onto New Road providing 
an attractive entrance to the High Street, complemented by enhancements 
to the public realm in the area around St Alphege church known as The 
Square. Churchyard enhancements that encourage the public to use and 
enjoy the space; provision for informal ‘staying’ activities though the provision 
of seating and outdoor dining, and the creation of a self-enforcing 20 mph 
zone. This would provide an attractive environment linking this development 
site with the High Street, Eastgate and Malvern and Brueton parks.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
It is envisaged that medium density family housing could be developed 
on this site which sits sensitively within the existing context and provides 
similar typologies to those that already exist along New Road. The 
potential capacity and preferred use for the site are set out below:

n Up to 11 new homes;

n Accommodated on buildings up to two storeys in height; and

n Up to 28 on plot car parking spaces to serve the development.

NEW ROAD

NEW ROAD

NEW
 ROAD

Figure 6.36: Illustrative View – The Job Centre Site Plan view.Figure 6.35: Model View – The Job Centre Site showing 
indicative 3 storey town house redevelopment.

P
age 60



6564

6.9 SWOT REVIEW
The table below demonstrates how the interventions within the Areas 
of Change can respond and react to the strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats identified within Section 3.

STRENGTH AREA OF CHANGE 
RESPONSE WEAKNESSES AREA OF CHANGE 

RESPONSE

A high quality town 
rich in heritage.

St Alphege Quarter will look to strengthen 
the historic character of the town by 
improving the setting of St Alphege 
Church and the frontages onto New Road.

Lack of outward frontage resulting in an 
insular facing town, which fails to promote 
itself to people arriving in Solihull. 

Areas of change with frontages along the 
edges of the town provide opportunities 
to create new attractive frontage and 
an outward facing town centre.

Frontages associated 
with the main high street 
are relatively high quality 
and provide a varied and 
positive street frontage 
with numerous cafes 
and a varied built form 
which reflects the historic 
nature of the town.

The Heart of Solihull looks to enhance 
the public realm, encourage mixed uses 
and improve connectivity to further 
strengthen the High Street. Further food 
and beverages uses associated with Mell 
Square will added to existing positive 
frontages and provide attractive built form.

Solihull’s main gateways are currently 
characters by large scale infrastructure. 

Four key areas of Change are focused 
around the existing junctions and look 
to create new attractive frontage 
and improved pedestrian and cycle 
connections. New landmark buildings 
could be used to further strengthen 
Solihull’s identy and aid legibility.

Solihull town centre 
benefits from being in 
close proximity to tow 
large public parks namely 
Tudor Grange Park and 
Malvern and Brueton Park

The Southern Gateway aims to improve 
north south connections and will provide 
positive frontage onto Tudor Grange Park. 

Key arrival points for pedestrians and 
cyclists fail to convey the quality and 
vibrancy associated with Solihull. / 
Sustainable transport strategy 

Improvements to Solihull Station will 
improve arrival points for visitors / users 
and better reflect Solihull’s character. In 
addition the Areas of Change will look to 
improve connectivity and experience 
for pedestrians and cyclists.

Existing market 
reputations and high 
quality of living.

The train station feels remote from 
the centre, and has a relatively 
poor environmental quality. 

The improved connections in the 
short term will enhance routes from 
the station to the town centre

St Alphege Quarters will improve 
connectivity and pedestrian / cycle 
experience between the High Street 
and Malvern and Brueton Park

Frontages along the ring road are 
generally of a lower quality and 
do not overlook the street. 

Many areas of change include frontages 
along the edges of the town. This provides 
opportunities to create new attractive 
frontage which overlook the street. 

It is envisaged that the Areas of Change 
will together sustain Solihull’s enviable 
reputation and the introduction of new 
town city living will provide new high quality 
residential uses at the heart of the town.

There is very little green space within 
the town centre core and access to 
parks is at point poorly signposted.

The Southern Gateway and St Alphege 
Quarter will provide opportunities to 
provide improvements signage to the parks

The town is characterized by large single 
use areas which have little interaction. 

The areas of change will introduce new 
mixed uses into the town centre (offices, 
residential and leisure) adding further 
vibrancy broadening the current offer

Limited residential offer in the town centre.

There are opportunities to add new 
urban living into all Areas of Change with 
particular emphases on the Southern 
Gateway and Solihull Living areas

OPPORTUNITY AREA OF CHANGE 
RESPONSE THREATS AREA OF CHANGE RESPONSE

Train station has the 
opportunity to create 
a ‘front door’ to Solihull 
which demonstrates 
the inherent quality 
of the town.

Improvements to Solihull Train Station 
will improve arrival points for visitors 
/ users and better reflect Solihull’s 
character. It will also provide opportunity 
to plan for the future and encourage 
further usage of the train station.

Market considerations for 
demand and viability.

The areas of change are inherently flexible 
providing a framework for future changes. 
This flexibility will allow sites to come forward 
at different times which can respond to 
market demand yet still conform to and 
support the overall vision for Solihull.

Build on its reputation 
as an affluent town.

Further diversifying the town centre offer 
by introducing new leisure, office and 
residential uses will build on Solihull’s 
existing positive reputation and encourage 
greater use of the town centre.

Environmentally and socially 
responding to a changing demographic: 
elderly, youth and young families.

The Heart of Solihull will increase leisure uses 
within the town centre to create a destination 
for families and young professionals. The 
introduction of new urban living within the 
town centre will provide attractive new housing 
within easy reach of the town centre which 
could be an attractive proposition for the older 
generation as well as young professionals.

Build on Solihull’s 
Town Centre’s existing 
variety of public spaces 
which support a range 
of different functions.

New development within the Areas of 
Change provides opportunities to create 
new public spaces and improve existing 
ones. The Heart of Solihull in particular looks 
to provide a reconfigured Mell Square which 
as the potential to become a high quality 
public space and destination for events

Responding to the competitive nature 
of similar towns in wider context.

The Heart of Solihull looks to encourage a 
greater diversity of uses within the town 
centre and support the independent retail 
base strengthening Solihull’s identity. A 
number of areas of Change including the 
Heart of Solihull provide opportunities to 
introduce new urban living to support the 
growing commercial and leisure uses.

Improve accessibility 
to surrounding 
parks to encourage 
people to use them.

The Southern Gateway and St Alphege 
Quarter will provide opportunities 
to provide improved signage and 
connections to the parks

Responding to climate change 
and the push for sustainability.

The Areas of Change look to promote 
improved pedestrian and cycle connections 
to encourage greater sustainable travel 
reducing dependence on the car. This is 
of particular importance at the Western 
Gateway Business and Commercial 
Quarter and Southern Gateway . In addition 
improvement to the train station will 
encourage people to travel to Solihull by train.

Increase the residential 
offer in the town centre.

There are opportunities to add new urban 
living into all Areas of Change with particular 
emphasis on the Southern Gateway 
(6.10) and Solihull Living (6.14) areas.

Recognise the potential 
benefits which 
complementary mixed 
land uses provide.

The introduction of new urban living 
into the town centre will help support 
emerging food and beverage and comment 
uses (Mell Square) and provide new 
opportunities for sustainable working and 
living reducing the need to use the car. 

Support the wider 
Borough ambitions 
outlined by UK Central.

The redevelopment of the train station 
will help support the UK Central 
ambition of creating a principle 
gateway between the National Rail 
Network and Solihull Town Centre.

P
age 61



66 67

7 KEY STRATEGIES
7.1 LANDSCAPE AND PUBLIC REALM STRATEGY
The scale of change envisaged in the Solihull Town Centre Masterplan provides 
a unique opportunity to capitalise on these benefits and rectify existing 
issues, through the implementation of key public realm interventions. The 
plan opposite (Figure 7.1) illustrates where these interventions should be 
focussed and the table below sets out the type of space envisaged.

1 NEW STATION APPROACH
The redesigned station remains the 
key arrival point into Solihull and the 
design quality of it’s surrounding 
spaces will reflect its importance as 
a meeting point whilst responding to 
pedestrian, cyclist and public transport 
needs. Improved crossing facilities, 
wider pavements and a clear palette of 
materials and street furniture to simply 
the Station Approach streetscape. The 
existing public greenspace will provide 
areas for seating & planting and in the 
long term can be used by residents 
as a local amenity green space.

2 BLOSSOMFIELD 
ROAD ROUNDABOUT
The public realm around the junction 
should seek to aid pedestrian 
& cycle movement, making the 
route into the town centre clear 
and distinctive through the use of 
materials, tree planting & signage.

3 LODE LANE JUNCTION
The public realm around the junction 
should seek to aid pedestrian 
& cycle movement, making the 
route into the town centre clear 
and distinctive through the use of 
materials, tree planting & signage.

4HIGH STREET
The High Street will have a clear 
identity that is distinctive to 
Solihull. It will be enhanced with 
quality materials, clearly defined 
street furniture and public art with 
references to the heritage of Solihull

5 MELL SQUARE
A safe and vibrant ‘urban village’ 
which provides a multi-function open 
square. The square will incorporate 
new public art, green infrastructure, 
lighting and street furniture.

6 CHURCH SQUARE/ 
NEW ROAD
An integral historical element of the 
town centre, public realm reflects 
the historical qualities the area both 
in the use of materials and street 
furniture. Seating is positioned to 
enjoy views of the Church & street 
trees are used to provide green links 
with Malvern and Brueton Park.

7 CIVIC SQUARES
New civic squares to support active 
frontages, provide spaces for outdoor 
performance, activities, displays, 
highlighting civic pride and create 
placemaking. This would be reflected 
by street furniture & hard & soft 
landscaping. The squares would offer 
clear & improved links to the High 
Street & the East/ St Alphege Church.

8 JUBILEE GARDENS:
Jubilee Gardens will provide appropriate 
seating and create clear, direct 
routes across Homer Road. This will 
incorporate enhancement to this 
section of Homer Road to prioritise 
pedestrians and aid legibility.

9 THEATRE SQUARE:
Improved shelter to encourage outdoor 
performance and displays. This could 
involve new seating in sunnier parts 
of the square, improved access from 
the cafe and elements of play could 
be introduced into the public realm.

10 MONKSPATH HALL ROAD:
A new North – South link between 
the town centre and the new 
accommodation provides a clear 
& legible route for pedestrians 
and cyclists, encompassing small 
seating areas & clear signage.

These range from individual spaces, 
local green spaces, urban squares, and 
tree lined boulevards. Good urban design 
and green infrastructure adds value to a 
town by increasing the economic viability 
of development and by delivering 
social and environmental benefits:

“GREEN SPACE HAS 
NEVER BEEN MORE 
VALUED AND SHOULD 
BE AN ESSENTIAL 
PART OF ANY TOWN 
CENTRE PLAN 
AND DESIGN BRIEF” 
(GRIMSEY 2020)

Figure 7.1: Solihull Town Centre Masterplan – Landscape and Public Realm Strategy

 Potential links

 Public realm

 Landscape

1 2

3

4 5

6

7

89

10

P
age 62



68 69

DESIGN OBJECTIVES
The approach to the public realm and 
open space strategy is based upon the 
findings of the site appreciation analysis 
presented in section 3, and the Solihull 
Public Realm Framework (Phil Jones 
Associates, Feb 2014) which set out the 
following overarching design objectives:

n Legible – Improve legibility within 
the town centre by providing clear, 
signage and ensuring that streets and 
spaces have a clear hierarchy. The 
use of gateways and key nodes will 
be used to aid wayfinding and ensure 
that places have a clear identity;

n Distinctive – It will be important 
to create features which are 
distinctively Solihull, to ensure 
that the character of the town is 
preserved and to set the town apart 
from its competitors. This could 
include unique, unusual elements of 
street furniture / public art or even 
the layout of a space so that it can 
accommodate distinctive events;

n Flexible – The design of streets and 
spaces should be inherently flexible 
so that they can accommodate 
a variety of uses and respond 
to changing needs over time;

n Attractive – The public realm should 
be attractive both in the day and at 
night and respond positively to the 
surrounding uses. It should ensure 
that it reflects and enhances the 
historic character of Solihull and 
provides places for people to sit 
and enjoy their surroundings;

n Functional – Spaces and street 
furniture should also be functional 
both in terms of accessibility, 
usability, comfort and maintenance;

n Future Proof – The detailed design 
of the public realm will need to 
be mindful of the robustness of 
materials furniture that are chosen 
and ensure that elements can be 
easily replaced when required;

n Inclusive – The town centre is 
for everyone and therefore the 
design of the public realm must 
be inclusive both in terms of 
accessibility and also usability; and

n Safe – New development and the 
design of the public realm will need 
to ensure that the town centre feels 
safe and usable at all times of the 
day. The design of the streetscape 
will need to ensure that cyclists 
and pedestrians are prioritised and 
protected from vehicles, and also 
that streets and public spaces are 
active, well-lit and overlooked.

KEY INTERVENTIONS

A number of key areas have been identified for public realm enhancement based upon 
the preferred masterplan. As these areas come forward for development, further 
studies will need to be undertaken to develop detailed design proposals, however 
the overall design objectives should remain an integral part of this process.

MELL SQUARE
The streets and spaces within Mell 
Square should be comprehensively 
decluttered, and provide a main square 
which is lighter, greener, more attractive 
and multi-functional. The guiding 
principles behind the redevelopment of 
the square will look to create a safe and 
vibrant ‘urban village’ which ensures 
high quality design, improved access 
and signage and provides a safer, more 
secure feel. It is envisaged that this will 
include a flexible open square which can 
be used for a variety of events during 
the day and evening. In addition, new 
public art, lighting, street furniture and 
seating could be based around a central 
café to create a focus for activity.

HIGH STREET
As the principal route at the heart of 
the town centre, the High Street should 
be enhanced to reflect its status, 
with materials and street furniture 
of a suitably high quality to make 
the proposed street hierarchy clear. 
The streetscape could be improved 
by decluttering and framing views 
towards St Alphege Church, and by 
identifying clear areas for seating 
and market stalls which work together 
reducing potential conflict. In addition, 
there are opportunities to introduce 
public art and references to the 
heritage of Solihull to create a clear 
identity that is distinctly Solihull.

HOMER ROAD CIVIC 
BUILDINGS
Attractive public realm to create a 
meaningful and useful space for office 
workers and residents to relax, socialise, 
eat and meet , and that support the 
active ground floor use in the area

ECONOMIC BENEFITS
n Producing high returns on investments (good 

rental returns and enhanced capital values)

n Responding to occupier demands;

n Helping to deliver more lettable area;

n Attracting more visitors and users of the town centre;

n Reducing management, maintenance, energy and security costs;

n Contributing to more contented and productive workforces;

n Supporting the ‘life giving’ mixed-use elements in developments;

n Differentiating places and raising their prestige; and

n Attracting investment.

n Placemaking

SOCIAL & ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS
n Creating well connected, inclusive and accessible new places;

n Delivering missed-use environments with a 
broad range of facilities and amenities;

n Delivering development sensitive to its context;

n Enhancing the sense of safety and security;

n Boosting civic pride and enhancing civic image;

n Revitalising urban heritage;

n Improving people’s health and well being; and

n Street trees can help reduce the impact of the urban 
heat island effect and help improve air quality.

P
age 63



70 71

CHURCH SQUARE 
/ EASTGATE
The public realm around St Alphege 
Church is regarded as an integral 
historic element of the town centre 
and it is therefore essential that any 
alterations to it must take the historical 
and cultural significance of the town 
centre conservation area and church 
into consideration. Future public realm 
enhancements should reflect the 
historic qualities of the area both in the 
use of materials and street furniture and 
also in the envisaged function.  The new 
public realm around the Eastgate site 
should be sensitive to the neighbouring 
conservation area, and help to create a 
distinct place, that is safe, accessible 
and supports health and wellbeing.

STATION APPROACH
Quality of the public realm around the 
existing station has been improved 
recently in the form of improved 
crossing facilities, wider pavements and 
a clear palette of materials and street 
furniture which declutter and simplify 
the streetscape. There are further 
opportunities to enhance the existing 
public green space opposite the station, 
introducing areas for seating as well as 
landscaping. This could also improve the 
waiting environment for bus passengers 
and recognise that in the short and 
medium term, the station is an important 
arrival point into the town. In the 
longer term the green space would be 
reconfigured as part of the development 
of the Integrated Transport Hub.

LODE LANE / 
BLOSSOMFIELD 
ROAD JUNCTION
The scale and detailing of the roundabout 
Lode Lane / Blossomfield Road create 
significant barriers to movement. 
Improvement or modification to the 
roundabout is likely to be linked to 
proposals for Station Approach and 
should consider options to how the 
roundabout could be reduced in scale 
without loss of capacity, and the 
introduction of simple measures to 
widen and emphasise the continuity 
of the pedestrian route. As a key 
gateway into the town, the public realm 
around the junction should seek to 
aid pedestrian and cycle movement, 
making the route into the town centre 
clear and distinctive through the use of 
materials, tree planting and signage.

JUBILEE GARDENS
In order to take advantage of its 
location at the heart of the business and 
commercial quarter, Jubilee Gardens 
should look to provide greater seating 
opportunities and create clear, direct 
routes across Homer Road to the 
development to the south. This could 
include enhancement to this section 
of Homer Road to improve pedestrian 
priority and aid legibility of the north 
south connections into the town centre.

MONKSPATH HALL ROAD 
(NORTH-SOUTH LINK)
Over time it is envisaged that a new 
north south link will be created between 
the town centre and the Southern 
Gateway. It will provide a legible 
and distinct route for pedestrians 
and cyclists encompassing small 
seating areas, clear signage and 
should be fronted onto by new 
development to ensure that the 
route is safe and overlooked.

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY
The borough has an ambitious growth agenda, and Solihull town centre plays an important 
role in this agenda. It is vital that whilst striving to deliver the ambitions of the masterplan 
that we plan carefully to ensure that the potential negative impacts from growth are 
minimised and opportunities for delivering sustainable growth are maximised.

In October 2019 the Council unanimously agreed a Statement of Intent to protect the environment, committing to minimise the 
environmental impact of its own activities and to contribute to the improvement of the wider environment, through delivery of 
its Climate Change Prospectus. In the statement of Intent the council commits to a number of targets, most significantly:

n Aiming to become net carbon zero, as a Council, by 2030.

n Supporting the Combined Authority in its plan for a West Midlands target of net-zero emissions by 2041

The Council’s Climate Change Prospectus articulates Solihull’s low carbon vision – ensuring that through managed 
growth we are at the forefront of the UK’s transition to a low carbon economy. There are six important elements 
to the council’s vision, and a number of ways the Town Centre Masterplan can help to achieve it:

VISIONARY – “A DEMONSTRATOR 
OF NEW TRENDS AND 
OPPORTUNITIES, CHAMPIONING 
SUSTAINABILITY IN ALL ASPECTS 
OF DESIGN AND ACCESSIBILITY 
AND A COMMITMENT TO INVEST IN 
INNOVATION AND CLEAN GROWTH.”

P
age 64



72 73

VISION MASTERPLAN RESPONSE

A prosperous Borough with thriving, sustainable, low 
carbon economy which enables green growth, capitalising 
on the growing market for low carbon goods and services 
and attracting national and international investment.

The town centre is the economic and social hub of the borough, 
and development here should be an exemplar for the rest 
of the borough, demonstrating the adoption of cutting edge 
technology and practices and the most up to date thinking. 
Development in the town centre should seek to create a more 
resilient environment to the impact of a changing climate.

A smart low carbon borough with increased decentralise 
energy and low carbon generation with smart grids and smart 
meters to help control the supply and demand of energy

Solihull town centre will be the location of the boroughs 
first low carbon district heating network and lead the way 
for further networks to be delivered in areas of significant 
development and regeneration across the borough

A resource efficient Borough where natural resources 
are used efficiently. Where the emphasis is on moving 
waste treatment up the hierarchy – promoting waste 
reduction, recycling and circular production

The masterplan promotes high quality sustainable construction 
standards which includes issue of waste minimisation. 

An Accessible Borough with a rebalanced mode share that is less 
dependent on the car, here road space is used more effectively 
and streets are created for people and public transport

Redevelopment of Solihull train station, and delivery of highways 
and infrastructure interventions that encourage people to 
travel to the town centre by bike, foot and public transport.

A naturally healthy borough where nature is maintained 
and enhanced and the benefit of nature provided to society, 
our economic prosperity and our well-being is recognised, 
valued and taken into account in decision making

Introduction of more high quality bio diverse rich green 
space with into the town centre, and improvement in the 
connectivity of the town centre to surrounding parks and 
greenspaces such as Malvern park and Tudor grange park.

An engaged borough where all members of the community, 
from residents to schools and business are encouraged and 
enabled to play their part in creating a sustainable future.

The town centre is a place where residents and visitors from 
all over the borough come together, and it is an opportunity to 
provide examples of how people can make changes or behave 
differently to play their part in creating a sustainable future.

The Town Centre Masterplan and the development proposals set out within it should not jeopardise the council’s ability 
to meet its targets and objectives, and should seek to make a positive contribution to realising net zero. This means 
that Development where the Council has a major influence should demonstrate how the objectives and principles 
expressed in the Green Prospectus and other relevant corporate strategies and targets are being supported.

DISTRICT HEAT NETWORK
Solihull wants to establish district heating networks to support its transition to a low carbon economy and increase the 
amount of low and zero carbon energy used to heat and power buildings. Areas of regeneration and new development present 
a key opportunity for district heating and for this reason, Solihull has planning policy to support the creation and expansion 
of heat networks across the borough. Solihull Town centre has been identified as a key location for a heat network.

Heat networks provide efficient, low carbon and affordable heat to buildings and are at the heart of the Government’s 
strategy for decarbonising heating in the UK. Heat networks can support Building Regulations Part L compliance and 
replace or remove the requirement for some aspects of infrastructure investment, for example hot water pipe connections 
for heat supply may displace the need for gas infrastructure. A network might also supply power for public realm, 
electric vehicle charging and landlord-based demands and thereby displace some electrical investment costs.

Detailed technical work has defined the network opportunity with the Town Centre and a business case is being developed 
from which an investment decision will soon be made. The network aims to be live for heat connections by 2021.

The network is being designed in close collaboration with the Town Centre masterplan. The network is designed to 
facilitate network expansion over time and the initial phase of network development is futureproofed to allow additional 
heat supply. New developments will be encouraged to consider network connection in consultation with the Council or its 
appointed heat network operator. A suite of documents will be available to aid developers and their design team.

7.3 SAFETY AND 
SECURITY STRATEGY
Good streets and spaces not only 
look good but also make the people 
using them feel safe. Feeling safe 
and secure in a social public space 
can play a large role in an individual’s 
ability to function and feel good in that 
locality. In order to achieve this, the 
layout of new development and design 
of the public realm must ensure that:

n Streets and spaces are overlooked 
by the fronts of buildings so that 
there are ‘eyes on the street’ and 
people in the public realm feel safe;

n There is a mix of uses, so that 
spaces are active throughout 
different times of the day;

n Views along streets and through 
spaces unfold as pedestrians 
walk along, so that people can 
see what lies ahead of them;

n Where appropriate, vehicle speeds 
are kept low to provide a safer 
place for pedestrians and cyclists

n Streets and spaces are free of 
clutter that makes access difficult;

n Changes in level are carefully 
designed to provide access 
for all – e.g. steps and ramps 
integrated with one another; and

n Good management and maintenance 
of green spaces is obvious to users, 
helping to give a feeling of safety.

INTEGRATION OF COUNTER TERRORISM MEASURES
The UK currently faces a significant threat from international terrorism. Whilst there 
have been attacks against well protected targets around the world, experience shows 
that crowded places remain an attractive target for terrorists who have demonstrated 
that they are likely to target places which are easily accessible, regularly available and 
which offer the prospect for an impact beyond the loss of life alone (for example, serious 
disruption or a particular economic/political impact), such as a town centre environment.

As developments within the town centre masterplan come forward, a key challenge 
will be blending counter – terrorism protective security measures with urban design 
principles. Although there will need to be an overarching approach, it should be 
recognised that each site is different and there is no “one size fits all” solution. Different 
sites will present unique challenges and considerations that will result in bespoke 
solutions. Care should be taken to avoid an over-sensitivity to risk, which can result 
in bland and standardised places and design should instead find imaginative ways to 
integrate safety measures into the public realm which are appropriate to the risk.

Typical measures that help to deter, detect and delay a terrorist attack are 
provided within the document Protecting Crowded Places (HM Government, 
2014) and are grouped into five key counter-terrorism design principles:

n Better blast resistance – in the form of building materials and barriers;

n Better building management facilities – with regards to communication 
systems, entrance arrangements and building systems;

n Search and screening – providing sufficient space at the entrances of buildings 
/ spaces to enable screening of people and vehicles should it be required;

n Better traffic management and hostile vehicle mitigation measures – to 
reduce vehicle speeds and protect against unauthorised vehicle entry – a 
review of the access strategy to the Town Centre will also be required 
to control permitted access in a secure and robust way; and

n Better oversight – in the form of clear lines of sight around a building, 
uncluttered street , CCTV and security guarding to provide formal oversight, 
managed access points and ensuring buildings are overlooked.

“Designing-in” counterterrorism protective security measures from the 
outset will benefit those involved throughout the development process, from 
concept design through to planning approval, as well as those who will use and 
visit the places and buildings. These benefits will best be achieved through 
collaborative working and broad engagement with all parts of the community.

FEELING SAFE AND 
SECURE IN A SOCIAL 
PUBLIC SPACE CAN 
PLAY A LARGE ROLE 
IN AN INDIVIDUAL’S 
ABILITY TO FUNCTION 
AND FEEL GOOD

P
age 65



74 75

7.4 PARKING STRATEGY
The masterplan sets development proposals for nine sites across the 
town centre, and potential packages of walk, cycle, public transport and 
highways concept interventions have been identified in support of these, as 
set out in the access and movement section and to be developed further 
through the Access Strategy and Walking and Cycling Strategy.

Currently there is sufficient capacity in the town for parking demand on typical 
weekdays, weekends and also on peak days, however, delivery of the masterplan 
proposals in full would lead to a net reduction in parking capacity in the town centre.

If Solihull town centre is to move towards a position where less parking is 
provided the next policy decisions arise between how the parking provided 
is allocated. In particular the availability and location of short stay parking 
for those coming to the town to shop or do business is of importance.

If parking capacity is to be retained at its current level, or increased, then thought will need 
to be given to how the development sites proposed can provide additional car parking 
spaces, or whether alternative locations exist for intensified parking arrangements.

The following steps will be taken to develop a parking strategy that responds to the masterplan

1. Discussion with key stakeholders on the parking strategy options which 
could support the masterplan, specifically in terms of the quantity 
and the proximity to the town centre of parking capacity;

2. Calculate the expected loss in capacity, including PNR, arising from the 
preferred masterplan; the capacity known to be replaced and the additional 
demand arising from the developments allocated to each site;

3. Consider what parking policy choices may be implemented, including 
pricing to effect a reduction in parking demand (this should take into 
account the overarching policies emerging in the Access Strategy and 
Walking and Cycling Strategy, in respect of encouraging use of walk, cycle 
and public transport modes particularly for journeys to work);

4. Forecast parking demand for the preferred masterplan broken 
down by type of user (e.g. long stay commuter);

5. Establish whether there is a shortfall between the overall supply provided and 
the demand at a town wide level (disaggregating demand by user-type);

6. Examine options to provide the capacity required and identifying potential locations 
for this capacity along with management regimes, compatible with the town centre 
Masterplan and the Access Strategy policies. Options to be examined include:

a.  Performance Pricing: Which is based on adjusting the tariff paid to park based 
on expected demand to achieve the “ideal” 85-90% occupancy at all times. At 
times and locations where demand has historically been high, the price to park 
is increased, whereas where there is high availability, the price is reduced.

b. Re-Prioritisation: A direct policy to reduce use of central area parking for 
long stay and ensure that this space is available for short stay users.

c. Under provision of long-stay parking capacity for commuters could help to 
underpin the promotion of walk, cycle and public transport modes for the journey 
to work, having a direct impact on vehicular traffic levels in peak hours and 
the consequent positive impacts on the environment associated with that.

d. Maintaining capacity through the provision of long stay car parks more remote from 
the town centre (depending on availability/cost of land) may also support modal 
change in that accessing the town centre could involve a longer less convenient 
walk and in not reducing parking capacity it encourages choice rather than forcing it.

e. Park & Ride. It is important to note that few Park & Ride sites in the UK 
return a financial surplus and many have been closed or had their service 
curtailed in the last few years. Given the potential improvements to walk, 
cycle and public transport set out in Solihull Connected and this report, 
there appears limited scope or need to promote a dedicated Park& Ride 
within the context of Solihull. It should not be discarded as a potential 
solution, but its financial implications must be fully understood.

f. Parking Provision by New Developments: Retaining sufficient capacity for parking 
may be established by planning consent for new developments, potentially 
in combination with re-allocation for more general use of parking associated 
with existing development through agreement or formal acquisition.

7.5 HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 2019-22
The focus of the Council and the Health and Wellbeing Board is to create conditions for communities to thrive where everyone 
has an equal chance to be healthier, happier, safer and prosperous through growth that creates opportunities for all.

Health and wellbeing are largely determined by living conditions and wider social, economic and environmental factors. 
Many conditions such as obesity, heart disease, stress and mental health have been linked to the environments in which 
people live and work. For this reason, the Masterplan and the vision it sets for Solihull Town Centre and the growth and 
development that it promotes has the potential to make a real difference to people’s health and wellbeing.

The Health and Well Being Strategy 2019-22 identifies four priority areas where the biggest differences can be made. The table 
below set out those four priorities and considers how the Masterplan can support the aims and ambitions of the Strategy.

PRIORITY ONE:
Maternity, childhood 
and adolescence: A 
healthy start in life

The intention of this priority is to support parents, families and communities 
to make sure that all babies have the best possible start in life.

The masterplan supports this priority by promoting development in the town centre that 
provides a safe space for families. Spaces that are attractive, accessible, secure, and can 
accommodate the facilities and services that new parents, families and young children need.

PRIORITY TWO:
Adulthood and Work: 
Promoting health 
and wellbeing

Physical activity is known to have many benefits to people’s physical and mental health, and 
increasing physical activity at all ages is a key local priority. The Masterplan promotes this in 
various ways, by making it easier for people and therefore encouraging people, to access the 
town centre using sustainable modes such as by foot and by bike, and by improving the links 
and connections with the surrounding greenspaces such as Brueton and Malvern Park.

We know that housing and homelessness have a serious impact on people’s health and wellbeing, and 
the Masterplan proposes the development of over 1,100 new high quality new homes, in a sustainable 
location, but importantly new homes that are affordable and attainable and accessible to all.

Priority two recognises that the long-term routes to improving healthy life expectancy are 
through refocusing what we mean by a successful economy so that well-being and the factors 
that influence this such as the environment, jobs and skills and access to services are a key 
part of successful growth. Having a good job is good for people’s health, and the quality of the 
job and the working environment is key. The Masterplan identifies the capacity to deliver over 
50,000sqm of new office development, which has the potential to provide 1,000’s of new jobs. The 
Masterplan promotes development that provide modern working environments, in one of the most 
accessible locations in the borough, surrounded by a wealth of amenities employees expect, and 
public realm and open space that will contribute to creating a positive working environment.

AGEING AND 
LATER LIFE:
Ageing well and improving 
health and care services 
for older people

This priority promotes independence in later life, supporting people to live at home safely and 
independently and where possible remain at home for longer. The Masterplan identifies the 
capacity to deliver 1,100 new homes in the town centre. These new homes would be more 
affordable making the developments inclusive, attainable and attractive to a diverse population. 
Residential development will create a new resident community in the town centre that would 
benefit from the health services, retail, leisure, and cultural facilities the town centre has to offer.

The masterplan also promotes the importance of high quality, safe and secure public realm and open 
spaces, and excellent connectivity into and around town, which would help to make the town centre 
an attractive location for older generations to locate and remain living independently for longer.

ALL AGE: SOCIAL 
CONNECTEDNESS 
INTENT:
Enable people to 
increase their social 
wellbeing and improve 
social connectedness

It is well known that community networks have an impact on health and wellbeing and community 
spaces, commissioning of truly holistic services and ensuring there are safe places for people to 
spend time are vital. The Masterplan promotes development of the town centre into a place that 
is accessible to all, with mixed use areas where people of different ages, ethnic backgrounds 
and interests can come together to use the space in different but complementary ways.

Public realm improvements, the creation of open and shared spaces, events spaces, flexible spaces, 
and physical development that can accommodate a range of uses including health and community 
use will ensure the town centre is a place that promotes and enables social connectedness.

A Fair treatment Assessment (FTA) has been completed to ensure that the masterplan which is approved does not intentionally 
or unintentionally cause unlawful discrimination, harassment or victimisation of town centre users. It will ensure that where 
possible the masterplan advances equality of opportunity between users of the town centre who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not; and fosters good relations between users who share a characteristic and those who do not.

The FTA identifies a number of positive impacts on different groups of people as a result of the Masterplan proposals, as well 
as potential negative impacts that need to be avoided. Fair Treatment Assessments will need to be carried out for each of the 
projects and interventions identified in the masterplan as they are progressed and brought forward for development.

P
age 66



7776

8. Phasing
The scale of the changes envisaged for Solihull Town 
Centre Masterplan will inevitably take some time to realise. 
The phasing plan (Figure 8.1) and associated commentary 
describe an approach that has been informed by land 
ownership, predicted longevity of existing uses and 
market conditions. It is anticipated that the masterplan 
could be brought forward in the following way:

Short Term (0-5 years)

Medium Term (5-10 years)

Long Term (10+ years)

9 Conclusion
Solihull Town Centre is a thriving, vibrant and attractive place, the civic heart and 
crucially important to economic and social well-being. Aspirations for managed growth 
as one of the UK Central centres, provides opportunities to secure Solihull’s place 
in the face of regional competition and to be a visionary leader for the future. Such 
growth will bring issues, opportunities and challenges and will need to be carefully 
managed to ensure that the growth is positive. The masterplan provides a flexible 
framework that will enable future development and investment to respond and react 
to changing conditions. It will also ensure that as sites are developed independently, 
over different time periods, there will remain an overarching framework which 
ensures that overall the town centre is developed in a cohesive and integrated way.

KEY FRAMEWORK PRINCIPLES
A key objective of the masterplan has been to develop a framework that will form the foundation of a sustainable town centre that is 
an excellent place to live, work and play. Its successful implementation will require sustained and co-ordinated commitment from not 
just SMBC but also partner agencies, key stakeholders and the local community. A summary of the principal masterplan components 
is provided in the illustrative plan opposite (Figure 9.1). This plan embeds the following overarching place making principles:

SOLIHULL – A THRIVING, 
PREMIER TOWN CENTRE AND 
A VIBRANT DESTINATION AT THE 
FOREFRONT OF VISIONARY DESIGN, 
SUSTAINABILITY AND INNOVATION.’

 Long Term (10-20 years)

 Medium Term (5-10 years)

 Short Term (0-5 years)

Figure 8.1: Solihull Town Centre Masterplan – phasing Plan

P
age 67



78 79

CONNECTIONS
n Promote pedestrian and cycle 

connections throughout the town 
centre, and into the surrounding 
neighbourhoods by enhancing, 
extending and linking routes.

n Emphasis on creation of a 
hierarchy of pedestrian friendly, 
pedestrian priority and genuine 
shared surface streets/routes

n Easily accessible public 
transport through improved links 
between the major transport 
hubs and the wider area.

SAFETY
n Careful consideration to the 

layout and orientation of buildings 
to provide natural surveillance 
to public routes and spaces.

n Equally the public realm layout 
should avoid nooks and crannies, 
and have clear lines of sight. 
Narrow streets should have 
furniture lines to enable this.

n Use of active ground floors at key 
nodes and along key routes.

n Management and maintenance 
should be kept to a high standard 
to encourage respectfulness, civic 
pride and to deal with vandalism. 
Appropriate use of CCTV to enhance 
safety without infringing on privacy.

n Suitable lighting along key routes 
and public spaces – specifically 
the use of white light.

VIEWS AND LEGIBILITY
n Visual connection between key 

routes and new public realm.

n Selected glimpses into semi-
private courtyards Gateway 
features/buildings at key 
locations Clear street hierarchy 
to assist legibility/wayfinding

n Wayfinding strategy to form 
part of the town wide plan

PUBLIC REALM
n Creation of significant new public 

spaces such as the refurbished Mell 
Square and Theatre Square, but also 
in the form of amenity green space.

n Attractive new pedestrian 
routes taking advantage of the 
adjacent parkland setting.

n Enhancement and refurbishment of 
existing footpaths and towpaths

INNOVATION AND 
SUSTAINABILITY
n Promotion of sustainable 

living through environmentally 
friendly buildings and 
landscape where possible.

n Utilisation of sustainable 
technologies and thinking, current 
at the time of development.

n Promotion of sustainable transport, 
including convenient access to public 
transport and provision of local 
amenities within walking distance.

COMMUNITY
n Mix of residential types and building 

uses located around usable public 
realm, semi-private courtyards 
and private garden spaces.

n Opportunities for living, working 
and recreation Location of a 
variety of play opportunities 
close to and integrated into 
main pedestrian routes.

n Interpretative signage interventions 
to be developed through a 
curatorial project in partnership 
with community stakeholders.

Figure 9.1: Model View – Solihull Town Centre 

 Green Infrastructure
 Mixed Use
 Office
 Commercial
 Civic
 Car Parking/ Private Open Space
 Medium Density Residential
 High Density Residential Apartments
 Train Station
 Urban Realm
 Plot Areas
 Public Realm Upgrades
 Multi-Storey Car Park

P
age 68



8180

Figure 9.2 Solihull Town Centre key masterplan objectives

1 2
4

3
5

68

7
10

9
11

12

 Green Infrastructure
 Mixed Use
 Office
 Commercial
 Civic
 Car Parking/ Private Open Space
 Medium Density Residential
 High Density Residential Apartments
 Train Station
 Urban Realm
 Plot Areas
 Public Realm Upgrades
 Multi-Storey Car Park

SUMMARY OF KEY INTERVENTIONS

1 Redevelopment of Solihull Station to create a modern Integrated Transport 
Hub, to include upgrades to the public realm and green space surrounding 
the station and create a high quality gateway into the town centre

2 Traffic management interventions and enhancements to the public realm 
around Blossomfield Road Roundabout, including improvements to the 
pedestrian and cycle connectivity between the town centre and the station

3 Grade A town centre office development to provide an attractive new 
gateway to the town centres Commercial and Business Quarter

4 High quality new residential development to provide an attractive frontage 
onto Lode Lane incorporating enhancements to the public realm 

5 Redevelopment of Mell Square to create a truly diverse mixed use space. 
Offering the optimal balance of residential, leisure and commercial use 
tied together by a high quality public realm scheme, to create an attractive, 
vibrant, and modern destination in the heart of the town centre

6 Primly located medium density family housing providing 
attractive frontage onto New Road

7 Brand-new civic building with high quality public spaces, new retail and leisure uses to connect the site with 
the existing town centre, and a new residential neighbourhood providing modern, sustainable homes in a town 
centre setting, to attract a new demographic of residential population, adding vibrancy to the scheme.

8 New mixed use building comprising of retail units and high quality office accommodation

9 New apartments to provide modern attractive accommodation that will appeal to the 
growing employee base who want to live and work in the town centre

10 New office development fronting onto Princes Way, creating an active frontage 
along Princes way and a high quality gateway into the town centre.

11 An attractive new north-south pedestrian and cycle link between the southern gateway of the town 
including the Monkspath Hall Road site, and the commercial quarter and heart of the town centre

12 Prime development site on a key gateway with size, setting and location to offer flexibility for a 
wide range of development uses including residential, commercial, leisure or education.

P
age 69



8382

NEXT STEPS

The Solihull Town Centre Masterplan was 
created through an extensive process of 
consultation with both stakeholders and the 
public, with emphasis placed on delivering an 
aspirational place which retains the inherent 
character of Solihull but can meet the needs 
of the future community. The goal is to 
attract investment and improve the quality 
of life for the people who will, one day, live 
and work there and positively contribute 
to the cities economics, cultural and social 
well-being and providing long term job 
prospects and brighter futures for everyone.

SMBC is currently in the process of carrying out a 
local plan review for which the Solihull Town Centre 
Masterplan will form part of the evidence base.

RECOMMENDATIONS OF FURTHER WORK
1. It is recommended that the Solihull Parking Allocation Model 

be used to support the emerging masterplan in terms of a 
supporting parking strategy which establishes the quantum, 
location, cost and management of car parking in the town centre;

2. Investigate the impact of the masterplan using the 
traffic model and develop a mitigation strategy 
and comprehensive car parking strategy.

3. Produce a delivery plan that considers in more detail the 
phasing of the development proposed in the Masterplan 
and identifies appropriate development approaches.

P
age 70



UKC Central
Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Manor Square
Solihull
B91 3QB

www.investinukcentral.com

This document is confidential and 
the copyright of Solihull UK Central. 
Any unauthorised reproduction or 
usage by any person other than the 
addressee is strictly prohibited.

Solihull MBC Licence Nº 100023139
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown 
Copyright and database right 2016

Aerial Images © 2015 Google Inc, 
used with permission. Google and 
the Google logo are registered 
trademarks of Google Inc.

Graphic Design roomfordesign.co.uk

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B Areas of Change 

2016 Areas of Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 Areas of Change 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C Illustrative Masterplan 

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Meeting date: 5th November 2020 

 

Report to: Full Cabinet  

Subject/report 
title: 

Smarter Ways of Working Strategy 

Report from: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Samantha Gilbert, Assistant Director of Finance and Property 
Services and Paul Langham, Assistant Director of Business Systems 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

  

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To request Cabinet to approve an allocation from the Budget Strategy Reserve and 
budget adjustments to support proposals to reset the organisation following the COVID-
19 pandemic.  

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Cabinet is asked to approve: 

2.2 An allocation of £332,000 from the Budget Strategy Reserve for the costs of chairs and 
equipment to support home working. 

2.3 That subject to the approval of the final updated Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) by Full Council in early 2021, an additional on-going £490,000 be included in 
the MTFS update for 2021/22 and 2022/23 for ICT costs, with the costs being fully offset 
by savings by 2023/24.    

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 Following the COVID-19 Pandemic and its impact on work, the Wider Corporate 
Leadership Team has developed an approach to reset the organisation through a 
Recovery and Reset Plan.  

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

3.2 The Plan recognises the interdependency between our service recovery and our 
people, facilities and technology.  These are the key pillars of a proposed Smarter Ways 
of Working Strategy. The Strategy maps out an approach to allow us to focus on the 
opportunity to reset and reimagine the organisation by challenging the status quo, 
enabling us to continue to be a high performing, forward-thinking, innovative 
organisation that delivers what residents need whilst ensuring that our employees are 
happy, safe and productive. This is reflected in option 2 in this report (section 4.3). 

3.3 Since March 2020, where the job role allows, employees have been working from home.  
A survey of all employees has recently been conducted to find out how staff are feeling 
and working during the pandemic, as well as how working may look in the future. There 
were 1,730 responses and over 9,000 sets of individual comments. All of the feedback 
has enabled the Wider Corporate Leadership Team to start considering the recovery 
phase and inform the way we might reset the organisation to retain the positive benefits 
from this different way of working. Key highlights from the employee survey report were: 

3.3.1 95% of employee survey respondents have enjoyed working from home.  Key evidence 
from the survey confirms that the majority have a better work-life balance, feel more 
productive, and have better connections with family due to time saved not travelling.  
Also many highlighted values that correlate to the Council Plan, such as a reduction in 
carbon emissions, people looking after their own wellbeing much more than before 
Covid restrictions were put into place, eating healthier and exercising much more 
regularly. 

3.3.2 Some of the challenges presented relate to caring for others, such as elderly relatives 
or children who were not at school.   

3.3.3 There was an overwhelming response about the need for video conferencing and 
wanting to connect with colleagues and having the right equipment to use whilst at 
home. 

3.3.4 Many have never tried home working before and confirmed that working from home for 
a good proportion of their working week would enable them to maintain a healthier 
lifestyle and therefore improve their overall wellbeing, a factor that will always contribute 
to more motivated and productive employees and reduced sickness absence and 
associated workforce costs.  There is a clear expectation from employees that home-
working will become a permanent feature of how we deliver services in the future. 

3.4 Some key statistics are: 

 Sickness - The absence rate for the last year (ending 31 August 2020) is 9.64 
days, a reduction of 0.31 days compared to the previous 12 months.  The 
average monthly sickness rate for the Council for the 18 months to 31 March 
2020 was 0.8 days per full time equivalent (FTE). Since April 2020 and up to 
August, the average figure is 0.6 days per FTE, a reduction of 25%. There is a 
continuing trend across all Directorates of a fall in sickness absence rates, with 
the exception of Adult Care and Support where the monthly figure is consistently 
about 1.2 days per FTE.  

 Staff Turnover and Recruitment – At the start of the lockdown period, turnover 
for the Council was 14.6%.  For the year to 31st August, which includes 5 months 

Page 78



 

 
 

where there has been a requirement to work from home wherever possible, there 
has been a significant reduction in leavers, with the rate being 11.5%.  This 
financial year, we have processed 198 job vacancies and to date, made 154 
appointments.  The recruitment process has mainly been managed remotely 
including conducting virtual interviews and employment checks.  

 Complaints – Compared to the same period for last financial year, year to date 
corporate complaints have decreased from 424 to 345, adults complaints have 
decreased from 33 to 16 and children’s complaints from 70 to 34.  

 Improvements in Productivity – For example, within the Social Work and 
Occupational Therapy teams, staff productivity has improved since the teams 
began working remotely.  Waiting lists have reduced dramatically, for example 
within the Community Social Work team the number people awaiting an 
assessment was 139 during October 2019 and by June 2020 was down to only 
2.  There has been a notable increase in the overall number of assessments 
completed; during the six month period July to December 2019, 1,381 
assessments were completed, however during January – June 2020 the number 
completed was significantly higher at 2,394.  The team’s attribute the increase in 
productivity to a reduction in wasted time due to not commuting to office bases 
and improved use of digital solutions which have saved time whilst still enabling 
teams to communicate effectively. Opportunities to develop practice to support 
this approach have been realised through the embedding of practice guidance 
regarding alternative methods of contact with service users. 

 Travel costs – Between April and August 2020, employee travel costs reduced 
by £149,000.  In Adult Care and Support, the average total monthly mileage in 
2019/20 was 14,728.  In the current financial year, the average monthly mileage 
is 9,686.  

 Carbon management – An on-going lower usage of corporate office 
accommodation could save in the order of 300 tonnes of carbon emissions per 
annum and an on-going reduction in officer travel could save around 100 tonnes 
per annum.  There would also be significant reductions from reduced travel to 
and from work.  These benefits would be partly offset by increased energy 
consumption whilst employees are working from home.    

3.5 The proposed Smarter Ways of Working Strategy will support our employees to 
continue to work in a safe, happy and productive way. It will enable us to reimagine life 
at work, workspaces and working practices of the future that look beyond our current 
boundaries with the aim of ensuring first class service delivery.  

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 There are three options that have been considered with each option having a different 
impact on the key pillars of the Smarter Ways of Working Strategy, namely Technology, 
Facilities and People. These three options are set out below. 

4.2 Strategic Option 1: Home based working by default 

Page 79



 

 
 

4.2.1 People would, wherever the role allows be home based workers, the vast majority of 
meetings would be held online, and very little office accommodation would be required. 

4.2.2 This would fully embrace flexible working and reflect that our recent staff survey 
indicated that most people are happy to home work. This option would provide the 
opportunity to make savings and generate income for the Council by reducing the size 
of the estate used for Council purposes and lease surplus office accommodation on the 
open market. This would also reduce our carbon footprint.  

4.2.3 This could provide a positive impact on recruitment and retention of staff as their home 
location could be anywhere in the country. 

4.2.4 This option does not recognise the preferred working styles of some employees, their 
personal circumstances including health and safety considerations or operational 
needs.    

4.2.5 The loss of staff coming into our office locations would have an economic impact on the 
areas where buildings are located, including our town centres.  

4.2.6 Managers and staff will require support and investment to help them with the cultural 
shift with training and upskilling to support a new way of working. 

Technology Everyone has a council laptop/smartphone and other equipment 
they need for home working, such as a desktop monitor, DSE 
compliant chair and desk, with a minimal number of docking 
stations in the workplace. This would enable health and safety 
requirements to be met and ensure staff are set-up properly to 
use display screen equipment effectively and safely. 

Facilities A reduced need for workspaces and a small centre for people to 
occasionally come together.  

People Little personal choice, reduces team collaboration and problem 
solving opportunities in support of improved service delivery. 
Impact on mental health and isolation for some colleagues and 
would need to re-negotiate contracts of employment. The 
Council will have a shared responsibility with individuals to 
ensure their homes comply with Health & Safety requirements 
for carrying out work-related activities. Consideration of specific 
health/medical needs of staff would also need to be taken into 
account. 

 

4.3 Strategic Option 2 (preferred): Blended working arrangements (combined home 
and collaborative workspaces model) 

4.3.1 This option would enable homeworking based on the diverse needs of services and 

 also takes into account the personal preferences and circumstances of our employees. 

 The flexibility of this approach will provide an opportunity for employees to have a 

 healthy work/life balance for instance by reducing travel to and from work.  

Page 80



 

 
 

  

4.3.2 The facilities and digital strategies for our premises and IT infrastructure would be based 
upon a 40% occupancy model. This will allow the premises that are retained to be 
reconfigured to collaborative workspaces that will enable the creation of collaborative 
locations where people can come together in the achievement of ‘key things to do’ for 
our residents and employees, to see, meet and support each other, maintaining and 
strengthening team and organisational identity, making us stand out as an employer of 
choice and attracting talent through our progressive working practices and culture.  

4.3.3 The rationalisation of assets will also support the opportunity to reduce our estate 
footprint and contribute to the Council commitment to reduce our carbon footprint.  

4.3.4 The provision of a number of high quality reconfigured and collaborative workspaces 
will ensure a continued presence in Town Centres, benefitting the local economy.  

4.3.5 The blended working model would require an increase in spend on our IT infrastructure 
and hardware. Managers and staff will require support and investment to help them with 
the cultural shift, and the development of their knowledge and skills in order to realise 
a new, smarter way of working.  

Technology Everyone has a council laptop/smartphone and equipment they 
need for home working, such as a desktop monitor (if needed) 
and DSE compliant chair, with docking stations in the workplace. 
Other equipment including a desk would also be considered 
following the completion of a suitable and sufficient display 
screen equipment/home working assessment. This would 
enable health and safety requirements to be met and ensure 
staff are set-up properly to use display screen equipment 
effectively and safely. 

Facilities Workspaces where people come together to collaborate, 
learning zones and spaces for ‘touch down’.  

People Accommodates personal choice, circumstances and H&S 
matters (home and in the workplace).  

 

4.4 Strategic Option 3: Return to previous working approach 

4.4.1 In essence this would be a return to how we worked as an organisation before Covid-
19.  This would mean most people being in a workspace for the majority of the time and 
limited home working opportunities, functionality and equipment. 

4.4.2 This option requires minimal spend because as an organisation we would revert back 
to our original strategies pre-COVID. It will have a positive impact on the economy of 
the borough by reintroducing staff back into workspaces. However, this option would 
need to be considered carefully in light of the current coronavirus situation and the 
restrictions in place locally. Bringing staff back into the workplace provides a risk and 
further work would need to be carried out to ensure that the workplace can be made 

Page 81



 

 
 

Covid-19 secure, to ensure the health and safety of staff working there. Numbers of 
staff and capacity of the buildings would need to be assessed further to facilitate a full 
return to work approach. 

4.4.3 By adopting this option we will not realise the opportunities that have been presented 
to us and embrace Smarter Ways of working. We would not be reflecting the 
overwhelming evidence from our employees that confirms, for the majority, a blended 
working approach is how they see our organisation of the future, as an employer of 
choice.    

4.4.4 The opportunity to rationalise assets and achieve additional reductions in our Carbon 
 Footprint will not be realised, impacting upon estate and asset costs, efficiencies and 
 income generation. 

Technology Less impact on the Council’s current digital strategy as changes 
would continue as originally planned. 

Facilities Workspaces would need a 7:10 ratio. Some meeting rooms 
available for work meetings, or training. 

People The majority of people would work in an office based 
environment most of the time.  

  

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 As outlined above, it is recommended that option 2 is adopted as it has the potential to 
fundamentally change the way we work and deliver improved services with greater 
productivity, whilst meeting the needs and preferences of the wider workforce. 
Furthermore, this approach will have positive environmental benefits with the potential 
for reducing our carbon footprint whilst maintaining a staff presence in the borough, 
which will contribute to the local economy. 

5.2 This option would require that all staff are provided with a laptop, mouse, keyboard and 
monitor at home (if wanted). Other equipment including items such as a DSE compliant 
chair or a desk would also be considered following the completion of a suitable and 
sufficient display screen equipment/home working assessment. This would enable 
health and safety requirements to be met and ensure staff are set-up properly to use 
display screen equipment effectively and safely. The desktop devices in the office would 
be replaced by dynadocks, monitor, keyboard and a mouse.  Citrix would be retained 
for a period to provide access to core systems.  New device builds will provide access 
to MS-Teams and other Video Conferencing software. The blended working option will 
allow us to completely reimagine how and where we work. Flexible ways of working 
brings the opportunity to alter our facilities, accelerate the Corporate Approach to 
Delivering an Asset Masterplan and reduce the number of assets, therefore realising 
income generation and asset efficiency.  

  

Page 82



 

 
 

5.3 The focus can move to providing less but more high-quality collaborative workspaces 
that focus around meaningful interaction around key work priorities with colleagues and 
external organisations. Reduced staffing levels at the Council House will provide the 
space to develop learning zones and share workspaces with suitable partners such as 
WM Police.  

5.4 How a working environment is configured can drive behaviours in many different ways. 
A more flexible, responsive and collaborative workspace mirrors the behaviours 
required that enable us to deliver excellent services to our residents.  Hubs for 
innovation rather than maintaining a traditional workspace.   

5.5 In order to align our internal working practices and behavioural aspirations, a significant 
number of HR policies will need to be reviewed and revised. A Learning and 
Organisational Development plan will also be established to support the knowledge, 
skills and behaviours required to enable short, medium and longer term cultural and 
practical transformation. 

5.6 The impact on escalating our digital strategy, to be delivered in a shorter timescale will 
also require investment as well as an increase in on-going support. 

5.7 This option does provide an opportunity to review our office accommodation and 
 rationalise the space required for Council services, providing the potential to offset some 
 of the costs in the future. 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local centres. 
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the 

opportunities of HS2. 
3. Increase the supply of housing, 

especially affordable and social housing. 

The proposed blended approach (option 2) 
means that there will be footfall from 
Council staff in our town centres. 

The rationalisation of Council 
accommodation will make development 
sites available for other uses.   

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment. 
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

By rationalising our asset base we can 
accelerate a reduction in our Carbon 
Footprint.  

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances in 
our most disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable provision 

for adults & children with complex needs. 

The proposals should help to contribute to 
strong service delivery in these areas.  

Page 83

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Ourvisionandpriorities/Council_plan.pdf


 

 
 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 Feedback from the staff survey and managers on their experience of working through 
COVID has informed the development of this strategy.  

6.2.2 The preferred option contained within this report is recommended by the Corporate 
Leadership Team.  

6.2.3 This report was considered by the Resources & Delivering Value Scrutiny Board on 12th 
October 2020.  The Scrutiny Board supported option 2, the blended approach.  
Comments from the Board are attached to this report.  

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 The costs to implement option 2, the blended approach are estimated as: 

 Annual costs for capital financing of additional ICT equipment, plus costs of 
additional ICT staff to support and build devices and to support remote working 
- £490,000 per annum. 

 One-off costs for DSE chairs and equipment to support home working – One-
off costs of £332,000.  

6.3.2 There will be the opportunity to capture cost savings in numerous areas including 
significant savings in accommodation costs, printing, stationary, mileage and expenses. 

6.3.3 In addition, from April 2023, there will be savings of around £240,000 per annum from 
the removal of Citrix. 

6.3.4  Cabinet is asked to approve a one-off allocation of £332,000 from the Budget 
 Strategy Reserve for the costs of DSE chairs and equipment and to include an 
 additional on-going £490,000 in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) update 
 for 2021/22 and 2022/23 for the ICT costs.  It is proposed that, by 2023/24 the MTFS 
 assumes that this additional cost is covered by £240,000 from the Citrix saving and 
 target savings of £250,000 per annum from the areas outlined in 6.3.2 above.    

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 In the event of option 2 being adopted, all legal implications including Health and Safety 
at work will be addressed.  

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 This will be a major project for the Council to implement and as such a risk register will 
be developed for this project.  

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 Equality considerations will be covered in all policy changes linked to the proposals 
within this report.  

Page 84



 

 
 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Comments from Resources & Delivering Value Scrutiny Board 12th October 2020.  

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 None 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Appendix 1 

 

Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board Meeting  

 Monday, 12th October 2020 

Smarter Ways of Working Strategy 

 

The following matters were raised by Members of the Resources and Delivering 

Value Scrutiny Board whilst scrutinising the Smarter Ways of Working Strategy 

report at the Board meeting held on 12th October 2020. 

The following is an extract from the Minutes arising: 

Having received an introduction to the report from the Assistant Director (Finance 

and Property Services), Members of the Scrutiny Board raised a series of related 

questions, which in summary included the following: 

Councillor Dicicco queried what system was scheduled to replace Citrix and how 

would the subsequent anticipated savings be made.  The Scrutiny Board was 

advised that Citrix was currently used to deliver office based desktop functions and 

remote working solutions and was scheduled to be replaced by Microsoft 365 

package.  Savings would be released through no longer paying the Citrix license 

costs, with the license arrangements ending in 2023.  Citrix licensing costs currently 

stood at £240,000 per annum, which post 2023 end through the introduction of 

Microsoft 365 corporately.  

With regard to Council meeting arrangements, Members questioned whether any 

thought had been given to future arrangements and how such meetings would be 

delivered and what potential existed for fiscal savings to be made in this area. The 

Scrutiny Board was advised by the Assistant Director (Business Systems) that 

support arrangements for future meetings was being considered, but that no decision 

had been made as yet specific to Council Meetings.  Members were advised that 

technology existed to support formal meetings in a number of ways remotely and 

that future planned technology upgrades would improve such arrangements still 

further. The future solution in the shape of Microsoft Office 365 will provide a number 

of options going forward to support meetings and will be a matter for future 

discussions with Members.   

Councillor Groom noted of the 3 options outlined in the report supporting Smarter 

Ways of Working, one option appeared to already have a framework in place and the 

means to deliver the proposals quickly, namely the preferred Strategic Option 2 

Blended Working Arrangements (combined home and collaborative workspaces 

model).  Councillor Groom stated, however, that he would have liked to have seen 

included within the report examples of different office occupancy models (beyond the 

40% occupancy rate figure) included in the options under being consideration.  

Councillor Groom expressed concern at the 40% occupancy rate, referencing Best 

Practise being 8/13 ratio to allow for sufficient occupancy at peak times, which would 

Page 87



 

2 
 

equate to approximately 60% occupancy.  Councillor Groom queried how the 40% 

figure was arrived at and whether scope exited for the figure to be adjusted as the 

Council moved forward to a more agile working environment.  Councillor Groom 

expressed concern that taking forward the 40% model may be implementing a model 

that did not work for employees going forward.   

The Assistant Director (Finance & Property Services) advised Members that of the 

options put forward, the ‘blended’ option could be seen as falling somewhere in the 

middle between the extremes of the other two Strategic Options detailed in the 

report.  Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Council was already working towards 

delivering a 7/10 ratio occupancy.  The evidence available suggested that many 

organisations were going far more extreme in their occupancy levels i.e. less than 

40% occupancy. 40% was seen to be a reasonable balance given the Council’s 

experiences to date and an achievable milestone in the first instance. Although 40% 

equated to employees being office based twice per week, it was acknowledged that 

some staff would enter the office more frequently, whilst other less so.   

The Assistant Director (Business Systems) reiterated that 70% occupancy was the 

Council’s current occupancy and moving towards a 40% occupancy rate was felt to 

be a reasonable figure to achieve based on the findings of the recent employee 

survey addressing flexible working arrangements.   

With reference within the report to conducting a home working assessment before 

providing equipment for home working (e.g. DSE compliant chair, table, display 

screen equipment), Councillor Groom sought clarification that any such assessments 

would not be used to rule out employees from receiving equipment required to 

facilitate home working.  The Assistant Director (Finance & Property Services) 

advised the Scrutiny Board that home assessments would be in place to ensure that 

all employees were safe when working from home. The checklist had been 

developed by the Council’s Health and Safety Team in order to ensure that all 

Council employees were working in a safe environment when at home.  

Councillor Parker raised a series of questions, including: 

- With regard to staff recruitment, had any applicants not had the means to 

access virtual interviews and , in instances where applicants did not have 

access to technology to access virtual interview arrangements, how did the 

Council support those applicants through to the interview process; 

 

- Had Human Resources advised employees that they could claim back from 

Government office expenses / tax rebate whilst working from home; 

 

- How was the Council managing to train staff whilst they are working from 

home; 

 

- Could further information be provided regarding the rationalisation of assets 

(paragraph 4.3.3) and reduction of the estate footprint in support of the 

Council’s carbon reduction targets. 

 

Page 88



 

3 
 

 The Assistant Director (Business Systems) advised that: 

 

- All job applicants within the Business Systems service had the means to apply 

digitally and undertake remote interviews; 

 

- Employees had been notified of the right to reclaim expenses/VAT and that 

this message would continue to be conveyed to Council employees; 

 

- The Council was already using some online and video platforms to provide 

staff training. However, in support of the blended / flexible ways of working, it 

had been ensured that the current refurbishment of the Council House also 

included sufficient space for staff training and development purposes smarter 

ways of working moving forward. 

 

The Assistant Director (Finance & Property Services) advised Member that: 

- The Council had a number of assets used for office accommodation. There 

was potential going forward to witness radical changes in the way office space 

was employed in future years.  The current scenario provided the Council with 

an opportunity to revisit its use of such space. The corporate approach to 

developing a Corporate Asset Management Plan centred around Strategic 

Asset Management Plans (SAMPS), one of which was focussed on office 

accommodation. Although the SAMPS had commenced in 2019 , due to the 

Covid-19 pandemic, the SAMPS were having to be revisited and remodelled 

accordingly.   

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive drew paragraph 5.5. in the 

report to the attention of Members, which stated that ‘In order to align our internal 

working practices and behavioural aspirations, a significant number of HR policies 

will need to be reviewed and revised’. Members were advised that a thorough review 

of HR policies would be required to ensure that they were still relevant and timely in 

support of the blended approach as recommended within the report before the 

Scrutiny Board.  Members were advised that a number of the issue as raised by 

Councillor Parker would be addressed and dealt with via a review of the Council’s 

policies to ensure they were complaint in the new working environment that was to 

be introduced.   

Councillor Fairburn noted that the potential for shared office space with Council 

partners and other suitable organisations would be a very good use of the Councils 

assets.   

Councillor Gough questioned the future costs detail for ICT within the report and 

sought clarification as to whether the annual costs of £490, 000 for Capital financing 

of additional ICT equipment, plus costs of additional ICT to support staff working 

from home was an additional cost or whether some proportion of the £490, 000 

would have been spent regardless on ICT.  

Page 89



 

4 
 

The Assistant Director (Business Systems) confirmed that the £490, 000 was the 

figure required to provide the required additional equipment for staff to deliver flexible 

working. Members were advised that the Citrix desktop device cost approximately 

£200 each, whilst laptops were in the range of £500-600 each, so an off-set costs 

was involved, but the £490, 000 was the level of budget required to move to the  

Smarter Ways of Working model now as outlined in the report.  

Councillor Gough queried whether the mental health of employees had been 

considered as part of the evaluation of the Smarter Ways of Working model. The 

Assistant Director (Finance & Property Services) advised Members that the Council 

was using the Intranet to advise employees how to support their mental health whilst 

working from home and in the current conditions nationally. The other consideration 

for mental health is recognising for example that working from home does not suit 

some employees, as they may have caring responsibilities in the home environment, 

feel isolated from colleagues and feel that home working is too invasive on the home 

environment. The Council was attempting to take into consideration such factors as 

well as supporting individual employees facing these issues.   

Councillor Qais questioned whether consideration had been given to monitoring 

arrangements to review the effectiveness of the Smarter Ways of Working model.  

The Assistant Director (Finance & Property Services) advised that the Council was 

recruiting new staff during the current period and was delivering induction processes 

for them. The Council was using on-line platforms and Learning Pool resources to do 

so. Ways to keep staff connected to one another, undertake 1-2-1’s and facilitate 

team meetings were still being reviewed.  The Council was maintaining the PDR 

scheme to ensure employees continued to perform and deliver their individual and 

team objectives. Staff workshops, surveys and 1-2-1’s continued to provide feedback 

and input into the Smarter Ways of Working model as it continued to be developed 

and delivered. The HR team would continue to review and monitor the above matters 

in conjunction with Council employees.  

Councillor Mrs Wild noted that effective staff induction processes for new employees 

and effective team building arrangements were particularly important areas for the 

Council to consider when supporting a disparate workforce in the current 

circumstances. 

Having considered the report, the Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board: 

RESOLVED: 

(i) To note the new Smarter Ways of Working Strategy; and, 

 

(ii) To provide comments to Cabinet arising from the Scrutiny Board’s 

consideration of the Smarter Ways of Working Strategy report for Cabinet 

to take into account in considering the funding requirements for the 

Strategy. 

Page 90



 

 
 

Meeting date: 5th November 2020 

 

Report to: Full Cabinet 

Subject/report 
title: 

Medium Term Financial Strategy update (incorporating the Period 6 
position) as at 30th September 2020 

Report from: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Julie Cooper, Head of Financial Operations jjcooper@solihull.gov.uk 
0121 704 8277 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

      

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To outline the Medium term Financial Strategy (MTFS) latest financial position as at 
30th September 2020 (Period 6) including the latest Covid-19 financial impact as at 
the same date. 

1.2 To report on the latest Red, Amber and Green (RAG) ratings for the delivery of the 
(MTFS) savings 2020/21 to 2022/23, as detailed in Appendix A. 

1.3 To update on the overall Covid-19 financial position over the current MTFS period 
compared to the position reported to Cabinet in September 2020. More detail can 
be found in Appendix B. 

1.4 Appendix C provides details of all the budget movements which have taken place 
up to Period 6 of this financial year, as required by Financial Regulations and the 
revised budget resulting from those movements, which Members are asked to 
approve.  

1.5 This report to Full Cabinet summarises the reports to the individual Cabinet portfolio 
meetings made during November 2020.   

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Note the current financial position and determine whether any further actions are 
required to address budget variances. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 8

mailto:jjcooper@solihull.gov.uk


 

 
 

2.2 Note the Covid-19 financial position summarised in the report and further outlined in 
Appendix B. 

2.3 Approve the budget adjustments up to Period 6 of 2020/21 as summarised in 
Appendix C. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 This report provides a further update on the latest MTFS and Covid-19 financial 
position following on from the 2020/21 MTFS update report presented at Full 
Cabinet in September. 

2019/20 Statement of Accounts and External Audit update 

3.2 Due to the on-going Covid-19 pandemic, the deadlines for the 2019/20 Statement 
of Accounts have been amended meaning that a fully audited set of accounts is not 
due until 30th November. 

3.3 At the time of this meeting, the accounts have been produced and the external 
audit has been substantially completed.  Governance Committee reviewed the 
Audit Findings Report and the Final Statement of Accounts at its session on 23rd 
September and the only outstanding item is the audit of the West Midlands Pension 
Fund. 

3.4 The Final Statement of Accounts will be published by the end of November but the 
draft Accounts can be found at: https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-
Council/Performance-spending/councilspending/financialdocuments. 

In Year Financial Monitoring for 2020/21  

3.5 Financial monitoring is carried out throughout the year by individual budget holders. 
Key income and expenditure risk areas are monitored monthly by Financial 
Operations. Identified financial risks are discussed with Heads of Service and 
significant risks are reported monthly to Directorate Leadership Teams (DLTs) and 
the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) to ensure that net expenditure is managed 
within approved budgets.   

3.6 Appendix A which is attached to this report shows the overall Revenue and Capital 
financial position in more detail in a mixture of graphs and tables which highlight 
each portfolio’s forecast variance and provides some narrative commentary on the 
key variances within each portfolio (Tables 1 - 3).   

3.7 For the current MTFS savings, Table 4 summarises the RAG status and value of 
the savings across all three years with the narrative relating to the Red rated 
savings.   

3.8 Table 5 shows the total reserves and contingency funding by portfolio including the 
balance at the start of the financial year, forecast use over the three year period of 
the current MTFS and beyond and the resulting forecast remaining balance. 

Core Council Revenue Budget (excluding the Covid-19 financial impact) – 
forecast out-turn position  

3.9 There is a net nil variance on the Core Council and an adverse variance of £8.539 
million for the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  This is summarised by Cabinet 
Portfolio in Appendix A (Table 2) which highlights the key variances. 

Page 92

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/Performance-spending/councilspending/financialdocuments
https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/Performance-spending/councilspending/financialdocuments


 

 
 

3.10 The headline positions for each Portfolio, excluding Covid-19, are summarised 
below: 

Adult Social Care and Health 

3.11 This portfolio is currently reporting a balanced position overall.  For Adult Social 
Care a balanced position is being achieved through the use of £204,000 of portfolio 
reserves.  For Public Health a favourable variance of (£525,000) arises from 
uncommitted Public Health grant which is forecast to be contributed to reserves to 
fund potential pressures in future years. 

Children, Education and Skills 

3.12 The Children, Education and Skills portfolio is reporting a balanced position overall 
through the use of £1.137 million of the £2.045 million reserves available for the 
portfolio. 

Economy and Infrastructure Directorate portfolios 

3.13 The Council considers Directorate positions before individual Portfolios so the 
position outlined below is summarised for all of the Economy and Infrastructure 
Directorate portfolios.  This approach has also been agreed and reflected within all 
of the individual portfolio reports. 

3.14 The Directorate is forecasting a combination of the use of reserves of £1.224million 
plus early delivery of savings £0.469 million to achieve a balance position overall 
for this year.  However, as detailed in the last Full Cabinet report, the above use of 
reserves is proposed to be replenished through the forthcoming Budget Strategy 
process. 

Resources  

3.15 The Resources portfolio is forecasting a net nil variance and is managing its overall 
position within budget. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

3.16 In relation to the £8.539 million adverse variance on the DSG, there is a separate 
report on this meeting’s agenda on the DSG Recovery Plan which members are 
directed to for more information. 

Core Council Revenue Covid-19 financial impact 2020/21 – forecast out-turn 
position 

3.17 In the Full Cabinet meeting on 10th September 2020 it was reported that the net 
financial impact of Covid-19 on the Council was forecast to be £14.085 million. 
Since then, there have been a number of further developments both in terms of the 
national and local outlook on the pandemic and also in relation to the funding 
allocations from central government – as a result, the latest forecast position has 
been updated to a revised net pressure of £7.943 million over the period 2020/21 – 
2023/24. 

Page 93



 

 
 

3.18 This position has improved due to two main reasons; a further allocation of 
Emergency Funding totalling £3.035 million – giving a total Emergency Funding 
allocation of £16.344 million and the second allocation of the Infection Control 
Funding of £2.371 million alongside a number of other smaller, specific funding 
allocations. 

3.19 As a consequence of the above the 2020/21 financial year is currently forecast to 
achieve a net nil position after using the emergency funding. 

3.20 The balance of the emergency funding of £5,584 million which we have been 
allocated to date will then be able to be used to offset the Covid pressures in future 
years 2021/22 – 2023/24 which are currently forecast at £13.527 million.  

3.21 The residual forecast of £7.943 million is the focus of the reports going through the 
Budget Strategy Group to reduce the impact over the new Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, which will be further added to by any portfolio budget pressures which are 
currently being finalised for the second Budget Strategy meeting in November. 

3.22 The key areas of Covid-19 financial impact are summarised in Appendix B and 
detailed below. 

Adult Social Care and Health 

3.23 The financial impact has resulted from the increased cost of providing care. The 
impact of lockdown and the requirements to control the virus, including much higher 
levels of personal protective equipment (PPE) requirements, higher levels of staff 
absence from work due to sickness and self-isolation the impact of shielding have 
necessitated support to providers to meet the additional costs of delivering care. 
The forecast assumes that there will be some increased costs of care for the 
remainder of the financial year. 

3.24 The second tranche of the Infection Control Fund already referred to above has 
improved the Adult Social Care financial position as a significant amount of the 
funding is available to support costs that were already included in the Covid 
forecast. 

3.25 For Public Health the impact relates to the increased cost of PPE for which the 
current forecast is £0.193 million.  In addition supporting the Test and Trace 
programme for which an initial funding allocation was received which has recently 
been added to (see section below on funding allocations) is a significant piece of 
work for the Directorate but is expected to be covered in full from the grant 
allocations.   

Children, Education and Skills 

3.26 So far the impact has been experienced mainly on traded services, namely the 
Music service and the Psychology service.  Risk areas which may result in a 
pressure for future months include Children's Placements and Section 17 costs, 
given the impact on individual placements from factors such as delayed discharges 
and the inability to place young people in the most appropriate (and most cost 
effective) provision.   

Page 94



 

 
 

Economy and Infrastructure Directorate portfolios  

3.27 Loss of income across a number of key service areas represent the greatest impact 
within this Directorate, from income streams including car parks, traffic regulation 
orders, permits, licences, penalty charges and advertising.  There has also been a 
considerable reduction in income relating to planning from development control, 
planning applications, land charges and Community Infrastructure Levy.  

3.28 Other areas which have also seen reductions in income include ceremonies 
provided by the Registration Service, fees and charges within Libraries and income 
from vehicle and premises licences. 

3.29 The Directorate are now also working their way through the most recent funding 
allocations including the next steps accommodation programme and the Covid 
enforcement funding. 

Leisure, Tourism and Sport 

3.30 The loss of income following closure of the two leisure centres from 21st March has 
had a significant financial impact for the Council and its service provider.  The 
centres reopened from 25th July 2020 but with service restrictions to ensure safety 
of provision in line with social distancing guidelines.  In addition, the Core theatre 
remains closed, although is currently planned to re-open in December. 

Resources 

3.31 This portfolio has experienced some loss of commercial income. In addition the 
catering service has suffered losses resulting from the closure of borough schools, 
however we have been successful in claiming funding for furlough costs and the 
service is expected to be eligible for the loss of income relief scheme which will 
further reduce that loss. 

Other Covid-19 related government funding allocations and progress to date 

3.32 The table below summarises other government funding allocated and the following 
paragraphs provide a summary of the status of the most significant allocations. 

Additional Funding Sources 
Funding 

Allocation 

    £000s 

Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund  (4,934) 

Re-opening High Streets Safely (192) 

Business Grants (including Top up Business Grants) (28,736) 

Council Tax Hardship Funding (1,572) 

Test and Trace (1,474) 

Homelessness (5) 

Emergency Cycling and Walking Measures (214) 

Emergency Assistance for Food and Essential Supplies (210) 

Next Steps Accommodation programme (71) 

Covid Enforcement (105) 

Contain Outbreak Management Fund (649) 

Total (38,162) 
 
 

Page 95



 

 
 

3.33 Business Grants support (including Top Up Grants) – the latest position in 
relation to the original allocation of Business Grants and Top up Grant funding is 
that we completed making all of the eligible grant payments due by the end of 
September.  In total across the two types of grants we made payments of £27.915 
million that has helped 2,110 businesses across the Borough. 

3.34 In addition to the above scheme the Chancellor recently announced that the 
government are providing additional funding to allow local authorities to support 
businesses in high-alert level areas which are not legally closed, but which are 
severely impacted by the restrictions on socialising.  

3.35 The funding we will receive will be based on the number of hospitality, hotel, B&B, 
and leisure businesses in our area.  Further details are awaited but early indications 
are that the grant will support monthly payments to businesses with the due amount 
being dependant on rateable value.  There will be a further top up grant to cover 
other businesses that might be affected by the local restrictions, but which do not 
neatly fit into the categories for the main grant, where it would be for the local 
authority to determine what its local scheme looks like. 

3.36 Council tax hardship funding – the latest projections indicate that the hardship 
payments will exceed the available allocation by £300,000 and this figure is 
included in the service impacts reported above. 

3.37 Adult Social Care infection control – the initial funding allocation of £2.563 million 
was split into two amounts: the 75% amount to be pass-ported directly to care 
homes (residential and nursing homes in the borough) was paid over in two 
instalments and the majority of the 25% on which the authority could make 
discretionary decisions has also been paid.  

3.38 A second tranche of this funding has now been confirmed at £2.371 million. This 
funding is included in the above table and has improved the overall position as it 
can cover a large proportion of the costs already forecast within Adult Social Care 
and Health portfolio.  Allocations for this funding were agreed by Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder on the 15th October. 

3.39 Test and Trace – part of the funding allocation of £1.042 million has been pooled 
to provide a joint management and communications programme with Coventry and 
Warwickshire and the remainder utilised to provide a targeted response service for 
the Borough.  There has been a further £0.432 million allocation of funding which 
will be spent in accordance with the same conditions.  In the last report approval 
was sought to contribute any variance on this funding to a reserve but the likelihood 
of this will not be known until closer to year end given the local circumstances we 
are currently experiencing.  

3.40 Contain Outbreak Management Fund – There has been a new funding allocation 
for Councils that are in Tier 2 or 3.  As Solihull is currently in Tier 2, we are 
expecting funding of £0.649 million, equivalent to £3 per head of population. 

 

 

Page 96



 

 
 

Capital budget – Forecast out-turn position    

3.41 The total Capital Programme budget is currently £42.622 million for 2020/21 
(excluding the HRA capital programme).  Actual expenditure to the end of 
September was £17.856 million.  There is a forecast favourable variance of (£3.107 
million) which is summarised by Cabinet Portfolio in Appendix A (Table 3).  

3.42 There are no red risks to report at this stage and officers liaise with project 
managers throughout the financial year to identify any possible re-phasing 
requirements on schemes. 

3.43 A report will be brought to Cabinet on the 3rd December 2020 on the Capital 
Rephasing for the 2020/21 Capital Programme into 2021/22. 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) RAG status of savings 2020/21 to 
2022/23 

3.44 For the current MTFS 2020/21 to 2022/23, progress at the end of September 2020 
shows the overall position is positive.  Of the overall savings target of £14.174 
million, only £2.558 million is now rated as red/amber, of which £0.417 million are 
due to Covid-19 impacts. There are also £0.018 million of savings from previous 
years that are also at risk of delivery due to Covid-19. 

3.45 The Aligning Resources to our Priorities Board (ARTOP) and the Corporate 
Leadership Team (CLT) continue to monitor and report on the delivery of all 
savings plans throughout the year. Individual portfolio financial reports will also 
provide further detail where appropriate. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 Not applicable 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 Not applicable 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. UK Central (UKC) and 
maximising the opportunities of 
HS2. 

The budget and MTFS address all 
of the Council’s priorities 

Page 97

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Ourvisionandpriorities/Council_plan.pdf


 

 
 

3. Increase the supply of housing, 
especially affordable and social 
housing. 

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural 
environment. 

5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon 

emissions. 

The budget and MTFS address all 
of the Council’s priorities 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life 
chances in our most 
disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable 

provision for adults & children 
with complex needs. 

The budget and MTFS address all 
of the Council’s priorities 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 N/A 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 The financial implications are outlined in the main body of this report and its 
appendices. 

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 None 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 The budget monitoring report takes account of known forecast variances. In 
addition, there may be pressures which are currently being monitored and 
managed by Budget Managers that could affect the final out-turn position for 
2020/21. 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 None 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A – Revenue and Capital monitoring position for Period 6 (September) 
2020 

7.2 Appendix B – Covid-19 monitoring position for Period 6 (September) 2020 

Page 98



 

 
 

7.3 Appendix C – Detailed budget movements up to Period 6 (September) 2019 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 None 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Table 1.Revenue Budget - Forecast Out-turn Position 2020/21

Table 2.Revenue Budget - Forecast Out-turn Position 2020/21 and Explanation of Key Variances

Budget         Forecast Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000

57,194 57,194 0

38,146 38,146 0

643 328 (315)

18,312 19,860 1,548

824 537 (287)

501 192 (309)

27,424 27,424 0

5,741 5,104 (637)

148,785 148,785 0

(5,934) 2,605 8,539

8,543 8,543 0
7,683 7,683 0

159,077 167,616 8,539

Children’s Placements continues to be a pressure at +£2.152 million as CIC numbers continue to rise (local 391 in March 20 compared to 436 now). S17 costs are also over by +£965,000, (mainly due to CDT £802,000), with the staffing pressures in the SEND service to cost +£265,000 and Home to 
School Transport pressure is +£164,000. There are savings in SEIS of (£175,000), in the Early Retirement budget of (£158,000) and in Short Breaks of (£152,000). Grant and other funding set aside for pressures is (£1.924million). Use of reserves of (£1.137 million), to achieve a net nil position.

Early delivery of savings reinvested in the Economy and Infrastructure directorate as part of MTFS and use of reserves to balance the Directorate to a nil variance (£315,000), under recovery of Planning income unrelated to Covid-19 +£122,000 offset by use of reserves (£122,000).

Waste Collection, Disposal and Recycling +£1.474m due to Waste Collection service no longer partly funded from Weekly Collection Revenue grant, previous changes to commingled waste recycling, plus an increase in contract costs relating to waste disposal and housing growth, brown recycling 
bins defects replacement/legal case, partly offset by the Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Company dividend, additional waste collection income and some one-off minor favourable variances on waste disposal costs. Cleansing Services Streetcare contract growth, ongoing costs from Strategic 
Environment Contract Pensions liability +£106,000, Car Parking income +£273,000, minor variances +£9,000, partly offset by Early delivery of savings reinvested in the Economy and Infrastructure directorate as part of MTFS and use of reserves to balance the Directorate to a nil variance (£314,000).

APPENDIX A

Cabinet Portfolio

Children, Education and Skills

Working Balances/ Contingency

Full Cabinet Revenue and Capital Monitoring for Period 6 (September 2020)

Climate Change, Planning and 
Housing

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

Total Core Council

Adult Social Care and Health

Leisure, Tourism and Sport

Growth and Infrastructure Delivery

Environment and Highways

Levies

Stronger and Safer Communities

The current forecast is showing a total adverse variance of +£8.539 million as a result of the DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) position. More information can be found in table 2 below.

Explanation of Key Variances

Post-budget setting inflation announcement on the Better Care Fund produced a (£417,000) benefit, there is a forecast (£204,000) use of reserves and a (£282,000) favourable variance on Occupational Therapy and Reablement service due to vacancies, which has been offset by an expected pressure 
on the contracts of +£968,000.  Other minor variances of (£65,000). 

Forecast surplus on Public Health Grant of (£253,000), plus (£102,000) from redeployment of staff to Test and Trace and Salary vacancies (£112,000), (£58,000) from Sexual Health and Health Checks due to service restrictions, giving a total of (£525,000) to be contributed to the Public Health grant 
reserve +£525,000. 

Resources

Nil Variance

Nil Variance

Total

Early delivery of savings reinvested in the Economy and Infrastructure directorate as part of MTFS and use of reserves to balance the Directorate to a nil variance (£314,000), partly offset by pressure on salary costs to allow for additional resource to advance economic growth +£27,000. Costs 
associated with HS2 outside the scope of agreed funding from HS2 +£46,000 offset by use of HS2 reserve (£46,000).

Early delivery of savings reinvested in the Economy and Infrastructure directorate as part of MTFS and use of reserves to balance the Directorate to a nil variance (£315,000), pressures on Core Theatre +£68,000 and Encore Cafe Bar +£68,000 prior to Covid-19 partly offset by one off back dated 
refund of VAT (£130,000), surplus on Solihull Active programme Eat Well, Move More (£24,000) is to be contributed to the Leisure reserve +£24,000 to meet salary costs in future years.  (£450,000) varaince on Leisure due to delayed essential maintenance but this balance will be contributed to the 
reserve this year +£450,000 in order to fund the works next year.

Favourable net pay variances due to combinations of reduced overtime, reduced agency spend and recent recruitment delays across a number of services, notably Corporate Facilities (£137,000) and Business Intelligence (£77,000).  Other favourable variances include (£246,000) from review of 
financing.  Offset by increased allowance for debt impairments +£421,000 and additional Citrix licence costs +£106,000.  Other minor net variances (£67,000).

Early delivery of savings reinvested in the Economy and Infrastructure directorate as part of MTFS and use of reserves to balance the Directorate to a nil variance (£435,000), Libraries and Customer Services vacant posts held pending review of operating model (£364,000), partly offset by 
Bereavement Services cost pressure +£217,000 and other minor net variances (£55,000).

An in-year adverse variance of +£2.500 million is anticipated against the High Needs Block in 2020/21. In addition to this, a gross adverse variance of +£6.039 million against the HNB has been carried forward from 2019/20 (there was (£105,000)) of one off favourable variances helping to support the 
position last year). Whilst a HNB Recovery plan is underway - elements of this have been delayed due to the pandemic, and officers are currently working to update the plan with a report due to Full Cabinet in November. 

-10,000

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

Adult Social Care and HealthChildren, Education and Skills Climate Change, Planning and
Housing Environment and Highways

Growth and Infrastructure
Delivery Leisure, Tourism and Sport Resources

Stronger and Safer
Communities

57
,1

94

38
,1

46

64
3

18
,3

12

82
4

50
1

27
,4

24

5,
74

1

57
,1

94

38
,1

46

32
8

19
,8

60

53
7

19
2

27
,4

24

5,
10

4

0

0 (3
15

)

1,
54

8

(2
87

)

(3
09

)

0

(6
37

)

£000's

Cabinet Portfolio

Revenue Budget Forecast Outturn Position

Budget  £000's

Forecast £000's

Variance £'000

P
age 101



Table 3.Capital Budget - Forecast Out-turn Position 2020/21 and Explanation of Key Variances

Budget         Spend Forecast Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
3,924 376 3,924 0

101 1 101 0

8,361 2,318 6,053 (2,308)

8,551 3,629 8,295 (256)

12,476 8,061 11,971 (505)

43 (24) 43 0
8,490 3,424 8,477 (13)

676 71 651 (25)

42,622 17,856 39,515 (3,107)

Table 4. MTFS 3 Year Savings Targets Table 5. Summary of Reserves/Contingencies 

Forecast 
Balance at              

Forecast / 
Planned        

Proposed as 
part of                 

Forecast 
Remaining

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
the end of 
2022/23                              

(contribution) 
/use beyond 

2021/22                     

2023/24 
MTFS                           

Balance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult Social Care and Health (999) (850) (158) (236) (2,243) 0 0 (2,243)

Children, Education and 
Skills

(695) 270 0 0 (425) 110 0 (315)

Climate Change, Planning 
and Housing

(2,760) 386 398 387 (1,589) 1,589 0 0

Environment and Highways (6,434) 2,380 1,280 682 (2,092) 2,092 0 0

Growth and Infrastructure 
Delivery

(740) 107 0 0 (633) 533 100 0

Leisure, Tourism and Sport (2,042) (353) 1,202 496 (697) 31 0 (666)

Resources (17,188) 2,327 2,310 2,658 (9,893) 1,449 750 (7,694)

Stronger and Safer 
Communities

(1,229) (109) 376 226 (736) 736 0 0

Levies (200) 0 0 0 (200) 0 0 (200)

Contingency Funding - ACS, 
PH & CSS

(7,452) 1,137 604 0 (5,711) 0 0 (5,711)

Corporate reserves (incl 
Treas Man, Budget Strategy 
and Windfall

(14,590) (11,898) 5,055 4,559 (16,874) 2,875 0 (13,999)

Total (54,329) (6,603) 11,067 8,772 (41,093) 9,415 850 (30,828)

Nil Variance

Filllongley Road Bridge (£220,000): Following the award of funding from the Local Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund this scheme has been added to the capital programme. The project will substantially take place in 
2021/22 requiring £220,000 of funding to be carried forward. Other LTP grant and other minor schemes (£34,000): The £20,000 scheme for Reclassification of the Network and the Schools Streets Project £14,000 are now to 
take in 2021/22 due to a reprioritisation of activity.  Other minor variances (£2,000).

Cabinet Portfolio

Children, Education and Skills

Nil Variance

(£1.375m) on the Schools Improvement programme - largely on Olton Primary (Daylesford/Chapelfields Places) and (£0.700m) on the High Needs Block Schools Improvement Programme - largely on Hazel Oak Special School 
and ASC Special Free School. Plus other minor variances.

The latest approved Capital Programme budget is £42.622 million. Actual expenditure to the end of September was £17.856 million and there is a forecast favourable variance (£3.107 million). A report will be brought to Cabinet in December to re-phase the capital programme where necessary.

Climate Change, Planning and 
Housing

Nil Variance

Minor VariancesResources

Warm Homes Fund (Council Properties) (£160,000): Covid-19 restrictions are making it difficult to identify suitable properties for intervention thus expenditure will be lower than budgeted - budget to be realigned. 
Smithswood Village Centre project: (£75,000) Surplus uncommitted funding from Smithswood Village Centre Project to be allocated to other projects supporting regeneration in the north of the borough - budget to be 
realigned. Bees and Trees projects (£200,000) where the revised expectation is that limited work will be able to be completed in 2020/21 due to lack of available staff resource and limited scope to programme work due to 
seasonal requirements of planting; and, Other projects minor variance (£70,000)

Adult Social Care and Health

Growth and Infrastructure Delivery

Leisure, Tourism and Sport

Environment and Highways

Full Cabinet Revenue and Capital Monitoring for Period 6 (September 2020)

Key Savings Highlights

Of the overall savings target of £14.174 million, only £2.558 million is now rated as red/amber, of which £0.417 million are due to Covid-19 impacts. 
There are also £0.018 million of savings from previous years that will not be delivered due to Covid-19.

The internal officer led ARTOP Board continues to monitor the progress on delivery of these savings.

Planned / Forecast  
(contribution)/use

Stronger and Safer Communities Minor Variances

Total

The balance of Portfolio Reserves at 1st April 2020 was (£54.329m). There is a forecast use of reserves over the existing Medium Term Financial 
Strategy of £13.236m leaving a balance of (£41.093m)  at March 2023 - of which, £9.415m is forecast to be used beyond the current MTFS and 
£0.850m is being offered to the MTFS for 2022/23 leaving £30.828m - the majority of which are corporately held within the Resources portfolio.

Cabinet Portfolio

Explanation of Key Variances

Balance as at 
1st April 2020         

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Red -654 -725 -294

Amber -272 -143 -470

Green -6934 -1967 -2715

-8000

-7000

-6000

-5000

-4000

-3000

-2000

-1000

0

£0
00

s

Gross Overall RAG Rating per YearP
age 102



Appendix B
Table 1 - Overall COVID-19 Council Impact - 2019/20 - 2023/24

Category Sub-Category
Funding 

Allocation

Cabinet report 
(Sept 2020) 
FORECAST 
VARIANCE

Current Period 
FORECAST 
VARIANCE

Movement in 
Forecast

£000s £000s £000s £000s
Covid-19 Emergency Funding (13,309) (13,309) (16,344) (3,035)
Income Loss Relief Grant 0 (4,436) (4,798) (362)

New funding requests 3,775 3,641 (134)
Service Impacts 16,851 14,937 (1,914)
Impact on Council’s core funding streams 10,729 10,072 (657)
MTFS Savings Delivery Impact 475 435 (40)

Subtotal - Covid-19 Emergency Funding (13,309) 14,085 7,943 (6,142)

Table 2 - Category of Impact by Portfolio 2020/21 - 2023/24

Cabinet Portfolio
New funding 

requests
Service Impacts

Income Loss 
Relief

Impact on 
Council’s core 

funding streams 

MTFS Savings 
Delivery Impact

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Adult Social Care and Health 2,012 1,708 0 0 435 4,155
Children's Services and Skills 267 879 (338) 0 0 808
Economy and Infrastructure Portfolios 1,128 6,398 (3,996) 0 0 3,530
Resources 27 5,646 (464) 0 0 5,209
Core Council Funding 207 306 0 10,072 0 10,585
Subtotal 3,641 14,937 (4,798) 10,072 435 24,287

Funding Streams
 - Emergency Funding - Funding Requests (3,641) 0 0 0 0 (3,641)
 - Emergency Funding - Service Impacts 0 (12,268) 0 0 (435) (12,703)
Subtotal (3,641) (12,268) 0 0 (435) (16,344)

Grand Total 0 2,669 (4,798) 10,072 0 7,943

Table 3 - COVID Impact by Year -Profile of Forecast

Category Sub-Category 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Grand Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Covid-19 Emergency Funding (279) (10,481) (4,755) (829) 0 (16,344)
Income Loss Relief 0 (4,798) 0 0 0 (4,798)
Subtotal Income (279) (15,279) (4,755) (829) 0 (21,142)

New funding requests 273 3,368 0 0 0 3,641
Service Impacts 6 11,476 1,398 2,057 0 14,937
Impact on Council’s core funding streams 0 0 3,357 3,357 3,358 10,072
MTFS Savings Delivery Impact 0 435 0 0 0 435

Subtotal Expenditure 279 15,279 4,755 5,414 3,358 29,085

Net Impact 0 0 0 4,585 3,358 7,943

Comments
The above table shows the reported Financial Position from the Period 4 (July) 2020 cabinet report compared to the position reported internally and to Cabinet as at 30th September. 
The position has improved by (£6.142m) predominantly as a result of the fourth tranche of Emergency Funding of (£3.035m) and a further allocation of the Infection Control Fund 
(£2.371m). This has been netted down by movements on the expenditure side as the pandemic has continued.

Comments
The above table shows the position for each Cabinet portfolio. However, the portfolios within Economy and Infrastructure have been grouped as the Directorate position is reported 
first.

Comments
The above table outlines the profile of the latest forecast. This shows that the forecast for 2020/21 and 2021/22 is now net nil due to the various incomes streams secured and 
forecast. However, there remains an overall £7.943m adverse variance across 2022/23 - 2023/24 which will continue to be reviewed internally and through the Budget Strategy 
process.

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C
DETAILED BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS 2020/21 to Period 6.

£ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

Latest Approved Budget 2020/21 (Approved 
by Full Cabinet 10th September 2020)

57,062 37,970 618 18,267 817 495 27,271 5,696 148,196 (5,934) 142,262 8,543 8,272 159,077

Adjustments

Neighbourhoods Restructure
8 (8) 0 0 0

Allocation of increased pay award
132 149 25 37 7 6 180 53 589 589 (589) 0

Technical Adjustments

Childrens Services Allocation of MTFS funding to 
cover loss of Central Services Grant in DSG 

27 (27) 0 0 0

Total Adjustments 132 176 25 45 7 6 153 45 589 0 589 0 (589) 0

Latest Budget 2020/21 57,194 38,146 643 18,312 824 501 27,424 5,741 148,785 (5,934) 142,851 8,543 7,683 159,077

Environment and 
Highways

Adult Social 
Care and 

Health

Dedicated 
Schools Grant 

(DSG)

Core Council 
and DSG Sub 

Total
Reason for Adjustment

Childrens, 
Education and 

Skills

Climate 
Change, 

Planning and 
Housing

Growth and 
Infrastructure 

Delivery
 Resources

Core Council 
Sub Total

Levies
Working 
Balances

Total
Stronger and 

Safer 
Communities

 Leisure, 
Tourism and 

Sport

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Meeting date: 5th November 2020 

 

Report to: Full Cabinet 

Subject/report 
title: 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Recovery Plan 

Report from: Director of Children’s Services and Skills 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Director of Children’s Services and Skills 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To confirm the actions being taken to improve the availability of education 
provision and increase capacity within the Borough so that more of our children 
and young people can have their needs met locally. 

1.2 To update on the progress of the DSG Recovery Plan and the actions taken 
following the previous reports to Cabinet in October 2019 and February 2020. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 To endorse the progress made in taking forward the work streams that support 
both the broader improvements to SEND processes and provision and the 
development of the Recovery Plan.  

2.2 To approve the DSG Recovery Plan in its current iteration, as set out in 
Appendix A. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

Background to the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs Block 
(HNB) financial position  

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

3.1 At outturn in 2019/20, the High Needs Block of the DSG had an in year adverse 
variance of £4.660m against the gross budget of £27.808m. In addition to this, 
an adverse variance of £1.408m was carried forward from 2018/19. After other 
DSG Block adjustments, the total High Need Block adverse variance carried 
forward into 2020/21 is £6.039m. 

3.2 In the current financial year, (Period 6, July 2020), the latest financial forecast 
position for the DSG High Needs Block is an in year adverse variance of 
£2.500m against the gross budget of £30.249m. In addition to the adverse 
variance carried forward from prior years, this takes the total adverse variance 
to £8.539m. This represents a deficit of 4% against Solihull’s total DSG of 
£211.958m. This continues to reflect the increase in numbers and costs of 
school placements, particularly in the independent sector. The previous report 
to Cabinet in October 2019 set out the factors driving the current High Needs 
Block financial position.  

3.3 The original guidance from the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) 
issued in March 2019 stated that; ‘All local authorities that have a cumulative 
DSG [Dedicated Schools Grant] deficit of 1% or more at the end of a financial 
year are required to submit a recovery plan outlining how they will bring their 
deficit back into balance in a three-year time frame’. Based on the current 
deficit, this would have triggered the requirement for a recovery plan to the DfE 
in June of 2020. In addition, the DFE recognised that this would be difficult for 
some LAs and would allow carry forward of the amount agreed as a deficit, but 
LAs would not be required to recover this within a three-year period.  However, 
the in year position for the High Needs Block must be brought back into 
balance within three years. 

3.4 However, the impact of Covid 19 has had a significant effect on local authorities 
and schools since March of this year. The DfE has recognised this and as such 
has issued new guidance contained in the DSG Conditions of Grant for 20-21 
with new arrangements for handling overspends with effect from the end of the 
2019 to 2020 financial year.  

3.5 New provisions have been put into the School and Early Years Finance 
(England) Regulations 2020, so that ‘local authorities are required to carry 
forward overspends to their schools budget either in the immediately following 
year or the year after. They can apply to the Secretary of State to disregard this 
requirement. In the case of the Secretary of State giving such permission, this 
may be for all or part of the sum requested by a local authority, and permission 
may be given subject to conditions’. 

3.6 The impact of these statutory provisions will be that a local authority with a 
DSG deficit from the previous year must either: 

(a) carry the whole of the deficit forward to be dealt with in the schools budget for 
the new financial year, deducting all of it from the money available for that 
financial year 

(b) carry part of it forward into the new financial year and the rest of it into the 
following financial year 

Page 108



 

 
 

(c) carry all of it into the following financial year 

(d) apply to the Secretary of State for authorisation to disregard the requirements 
if it wishes to fund any part of the deficit from a source other than the DSG. 

3.7 This creates, on a statutory basis, a new requirement that a deficit must be 
carried forward to be dealt with from future DSG income, unless the Secretary 
of State authorises the local authority not to do this. 

3.8 The DfE have also now issued a DSG Management Template to support the 
delivery of recovery plans. We are currently looking at the adoption of this as 
part of the work on our recovery plan.  

3.9 The Council’s HNB Project Board, chaired by the Director of Resources and 
Deputy Chief Executive, has continued to meet and work has progressed as 
best it can during the lockdown. The Solihull Schools Forum was informed of 
progress at their meetings on 7th July and 7th October 2020. The Head Teacher 
Reference Group met on 22nd October. However, it is clear that the pandemic 
has, and may continue to, push back many aspects of the recovery plan.  

3.10 The updated recovery plan presented at Appendix A uses the carry forward 
flexibility as permitted and still proposes that the accumulated deficit is 
recovered over a longer period, whilst bringing the in-year position back to 
balance by year 3. This recognises the following factors: 

 The impact of Covid on the timescales for implementing measures. In 
particular, this reflects the impact on our ability to undertake statutory 
consultation on our development proposals. 

 That the DfE does not expect local authorities to take such measures to 
recover the full deficit within three years that would have a detrimental 
impact upon support and provision for children and young people. 

 The allocation of additional HNB funding for 2020/21 and 2021/22 (with 
the latter estimated at £2.5m for Solihull).  

 That there is a long lead in time for some of the proposed measures, 
which means that action and implementation does not immediately result 
in a financial saving. 

 There are still elements of uncertainty and variability in terms of some of 
the key assumptions underpinning the plan, especially around future pupil 
numbers and future levels of government funding.  Officers will to continue 
to refine details, revisiting assumptions in the light of emerging information 
and in the light of consultation and engagement with schools and the 
School Forum. 

 There is an acknowledged problem nationally that the High Needs Block 
within the DSG is underfunded. Over 80% of local authorities are reporting 
a High Needs Block deficit and the scale of the shortfall in funding is 
rapidly escalating – with the pandemic adding to this pressure. At present, 

Page 109



 

 
 

there are no planned announcements from the Government about this 
unless anything is brought forward as part of a future Comprehensive 
Spending Review.  

What is happening in relation to the demand and financial pressures? 
 

3.11 Various options for additional in Borough provision (in addition to that brought 
on stream already over the past three years) are being developed as part of the 
wider recovery plan. The first phase of these options were reported to, and 
approved by, the Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Skills on 18th 
December 2019. In summary these were: 

 8 full time equivalent place secondary SEMH provision (open Sept 20).  

 6 place primary complex Autism provision (due Sept 21) 

 8 full time equivalent places KS1 primary SEMH provision (North) (due Sept 
21)  

 10 full time equivalent place KS2 primary SEMH provision (North) (due 
January 22) 

 20 place secondary complex Autism provision (due Sept 22) 

Where possible, we were looking to open new provision from September 2020 
but developments of this nature are subject to full statutory consultation before 
a final decision can be made. As such the impact of Covid has meant this was 
not feasible for this Autumn other than for the secondary SEMH provision. For 
academy schools the final decision is also a matter for the Regional Schools 
Commissioner. All these developments are dependent on appropriate 
accommodation being deliverable at a level affordable within the capital 
programme and in the necessary timescales. 

3.12 In addition, working in partnership with our special school Head Teachers we 
are looking at ways to further expand our special school places whilst 
recognising the need to add additional accommodation to alleviate existing and 
future pressure. It is anticipated that a formal expansion of one or more of our 
special schools will be required. Feasibility work around how best to deliver 
these expansions is underway. Expansion of special school places above 10% 
will require a full statutory process before a final decision is made. 

3.13 It is important to note that the unit cost of such additional in-Borough places is 
significantly cheaper than external provision and as such has helped to mitigate 
the HNB deficit below the level it otherwise would have reached had action not 
been taken. As a general rule of thumb, we are able to make SEND provision 
for two children in Borough for every child who goes to a specialist external 
education placement. 

3.14 Solihull has also responded by supporting the creation of a new 100 place 
Special Free School, and the local authority has agreed to fund these places 
whilst the school becomes established. The new Free School has now been 
approved by the Secretary of State and will be developed and run by the 
Forward Education Trust.  The original plan was for it open in September 2023, 
but we are working with all parties to bring this forward by one year to 
September 2022 if possible. The DfE confirmed on the recent formal set up 

Page 110



 

 
 

conversation with the local authority and the Forward Education Trust that 
September 2022 is the target date for opening.  

3.15 Solihull needs to work closely with schools to invest in preventative and 
inclusive pathways, and, as a consequence, disinvest from exclusion pathways. 
This needs to be accompanied by new funding models for alternative provision 
and a greater role for schools in commissioning provision.   

3.16 Through a detailed pupil by pupil review of all those students previously at 
Auckland Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and currently at Summerfield PRU, it has 
become clear that SEND intervention is a more appropriate pathway for many 
of the pupils who were / are on roll. This also means we need to transfer 
appropriate resources from our alternative provision to SEND provision. This 
was put in place initially through the decommissioning of Auckland PRU and the 
proposed creation of Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) additional 
resource provision. We looking at our future needs for Secondary PRU 
provision and options were presented to the Cabinet Member for Children, 
Education and Skills at the decision session on 11th February 2020. As part of 
this planning, the Summerfield PRU moved into the former Auckland site in 
September 2020.  

3.17 In March 2020, the Cabinet Member also approved the commissioning of the 
new Key Stage 3 Secondary SEMH provision at Tudor Grange School.    

3.18 In September 2020, the Cabinet Member also approved consultation on two 
proposals: one to increase primary Autism places, through the creation of an 
additionally resourced provision  and the second to add additional Special 
School capacity in the south of the Borough, both proposals to be implemented 
from September 2021. Further plans are being developed for 6th Day provision 
for secondary aged excluded pupils.  Due to the delivery of the Special Free 
School being brought forward to September 2022, the additional secondary 
autism places based in the north of the borough are now being considered for 
new places catering for Social Emotional and Mental Health Needs.  

3.19 The DSG financial settlement for 2020/21 announced in December 2019 
confirmed that Solihull will receive £2.748m additional DSG High Needs funding 
in 2020/21. Similarly, we have had initial indications of additional funding for 
2021/22 of some £2.5m which will help offset the on-going deficit as part of the 
Recovery Plan actions. Whilst this has not been confirmed for future years, our 
working assumption is that we will continue to receive this funding in future as a 
minimum baseline increase.  

3.20 The Council’s approach to SEND and the recovery plan itself has now 7 
(formerly 5) key work strands as set out in Appendix B, which indicates 
progress made since the February Cabinet report. These are monitored 
through the Project Board. 

3.21 In terms of developing the financial model (Strand 5); a key piece of work has 
been to model the individual pupil impact across all settings reflecting changes 
such as at Key Stages. This has enabled us to begin to model the detailed 
financial and provision impact over the current and next two years. In addition, 

Page 111



 

 
 

we can look to model future demand. However, it must be noted that this is not 
a straight forward exercise and is dependant on many factors including future 
DSG financial settlements, future projections about the number and type of 
places needed and practical issues around developing capacity such as 
expanding SEND provision locally and building on measures already 
implemented. 

3.22 The model will need to be updated based on current pupil data. The annual 
January Pupil census which forms part of the statutory return to the DFE will 
inform the update.  

3.23 As it stands, the current model indicates that we may be able to bring the in 
year High Needs Block back within budget by year 2 but clearly subject to 
factors set out above. However, it is still our view that the recovery of the 
current and any future deficit within the current three year planning horizon will 
not be achievable under the current assumptions and funding. Beyond the 
immediate three years of the current recovery plan, the full year effects of some 
of the proposals in the plan, together with the impact of the new free school for 
children with autism, will have a further positive impact upon the remaining 
accumulated deficit. This will be reflected in further iterations of the financial 
model as we plan into 2023/24 and beyond. 

3.24 Furthermore, there is a real need to continue to work more closely with our 
Schools on all these matters. Schools had previously expressed their concern 
that they had not been sufficiently involved in the development of responses to 
the emerging financial position. A High Needs reference group has been 
established with Head Teachers and that will be an important critical friend and 
voice of schools about the future direction and development of SEND, including 
the deficit recovery plan. Positive discussions regarding co-production of SEND 
solutions with parents are also beginning to take shape and the Parent Carer 
Voice group has recently been re-launched. 

Resources required to develop, implement and monitor the DSG Recovery 
Plan actions  

3.25 Given the scale of the challenge outlined and the associated financial risk, 
Cabinet in October 2019 approved that £400,000 per annum for 3 years be set 
aside through the current MTFS process to provide additional infrastructure 
capacity, with effect from 2020/21. Progress against the Recovery Plan will be 
monitored through the High Needs Block Board. The current position in terms 
of providing the needed additional infrastructure capacity is:  

 An Assistant Director, Inclusion and Additional Needs – following a national 
recruitment process, interviews were held in January and the successful 
candidate has now been in post since April. 

 A senior commissioning / contract officer – this post was filled in April 2020 
and is working with the Head of Service for Children’s Commissioning and 
with the Corporate Procurement Team to establish more robust 
commissioning and contract management arrangements for SEND 
placements in the independent sector. 

Page 112



 

 
 

 A business change manager – the Children’s Service’s Operating Officer is 
now in post. 

 A solicitor with an SEND specialism – funding is being used to support 
interim arrangements pending a review by Legal Services of the long term 
requirements. 

 A post to help deal with the backlog of annual reviews – being covered by 
an agency member of staff pending recruitment to the longer term position. 
This remains an area of significant concern. 

 The SEND Head of Service post, which was already in the base budget 
prior to the previous Cabinet approvals, became vacant in July. This has 
now been appointed to and the successful candidate will take up post at the 
end of November. 

3.26 Since the introduction of the SEND reforms, the number of EHCPs has 
increased by 59%, with the percentage of children with a new EHCP in the 
borough increasing year on year and is now above both the national and 
regional figures at 19.4%. Resourcing levels in the Statutory Review and 
Assessment Team have not kept pace with this increase and a growth bid will 
be included within the MTFS round.  

3.27 In addition, since the last report to Cabinet, the decision has been taken to 
proceed with the introduction of the Liquidlogic Education, Health and Care 
Plan (EHCP) module now following the submission of a business case to the 
Social Care Implementation Board in July 2020. In 2017, at the time of the 
original Liquid Logic tender, a decision was also made to purchase the EHCP 
module. The original project plan was to implement this for the core go live 
(Phase 2), however it was re-phased in April 2019 into a later phase. 

3.28 Despite the impact of Covid upon workload and capacity, it is now felt that this 
should not be pushed back further and should be implemented now. This will 
ensure that we can embed a seamless service for children and young people 
aged 0 – 25 with special educational needs and can fully comply with the 
statutory duties outlined in the Children and Families Act 2014 and the SEND 
Code of Practice (January 2015). Furthermore, this will also enable us to better 
predict the impact of pupil demand and improve financial modelling.  

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 We continue to work on the recovery plan in line with the new requirements 
from the DfE. The view still remains that recovering the full deficit (i.e. the 
accumulated deficit in addition to the in year position) would require the 
implementation of measures that would be detrimental to outcomes and 
provision for children and young people.  It would also leave the council in a 
position where it was unable to meet its statutory duties and open to legal 
challenge.  Further, such measures, whilst delivering an initial reduction in 
costs would also be likely to increase costs in later years as the true financial 
consequences become apparent. This option has therefore been discounted. 

Page 113



 

 
 

4.2 There also remain several variables which will impact on the delivery of the 
plan. Key will be the impact of Covid and the effect on both demand and the 
ability to progress new provisions. The development of the new Free School will 
also be a key driver in terms of reducing our reliance on external provision 
longer term. 

4.3 The headline recovery plan is set out in Appendix A, together with the key 
planning assumptions around forecast numbers, timescales and level of 
Government funding.  

4.4 Appendix B sets out the progress and revised timelines in each of the key work 
stands.  

4.5 However, the increasing demand for EHCP assessments, the current number 
of actual EHCPs and the need to review these annually continues to place a 
significant burden on StART. In 2018, the caseload of each StART Plan Co-
ordinator was 182. The current number of EHCPs has created a caseload of 
238 which is continuing to rise as requests for assessments continue to be 
made. As such a business case has been drafted setting out the potential 
resource impact based on the above. This is costed at some £320k per annum 
which will be incorporated into the service’s MTFS planning. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 As outlined above in 4.1 to 4.5. 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 How the proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of Council Plan priorities: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Securing inclusive economic growth.  Improving the council’s SEND provision will support 
more young people to secure employment and 
training when they leave school.  

Planning and delivery for Solihull’s 
low carbon future (to include 
biodiversity implications). 

Being able to educate more of our young people in 
the Borough will, over time, reduce travel distances 
and the use of car and taxi journeys. 

Managing demand and expectation 
for public services.  

Parents of children with SEND in Solihull quite 
rightly have high expectations for their children.  As 
the report highlights, demand for in Borough 
provision currently exceeds the council’s ability to 
provide it and is causing a significant financial 
overspend.  The proposals in the report are 
intended to address capacity and meet children’s 
needs in a more cost effective way.  

Developing our approach to services 
for adults and children with complex 

In developing a financially sustainable High Needs 
Block over time within the Dedicated Schools 

Page 114



 

 
 

needs.  Grant, the Council will be in a better position to 
meet needs locally. A key element of the Recovery 
Plan as it develops will be to continue to expand in-
Borough provision for children with SEND, working 
in close partnership with our schools and 
academies and ensuring families are part of the 
development of solutions. This will deliver better 
outcomes for children and families as well as 
securing financial efficiencies; as previously stated 
the cost of educating one pupil out of Borough in 
independent sector provision would meet the costs 
of education two pupils in maintained or academy 
provision within Solihull. 

Making the best use of our people 
and physical assets. 

A key aspect here will be to ensure we maximise 
the use of school and Council buildings in order to 
provide some of our new service provision. This 
may well require the re-designation of some assets 
along with some capital investment.  

 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny 

6.2.1 The DSG financial position, the factors that have led to the deficit and the 
actions already taken have been set out in recent reports to the Solihull Schools 
Forum and its sub groups. The Forum is a key stakeholder in matters relating to 
the DSG and has statutory duties in relation school funding issues.  

6.2.2 Further reports on the consideration of future service options and progress 
against the recovery plan will go to the Solihull School Forum as required and 
will be informed by discussion with the Head Teachers’ Reference Group. 
Parental engagement will be a continual feature of this developing Plan. 

6.2.3 Any consultation requirements linked to the detail of the Recovery Plan, once 
developed, will be detailed and approval sought in subsequent reports to the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and Skills. 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 The report also notes resources allocated to develop, implement and monitor 
the Recovery Plan actions. 

6.3.2 The financial aspects of the plan are set out in Appendix A.  As with all financial 
models, certain assumptions have been made around demand, cost, 
funding and provision. Changes in these assumptions will need to be reflected 
as part of the implementation and update of the Recovery Plan. 

6.3.3 There will also be some capital investment required to deliver several of the 
planned proposals. Funding for elements of this is already in the approved 

Page 115



 

 
 

Children’s Services capital programme. As other proposals are developed, the 
capital implications will be set out as part of the detailed project plans. 

6.3.4 The recovery of the ongoing deficit must be in accordance with DfE guidelines 
and treated in accordance with statutory accounting requirements. As referred 
to in paragraph 3.4, the requirements of the School and Early Years Finance 
(England) Regulations 2020 are for prior year deficits to be deducted from the 
current year’s school budget or carried forward to the next financial year, unless 
an application is made to the Secretary of State to disregard this. This means 
that deficits do not have to be covered by an authority’s general reserves. 
However, the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting does not currently 
allow for any earmarked reserve to be shown in a deficit position at the balance 
sheet date so it is currently not possible to achieve the DfE’s proposal in 
accounting terms. This has been flagged with the relevant civil servants. 

6.3.5 As at 31 March 2020, the cumulative deficit was temporarily funded from the 
Budget Strategy Reserve and this was explained in the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts. It is anticipated that as at 31 March 2021, the deficit will be carried 
forward as a negative earmarked reserve, but this accounting treatment is 
subject to further clarification from CIPFA and agreement with the Council’s 
external auditors. Alternatively, the Council will have to cover each year’s DSG 
deficit on a temporary basis from non-earmarked general fund reserves, which 
includes the Council’s working balances, windfall reserve and the budget 
strategy reserve. The forecasts on these reserves exceed the forecast deficit at 
all points during the three year MTFS period, so this would be sufficient balance 
sheet cover, although it is acknowledged that these balances are also there to 
protect against other risks. 

6.3.6 As detailed in 3.10, the recovery plan aims to recover the accumulated deficit 
over a longer period than the MTFS, so the non-earmarked general fund 
reserves will be repaid and the cover required will reduce as the DSG position 
is brought back into balance. Additional disclosure will continue to be included 
in the Council’s annual Statement of Accounts to explain the DSG funding 
position and the impact of the carried forward deficit on the non-earmarked 
general fund reserves balances 

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 The Council was required to submit a Recovery Plan to the DfE by June 2020 
to bring the DSG back into balance within three years and the regulations 
around this are set out in statutory guidance. As a consequence of Covid, 
revised arrangements have been set out by the DfE as outlined in the report.    

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 The council would be in breach of its statutory duties should it fail to submit a 
robust and approved Recovery Plan to the DfE when required and/or provide 
the relevant updates as required under the Covid related guidance.  

Page 116



 

 
 

6.5.2 Any risks associated with the elements of Recovery Plan itself will be clearly 
identified and reported to Cabinet accordingly. 

6.6 Equality Implications: 

6.6.1 Any reviews of service provision would be subject to Fair Treatment 
assessments. However, the overall objective of the proposals is to improve 
provision for children and young people with disabilities.  

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A – DSG Recovery Plan 

7.2 Appendix B – Progress against SEND work streams 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 Reports to Full Cabinet 10th October 2019 and 13th February 2020 

8.2 Various reports to Solihull Schools Forum  

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 National Audit Office Report: Support for pupils with SEND in England 
September 2019 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Dedicated Schools Grant - High Needs Block Recovery Plan   

Work 

Strand

2020/21

£'000

2021/22

£'000

2022/23

£'000

Pressures

1 Alternative provision for current Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) pupils  504 279 Based on current cohort and potential costs of alternative provision.  

1 New Provision for Excluded Pupils 317 453 Assumed 40 place provision over 4 types of provision.   

1 New Short Term Assessment Provision for Excluded Pupils 350 500 Assumed 20 place provision with the introduction phased over 3 years.  

1 Review of current cohort of Independent/Other LA places 0 0 Based on review of current pupil cohort.

1 Additional capacity from agreed proposals for SEND provision 1,034 2,674 Based on the proposals set out in the SEND commissioning strategy with 

provision planned to start in September 2020, 2021 and 2022. Note these dates 

are provisional subject to consultation, planning etc.      

1 Net Additional Capacity - based on Alternative Provision model 624 500 Based on current  demand assumptions net of the above but subject to 

continuous  review.

1 Projected new top up costs for Key Stage primary to Secondary changes 459 672 Based on potential changes to pupil destinations at Key Stage 3 at notional 

place rate.

1 Further Education  - projected move from Secondary provision 251 251 Based on potential changes to pupil destinations at Key Stage 4 at estimated 

place rate based on need.

4 Other Education Payments 300 300 For additional need and pre EHCP costs, based on current trend with  assumed 

demand reduction.   

4 Covid 175 0 Additional short term support to Schools resulting from Covid. 

4 Place Inflation for Special Schools 400 600 As agreed with Solihull School Forum to supplement current place unit values.

Total pressures 0 4,414 6,229

Mitigations

5 HNB Growth Funding/Contingency to be allocated (2,600) (2,700) As per DFE allocations for 20/21. 

1 Review of current cohort of Independent/Other LA places (567) (2,209) Based on review of current pupil cohort.

1 Demographic Growth - based on projected  new Special School Places 0 (535) Based on the proposals set out in the SEND commissioning strategy at 

assumed per pupil grant rate.

1 Re-allocation of existing PRU funding (764) (1,309) Saving from the potential change to the existing secondary PRU arrangements 

subject to the development of alternative arrangements,  as set out above. 

1 Re-allocation of primary PRU funding (760) (760) Saving from the closure of the Auckland Primary PRU, full year effect

1 Projection of current Pupil Top Ups by sector Based on review of current pupil cohort.

Special (265) (448)

Primary (403) (607)

Secondary (inc Additional Resource Provision - ARP) (50) (92)

1 Further Education - review of current cohort (99) (812) Based on review on current pupil cohort.

3 Recovery of ARP costs from Schools (40) (40) Subject the development of an agreed service model.  

3 Recovery of PRU costs from Schools (204) (350) Subject the development of an agreed service model.  

1 Planned de-commissioning of ARP places (150) (150) Based on current commissioning needs.

4 Review of other SEND services (100) (200) Estimated efficiencies based on  a  review of all remaining HNB services as part 

of Strand 4 of the Action Plan.

3 Cease Education Psychology additional contribution from HNB (short term "pump 

priming").

0 (150) Subject to the review of EHCP processes as part of Strand 3 of the Action Plan.

3 Cease Education, Health  and Care Plan (EHCP) service contribution from HNB 

(short term "pump priming")

0 (150) Subject to the review of EHCP processes as part of Strand 3 of the Action Plan.

Total Mitigations 0 (6,002) (10,512)

Net Change 2,500 (1,588) (4,283)

HNB Base Budget  30,249 30,249 30,249

HNB Deficit Opening Balance 6,039 8,539 6,951

Movement in year 2,500 (1,588) (4,283)
HNB Deficit Closing Balance 8,539 6,951 2,668

As at February 2020

HNB Deficit Opening Balance 5,797 7,112 6,216

Movement in year 1,315 (896) (1,906)

HNB Deficit Closing Balance 7,112 6,216 4,310

Description Assumptions

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B – Progress against SEND work streams 

 Focus Progress / achievements since February 2020 

Due to the impact of Covid-19 a number of projects were 
rescheduled. All projects have been re-baselined and the 
project board has approved the revised dates. 

Strand 1 SEND Placements (School Place) Commissioning 
Strategy 

 The consultations planned for Spring 2020 were delayed 
due to Covid-19 and have since commenced in September 
2020.  

 The additionally resourced provision at Tudor Grange 
Academy Solihull for secondary pupils with social, emotional 
and mental health needs opened in September 2020. Pupils 
are expected to start attending after the October 2020 half 
term. 

 Following the appointment of Forward Education Trust the 
autism special free school project continues to progress 
through the feasibility phases in line with the DfE schedule, 
which aims for an earlier than initially planned opening of 
September 2022. 

 Summerfield Education Centre moved into another building 
on the Bosworth Campus at the start of the new academic 
year in September 2020. The consultation on the proposed 
closure of the centre started in early October 2020 and the 
outcome will be reported to the Cabinet Portfolio Holder in 
the new year. 

Strand 2 Inclusion Strategy  Engagement with key stakeholders (including parent carer 
forum) is continuing to design and develop the inclusion 

P
age 121



strategy. A revised timetable has been submitted to the 
project board due to Covid 19.  

Strand 3 SEND Processes  All areas are on track following the reset as a result of the 
impact of Covid-19; these include recruitment, policy and 
processes. A new Head of Service has been appointed and 
is due to arrive in post in November 20. StART Manager 
recruitment (third attempt) is in progress, which indicates the 
scarcity of good quality and experienced SEND managers. 

Strand 4 Review of current and future provision  On hold (as agreed by Project Board) pending further 
development of other work streams. 

Strand 5 Funding Strategy and planning  Financial modelling is continuing to progress and work is 
underway to assess the impact of the DfE 2021-22 
regulations published in September 20. 

Strand 6 Annual Reviews  The SEND Annual Review Recovery Action Plan has been 
signed off, triggering the start of key activities within the plan 
to add pace and prioritisation to dealing with the backlog. 

Strand 7 Graduated Response Pathway  Rapid assembly of the Graduated Response Pathway action 
plan has been completed, which aims to ensure that more 
children can have their needs met in a mainstream school 
with the appropriate intervention and support.  Initial actions 
are in train. 

 

 

P
age 122



 

 
 

Meeting date: 5th November 2020 

 

Report to: Cabinet 

Subject/report 
title: 

Property Investment Strategy 

Report from: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Martin Clayton, Head of Investment and Commercial Partnerships 
(mclayton@solihull.gov.uk) 
 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

      

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To seek approval for a revised Property Investment Strategy. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Cabinet is asked to approve the Property Investment Strategy as attached at 
Appendix A (Public) and Appendix B (Private). 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 The Council’s existing Property Investment Strategy was agreed in November 2017. 
The purpose of the Strategy as set out at that time was to ensure that: 

 Investment in property was carried out in accordance with an approved process 
and complied with the published guidance on local government capital, treasury 
management and investments. 

 Whilst predominately concerned with direct property investment the Strategy 
also allowed the Council to invest in property funds or to take on the role of 
property development, either on its own or with a development partner. 

 The primary objective of the Strategy was to invest in property to deliver a 

Page 123

Agenda Item 10



 

 
 

profitable income return on capital invested over the medium term, through a 
balanced strategy of acquisition, retention and management of good quality 
investments and to use the net income generated to support wider Council 
services. 

 Preference was to be given to investments of economic or social benefit to the 
Borough. 

3.2 Since that first Strategy was agreed in 2017 both the Government and the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance (CIPFA) have issued refreshed property investment 
guidance. This guidance has been used to inform the revised Strategy which is 
attached at Appendix A. Where specific commercial terms of completed transactions 
are detailed these are included at Appendix B in the Private section of the Agenda. 

3.3 The main points to note are:- 

 The primary objective of the revised Strategy is to support the Council’s 
economic development, regeneration and place making objectives.    

 Whilst Local Authorities can still invest to generate a return they may not use 
borrowing to fund such activities.  Investments that are primarily for income will 
be dealt with under the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.  That 
Strategy prioritises security and liquidity over yield. 

 The Strategy maintains the existing governance arrangements whereby any 
proposed investment will be reported to the Property Investment Board for 
detailed consideration prior to any recommendation being made to Full 
Cabinet. 

 Further performance indicators have been included to demonstrate the financial 
impact of the investments the Council has made under this Strategy. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 The recommended Strategy is based on the latest Statutory Guidance issued by 
Government and the further information provided by CIPFA both of which are 
summarised in the document. The 2017 Strategy included income generation as a 
primary objective and this has been removed from the revised version. However, in 
the view of officers the investment transactions completed under the 2017 Property 
Investment Strategy would still meet this revised Strategy. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 As set out above the Strategy has been revised to reflect the more up to date 
guidance.  The Strategy is clear that its property investment activities will continue to 
support the Council’s objectives, contains robust procedures for the reporting and 
consideration of proposed transactions and provides transparent information about the 
impact of those transactions on the Council’s finances. 

Page 124



 

 
 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the 
opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply of housing, 
especially affordable and social 
housing. 

The Strategy’s purpose is to set out the 
Council’s approach to the acquisition and 
management of property assets. It is explicit 
that the purpose of these transactions will 
be to support the Council’s objectives as set 
out in the Council Plan. See the “Links to 
other Council Plans, Strategies and 
Policies” section of Appendix A. 

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment. 
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

The Strategy’s purpose is to set out the 
Council’s approach to the acquisition and 
management of property assets. It is explicit 
that the purpose of these transactions will 
be to support the Council’s objectives as set 
out in the Council Plan. See the “Links to 
other Council Plans, Strategies and 
Policies” section of Appendix A 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances in 
our most disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable 

provision for adults & children with 
complex needs. 

The Strategy’s purpose is to set out the 
Council’s approach to the acquisition and 
management of property assets. It is explicit 
that the purpose of these transactions will 
be to support the Council’s objectives as set 
out in the Council Plan. See the “Links to 
other Council Plans, Strategies and 
Policies” section of Appendix A 

 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: The Strategy has not been subjected to Scrutiny at this 
stage. The Strategy has been considered by the Property Investment Board who have 
supported the recommendation in this report. 

6.3 Financial implications: The Strategy sets out the approach that it is proposed that the 
Council follows in relation to investments that are likely to be of a high value. The 
Strategy includes financial indicators that measure the impact of the investments 
made on the Council’s financial position and appropriate risk mitigation measures 
where required. 

6.4 Legal implications: The Strategy has been drafted to comply with both the Statutory 
Guidance and that issued by CIPFA. This includes the legislative requirement that 
Councils will not borrow in advance of need in order to invest solely for income. 

6.5 Risk implications: The Strategy is designed so as to implement a series of governance 
and reporting requirements that will support the assessment and management of risk 

Page 125

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Ourvisionandpriorities/Council_plan.pdf


 

 
 

when making key investment decisions. 

6.6 Equality implications: No equality implications as a direct result of this report. However 
these will be considered and set out when any proposed investment under this 
Strategy is reported for decision.  

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A - Draft Property Investment Strategy. 

7.2 Appendix B – Private Appendix. 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 None 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None 

Page 126



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Property Investment Strategy  

2020/2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

UPDATED NOVEMBER 2020  

Page 127



 

2 
 

 

 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction        3 

2. Context – Statutory and Regulatory    4 

3. Strategy Objective       6 

4. Decision Making, Governance and Reporting  7 

5. Key Performance Indicators     12   

6. Links to other Council Plans, Strategies and Policies 18 

Appendices 

Appendix A        20 

Appendix B (i)        24  

Appendix B (ii)        25 

 

  

Page 128



 

3 
 

Introduction 

The purpose of this Property Investment Strategy is to ensure that, where the Council 

acquires property, that it does so in a reasoned, evidence based, transparent way with full 

regard to the relevant statutory and regulatory guidance.  The objective is to ensure that by 

following this Strategy the Council acquires property that advances its service and place 

making ambitions whilst managing and effectively mitigating any risks involved.  

This Strategy:- 

 Sets the Council’s position with regards to property investment in the context of the 

statutory and regulatory guidance that has been issued on the topic over the course 

of recent years. 

 Confirms the Council’s compliance with that guidance. 

 Sets out the Council’s arrangements for decision making, scrutiny, and monitoring in 

relation to property investment 

 Provides details of the Council’s capacity, experience and skill set in matters relating 

to property including the use of external advisors where appropriate. 

 Details the key performance indicators that will be used to support decision making 

and the ongoing monitoring of the portfolio. 

 Evidences how the Strategy links with and complements a range of other Council 

plans and policies. 

  

  

Page 129



 

4 
 

Context – Statutory and Regulatory 

In preparing this Strategy officers have had regard to the statutory and regulatory guidance 

as summarised below. 

CIPFA Prudential Property Investment (November 2019) 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) published its Prudential 

Property Investment document in November 2019. The document is explicit in setting out 

that it is a direct response to growing concerns that local authorities were borrowing more 

than and ahead of need in order to purchase property solely to generate surplus income.  

This practice is contrary to the Prudential Code that regulates local authority borrowing and 

indeed borrowing purely to subsequently invest solely for profit is unlawful.  Councils can, 

however, borrow to invest in property that helps them meet their service obligations or 

fulfils their wider place making, economic development and regeneration based objectives. 

Prudential Property Investment sets out three considerations that local authorities should 

have regards to in their decision making when considering an acquisition, namely, can the 

authority make the acquisition, should it make the acquisition and will it make the 

acquisition. More specifically this means:- 

1. Does the authority have the legal powers to make the proposed acquisition 

2. Does the acquisition meet the requirements of the relevant guidance such as the 

Prudential Code, the Statutory Investment Guidance and is it reasonable when 

assessed against the Wednesbury Principles. 

3. Does the acquisition comply with the authority’s own Corporate and Local Plans and 

is it supported by its Property and Investment Strategies. Do officers and Members 

have the relevant skills, knowledge and experience to make the acquisition and 

subsequently to manage it effectively? 

At the centre of the document is the distinction between making an acquisition under the 

legal powers to acquire land and buildings (that meets service and place making objectives) 

v’s acquisitions that are made under the powers to invest (purely for yield).  Councils can 

borrow to fund the former activity but not the latter. 

This Property Investment Strategy will set out how the Council will ensure these questions 

are answered through the decision making process whenever the acquisition of property is 

considered. 

Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd edition effective 

April 2018) 

The government published its own Statutory Guidance which took effect from April 2018 

and which, whilst not mandatory, local authorities must have regard to.  The guidance 

distinguishes between financial investment that is made for treasury purposes and is 

therefore governed by the Treasury Management Code with its focus on security, liquidity 

Page 130



 

5 
 

and yield (in that order of priority) and other non-financial investments that are held to 

further service and policy objectives. 

For the latter category, in order to comply with the guidance, an authority should disclose 

the service or place making contribution made by the asset. Further, the authority should 

publish a set of indicators that quantify the level of risk exposure, how the investment has 

been funded, its rate of return and if funded from borrowing the debt servicing implications. 

For investments of this nature the Council should consider the balance of security, liquidity 

and yield based on its risk appetite and the level of contribution made to service and place 

making objectives. 

The authority’s strategy should also set out its approach to assessing risk, its approach to 

liquidity, the extent to which the Council is financially dependent on income from these 

other investments to balance its budget and how it will ensure that officers and members 

have the relevant skills and expertise to make effective decisions.  

The guidance is clear that Councils must not borrow in advance of need purely in order to 

profit from the funds borrowed. If this guidance is disregarded then a report should be 

presented to Council stating the reasons why, the level of risk involved and how those risks 

will be managed. 

This Property Investment Strategy will set out how these requirements will be met.    

HM Treasury Public Works Loan Board – Future Lending Terms (March 2020) 

In preparing this Strategy officers have been mindful of a consultation published by HM 

Treasury on the future lending terms of the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). The 

consultation:- 

1. Proposes that Councils confirm to the PWLB that they do not plan to invest the funds 

borrowed for yield. 

2. Sets out guidance on the types of activity that the PWLB will no longer support. 

3. Sets out additional information that will be required through the loan applications 

process. 

Any changes to the relevant regulations or guidance that results from this consultation will 

be incorporated into a future refresh of this Strategy. 

 

 

  

Page 131



 

6 
 

Strategy Objective 

This Strategy confirms that the Council will only utilise prudential borrowing to fund 

acquisitions of land and buildings that advance the Council’s service, place making, 

regeneration and economic development ambitions and objectives.  It will not use 

prudential borrowing to fund the acquisition of property whose sole objective is to generate 

yield.   

Whilst it is permissible to purchase assets purely for yield they must be funded from surplus 

cash held by the authority. The Council’s approach to such investments is set out in its 

Treasury Management Strategy with reference to the need for security, liquidity and yield in 

that order of priority. Investments of that nature are not considered further in this Strategy. 

Whilst recognising that acquisitions made under this Strategy will be for purposes aligned 

with the Council’s service and wider place making responsibilities it is still the case that they 

will be financially significant, involve material financial and reputational risk and will 

therefore need to be subject to rigorous and robust procedures.  This Strategy sets out in 

more detail the purposes for which acquisitions will be made, how the decision making 

process will be governed, informed and scrutinised, how the Council will undertake due 

diligence and risk management and how the Council will continue to manage and report the 

performance of those assets going forward. 

The Strategy will be reviewed annually and any proposed revisions will be brought to 

Members for consideration.    

Page 132



 

7 
 

Decision Making, Governance and Reporting  

The proposed acquisition of any property under this Strategy will be subject to detailed 

review by the Property Investment Board (PIB), a summary of whose Terms of Reference are 

set out below, who will then make a recommendation on to Full Cabinet for decision. The 

PIB also has a wider role, beyond the investment decision, in the governance of the property 

portfolio.  Any aspect of this Strategy would be subject to scrutiny by the Resources and 

Delivering Value Scrutiny Board should they deem it necessary. 

Property Investment Board 

Full Cabinet approved the establishment of a Property Investment Board in November 2017 

alongside the Council’s first Property Investment Strategy. The Board’s function is to 

examine any potential property acquisitions before making a recommendation on to Full 

Cabinet for decision. 

The Board’s membership comprises:- 

 The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Resources (Chair) 

 The Leader of the Council 

 The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

 The Director of Economy and Infrastructure 

The Board is supported by a range of advisory officers including:- 

 The Head of Strategic Land and Property 

 The Solicitor to the Council 

 The Head of Investment and Commercial Partnerships 

 The Head of Financial Operations 

 Other officers as required 

 External Advisors as required 

The Board’s remit and responsibilities are summarised in the table below. 

Page 133



 

8 
 

Objective Responsibilities

Identification of Property Investment 

Opportunities

At a high level, all opportunities are to be 

given consideration which meet the 

selection criteria as set out in the Property 

Investment Strategy

Provide a strategic overview of 

investment decisions and how they link to 

wider corporate objectives

Option appraisal and business case 

review

Review the business case and rationale for 

the proposed acquisition.

Satisfy itself that the proposal meets a 

defined and evidenced service or policy 

need

Challenge and scrutinise the assumptions 

presented in the business case 

Acquisition strategy To ensure the acquisition strategy for 

those investment opportunities passing 

the business case test, is robust and 

capable of delivering value for money

A target budget inclusive of all fees and 

contingency costs to be identified and 

agreed for each opportunity

Identification of redevelopment 

opportunities and wider benefits

The majority of the proposals to acquire 

property covered under this Strategy will 

be designed to promote longer term 

economic growth or regeneration. The 

Board will therefore consider and agree at 

a high level the wider added benefits that 

cannot be captured in terms of pure rental 

return i.e. economic growth, business 

rates, new housing delivery and 

regeneration.  This links back to the 

business case assessment covered in the 

section above.

Management of investment portfolio To oversee the delivery of an effective 

management regime inclusive of:

- Performance management against 

budget reviewed and monitored on an 

ongoing basis

- Strategic Asset Management

- Property Management

- Ongoing review to ensure investment 

assets are ‘fit for purpose’

Steering of Property Investment Strategy Review and agree amendments to the 

Property Investment Strategy as the 

portfolio evolves

Consider potential disposals and forward 

plan for reinvestment and redevelopment

 
Page 134



 

9 
 

Full Cabinet 

The recommendation from PIB will be considered through a formal report presented to Full 

Cabinet where the final decision will be made on any proposed acquisition. 

Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board  

The relevant Scrutiny Board for any acquisition under this Strategy is the Resources and 

Delivering Value Scrutiny Board. 

Reporting format – Considerations, Evaluation Criteria and Due Diligence 

The reports presented to the PIB and Full Cabinet will, as a minimum, contain the 

information set out below. The objective of the report is to provide decision makers with 

transparent and evidence based confirmation that the proposed acquisition is legal and is 

being made for the purposes of advancing the Council’s service and policy objectives. It will 

set out the rationale for the recommended decision, the costs, benefits, potential risks and 

how they will be mitigated. It will set out the results of the due diligence and sensitivity 

analysis. 

Key sections:- 

1. Purpose of the proposed acquisition.  

Confirmation of the legal powers under which the acquisition is to be made and the 

service and / or wider policy objective of the Council that the property will support. 

The report will reference the evidence for such a conclusion that will be attached as 

an appendix. Refer to the template included in this Strategy at Appendix B (i). 

 

2. Assessment of acquisition. 

Subject to the confirmation in (1) above the report will detail the results of the 

officer’s professional review of the proposed acquisition. See Appendix B (ii) for a 

summary of the financial and non-financial factors that will be used to inform the 

recommendation. Any key issues that arise from this assessment will be considered 

in the main covering report. 

 

3. Due diligence. 

The report will set out the result of the due diligence conducted by officers. This will 

include, where relevant, the advice of external advisors and specifically a red book 

valuation. 

 

4. Sensitivity analysis. 

The key financial variables of the proposed acquisition will be reviewed to provide 

decision makers with an assessment of their impact on the business case and the 

financial viability of the proposal.  These may vary depending on the case in question 

but as a minimum would be expected to include:- 

 

Page 135



 

10 
 

 The impact of a range of percentage variations in annual rental income on 

the servicing of the associated debt. 

 The impact of a prolonged void period. 

 The impact of a significant level of expenditure that would be the 

responsibility of the Council as landlord. 

 The impact of a change in the interest rate assumed in the base case. 

 

5. Risk mitigation strategy.  

Following on from the sensitivity analysis presented above the report will set out 

how officers intend to mitigate the impact of any substantial negative variations of 

those factors.  

 

6. On-going management of the asset. 

The report will set out how the asset will be managed and maintained over the 

course of its economic life and how that will be monitored and reported. 

 

7. Redevelopment proposals 

Where a recommendation is made to acquire a property with a view to its future 

redevelopment, the report will set out the objective of those works (e.g. economic 

growth, regeneration), how it is envisaged it will be delivered and financed along 

with an assessment of the strategic risks and their mitigation. Whilst it may still be 

necessary to work up a more detailed business case for future consideration by 

Cabinet, no recommendation to acquire for redevelopment will be made where 

there is not a clear, demonstrable and deliverable plan for its subsequent 

achievement.  

 

8. Key financial indicators 

A set of key financial indicators for the property portfolio governed by this Strategy is 

set out in the section below. The report will set out the marginal impact the 

proposed acquisition would make on those indicators, should it be approved. 

 

The capacity, experience and knowledge of key Members, officers and advisors. 

As set out above any property acquisition considered under this strategy will be subject to a 

detailed examination by the Property Investment Board.  The Board is comprised of some of 

the most senior and experienced Members and officers in the Council. From a Member 

perspective it is chaired by the Portfolio Holder for Resources and the Leader of the Council 

is also on the Board.  From an officer perspective it includes the most senior Finance officer 

(and Section 151 officer), the Director for Economy and Infrastructure, the Council’s senior 

land officer, the Solicitor to the Council and the Heads of both Investment and Financial 

Operations.  This ensures that the matter is considered from a variety of professional 

viewpoints and is subject to an appropriate level of scrutiny.  Only when this group is 

satisfied of the merits of an acquisition will a proposal then be put to Full Cabinet. 

Page 136



 

11 
 

Whilst, over time, there will be a natural turnover of personnel on the group, the essential 

criteria in the person specification for the relevant post allied with a robust recruitment 

procedure will ensure that the replacement has the required level of skills and experience.   

Procurement Criteria for external advisors 

The Council’s procurement assessment process for its professional advisors usually 

attributes 60% of the available score to qualitative factors with the remaining 40% devoted 

to price. The qualitative scoring encompasses a number of generic factors such as 

programme and account management but most of the available marks are given on the 

quality of submissions that tenderers set out against the project scenario in question.  

Scores are awarded on the basis of successful, relevant, past experience, the professional 

CV’s of the lead officers put forward in the submission and the added value they can bring 

to the Council.  Through this process Council officers seek to ensure that any appointment 

of external consultants is conducted in a robust and transparent manner with the particular 

requirements of the project in question at the forefront of that assessment. Ongoing 

performance management is conducted through the account management process 

including regular meetings between senior representatives from each organisation.   

 

  

Page 137



 

12 
 

Key Performance Indicators 

The indicators set out below will be calculated and updated annually as a minimum or 

whenever an investment proposal is being considered by PIB or Cabinet. The indicators 

relate purely to the Council’s property investment portfolio as constructed under the remit 

of the Property Investment Strategy and do not include treasury management investments 

which are presented as part of the Treasury Management Strategy.  It does not consider the 

wider Council property portfolio that has developed over time for a variety of historical 

reasons and which, whilst it may generate income, has not been financed from Prudential 

Borrowing. 

Since the Council’s first Property Investment Strategy was approved in November 2017 the 

Council has completed the following property acquisitions. 

 

Please see Appendix B - Private Agenda 

 

It is the professional view of the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive, after 

taking account of the size of the authority, its relative revenue and capital resources, its 

current and forecast indebtedness, its available reserves and an assessment of the wider 

risks facing the authority, that property acquisitions, under this Strategy, should be capped 

at a limit of £100m.  This will be reviewed periodically but will not be exceeded without the 

prior agreement of Cabinet.  

Under the Statutory Guidance Local authorities should present a range of indicators to allow 

Members and other interested parties to understand the total exposure from borrowing 

and investment decisions. The indicators should cover both the local authority’s current 

position and the expected position assuming all planned investments for the following year 

are completed. The Guidance requires local authorities to develop quantitative indicators 

that allow Councillors and the public to assess a local authority’s total risk exposure as a 

result of its investment decisions.  

The key indicators are described below. 
 

1. Proportionality.  
 
a. Net profit from the Council’s property investment as a proportion of expenditure 

on services. It shows the extent to which service activity is dependent on the 
profits arising from those investments over the period of the MTFS. Given that 
profit over the long term cannot be guaranteed the reports to PIB and Cabinet 
will set out a contingency plan for mitigating the impact of any decline or delay in 
the income forecast used to inform the recommendation. This strategy also sets 
out the Council’s overall contingency plan, at portfolio level below.  

 

Page 138



 

13 
 

b. Council limit for gross debt compared to net service expenditure. This indicator 
sets a maximum cap on the level of debt that can be used to fund the purchase 
of property assets as a percentage of net service expenditure. In the event that 
this limit is breached then the Council will not enter into any further property 
investments, irrespective of how these are financed, until a report has been 
presented to Cabinet to consider the options and mitigating actions at portfolio 
level. As set out above the cap for Solihull is £100m. 

 
2. Security.  

 

a. Loan to Value ratio.  Where a local authority has a property investment, it will 
have an asset that can be realised to recoup the sums invested. Therefore, the 
Guidance requires local authorities to consider security by reference to the value 
of the asset relative to purchase price and to set out the plans to recoup the 
investment if realising the asset would not recoup the sums invested. In the 
event that the assessed value of the asset is less than the acquisition price then 
the Strategy will disclose how long the Council expects it to take for the increase 
in asset values to provide security for the sums invested, the assumptions 
underpinning that expectation and any other mitigating factors that may be 
relevant on a case by case basis. 

 
b. Investment cover ratio. This ratio presents the annual net investment income 

from the property portfolio compared to the interest and MRP expense that 
must be financed. 
 

3. Liquidity. Property investments are by their nature illiquid. The guidance states that 
the local authority still needs to consider a plan for realising a part of its non-
financial investment portfolio, for example to repay debt. The liquidity of the non-
financial investment portfolio should be considered over the repayment period of 
any debt taken out to acquire assets, which could be very long term. Given current 
trends such as the scale and pace of technology driven change, there is no guarantee 
that non-financial investments will continue to deliver value over their lifetime. To 
manage this risk, local authorities need to have plans to realise the capital tied up in 
non-financial investments if required.  
 

4. Management indicators. 
 

a. Vacancy levels. This will monitor vacancy levels (voids) over time to demonstrate 
the effectiveness of the management of the portfolio. Used alongside the 
investment cover ratio it also helps indicate the extent to which the Council is 
able to cover its financing costs. For example a sustained increase in the void rate 
will eventually lead to a financing risk. 
 

b. Gross and net incomes. The income received from the investment portfolio at a 
gross level and net level (less costs) over time. 

 

Page 139



 

14 
 

c. Operating costs. The trend in operating costs of the non-financial investment 
portfolio over time, as the portfolio of non-financial investments expands. 

 

The Statutory Guidance suggests further indicators relating to target income returns and the 

benchmarking of those returns against other investments in the Council’s portfolio.  These 

are not considered relevant for Solihull. As has been made clear the objective of all of the 

Council’s property investments is to meet its service and place making ambitions. It is not to 

generate a specified annual financial return. In that context these indicators are not helpful 

and indeed could drive behaviour that is contrary to the objectives of this Strategy. 

The forecast indicators as at August 2020 are set out below.  The actual performance for the 

year and the forecast for 2021/22 will be included in the next refreshed version of this 

Strategy. 

Indicator Forecast , as 
per terms 
approved by 
Cabinet for 
completed 
acquisitions 

Commentary 

1.Proportionality   

Net profit : Net 
Service Expenditure 
(NSE) 

0.005:1 
 

Annual surplus income from investments (after 
borrowing costs, management fees and sinking 
fund) is £0.758m per annum. This is represents 
circa half a percent of the Council’s net revenue 
budget of £159m. 

Limit – Gross debt : 
NSE 

0.63:1 The cap on investment of £100m under this 
Strategy is 63% of the Council’s net annual 
budget of £159m. 

2.Security   

Loan to value ratio 1.06:1 The gross loans of £34.7m are more than the 
value of the assets at the point of acquisition of 
£32.9m. To put another way the value 
represents 95% of the debt. This is because debt 
was also used to cover fees and tax in addition 
to the purchase price. The assets will be 
revalued every five years as part of a rolling 
programme and this ratio will be updated 
accordingly. 

Investment cover 
ratio 

1.62:1 The annual income from the assets after 
management and sinking fund costs of £1.990m 
covers the annual cost of debt (interest and 
principal) of £1.232m by 162%. 

3.Liquidity – See 
section below 

  

 

Page 140



 

15 
 

Liquidity. In the event that the financial performance of the assets purchased under this 

strategy deteriorated for a sustained period of time, or the wider Council financial position 

dictated the need to realise a disposal then the position for each of the assets acquired to 

date is set out below.  

Property Acquisition Finance cost mitigation Disposal strategy if required 

33-43 High Street, Solihull  Business case provides for 
repayment of debt principal 
and a sinking fund to protect 
against financial risks, 
including a reduction in 
rental income. The sinking 
fund is managed at portfolio 
level.  

The site would be marketed with 
a view to achieving best 
consideration for the site in the 
prevailing market conditions. 

780 Stratford Road, 
Shirley 

As above. The site would be marketed with 
a view to achieving best 
consideration for the site in the 
prevailing market conditions. 

101,119-121 High Street, 
1-3,2-8 Mill Lane, Solihull 

As above The site would be marketed with 
a view to achieving best 
consideration for the site in the 
prevailing market conditions. 

146-156, 158 High Street, 
2 The Square, Solihull 
(March 2020) 

As above. The site would be marketed with 
a view to achieving best 
consideration for the site in the 
prevailing market conditions. 

140-144 High Street, 
Solihull 

Finance costs to be met from 
Property Investment Reserve 
pending development 
proposals. 

The site would be marketed with 
a view to achieving best 
consideration for the site in the 
prevailing market conditions. 

 

Risk mitigation at portfolio level 

Sinking fund. A sinking fund has been established to provide financial mitigation in the 

event that void periods reduce rental income significantly and create a financial pressure for 

the Council. The financial year 2020/21 is the first full year of income from the assets 

purchased under the Strategy to date and the contribution to the sinking fund will now 

begin. Based on the asset purchases approved there will be an annual contribution of 

£0.106m per annum. If no calls are made on the fund, based on the financial estimates 

approved at the point of acquisition the forecast balance on the fund is as follows:- 

Financial year ending: Forecast 
sinking fund 
balance £m 

Sinking fund as a 
percentage of the 
annual debt finance 
cost (£1.232m) 

31st March 2021 £0.106 8.6% 

31st March 2022 £0.212 17.2% 

Page 141



 

16 
 

31st March 2023 £0.318 25.8% 

 

Property Investment Reserve. The sinking fund (above) has been established explicitly to 

mitigate letting risks. In the event that the balance of that reserve ever proves insufficient 

the Council also has recourse to the Property Investment Reserve. This reserve was 

established to support acquisition activity and at the date of this Strategy the uncommitted 

balance stood at £0.449m.  

 

4. Management Indicators 

Please see Appendix B – Private Agenda 

Page 142



 

17 
 

Links to other Council Plans, Strategies and Policies 

Council Plan 

This Property Investment Strategy confirms that the Council will only use Prudential 
Borrowing to finance the acquisition of assets that further the Council’s policy objectives.  
The key document in this respect is the Council Plan that sets the Council’s vision and 
strategic objectives for the period 2020-2025 and focuses on the need to deliver sustainable 
and inclusive growth. The plan is based on the Council’s belief that economic development, 
environmental sustainability and health and well-being must go hand in hand. This is 
reflected in nine ‘key things to do’ – the priorities at the heart of the plan – which seek to 
balance and benefit the economy, environment and people / communities: 
 
1. Revitalising our towns and local centres 
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the opportunities of HS2 
3. Increase the supply of housing, especially affordable and social housing 
4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment 
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions 
7. Take action to improve life chances in our most disadvantaged communities 
8. Enable communities to thrive 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable provision for adults & children with complex needs 
 
When making investment decisions under the remit of this Strategy the relevant reports will 
make it clear how the proposed transaction will support the Council in its delivery of the 
Plan summarised above. 
 
The Local Plan 

The Council has a statutory duty to prepare, monitor and review a development plan for the 
Borough. The purpose of the Plan is to set out the long-term spatial vision for how its towns, 
villages and countryside will develop and change over the Plan period and how this vision 
will be delivered through a strategy for promoting, distributing and delivering sustainable 
development and growth. 
 
The Plan strategy promotes economic and job growth in the Borough and provides for new 
housing to meet the Borough’s needs, as well as land for other activities including retail, 
sport and leisure. The strategy aims to conserve and improve the character and quality of 
the environment, reflects national and local targets for reducing carbon emissions and 
contributes to the Council’s agenda of improving the quality of life and health of the 
residents of Solihull. 
 
As such, alongside the Council Plan, the Local Plan has a key role in setting the Council’s 
strategic objectives and showing how these translate across to the geographical areas 
within the Borough. Property investment decisions will be informed by the Local Plan and 
where appropriate decision making reports will reference the relevant details from the Plan 
in relation to the specific site under question.  
 

Page 143



 

18 
 

Treasury Management Strategy 

The Council is still at liberty to invest its cash to deliver yield. However those investment 

decisions are informed by the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. Critically, under 

that Strategy, the Council will seek to prioritise security and liquidity before considering 

yield.  

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

Whilst the Council’s primary objective under this Property Investment Strategy is to further 

its policy objectives, it is still the case that the transactions it encompasses entail significant 

financial outlay, risk and return.  As set out above, the performance indicators included in 

this document are intended to demonstrate the extent to which the cumulative financial 

implications of those decisions impacts on the Council’s MTFS. This is important both in 

order to facilitate transparent and evidence based decision making but also as a tool to 

ensure the Council is fully aware of the risks it is exposed to and is in a position to devise 

effective mitigation strategies. 

 

 

  

Page 144



 

19 
 

Appendices 

Appendix A 

Annex A from CIPFA - Prudential Property Investment – Legal powers to 

acquire property 

The fundamental question in establishing the legal power to acquire a commercial/ investment 
property (and to borrow to fund the acquisition) might appear trivial, but has important 
consequences. Is the authority primarily acquiring:  
 

 a property, or  

 Investment that happens to be a property?  

Each of these purposes has its own range of supporting powers, with crucial differences as to 
the extent to which the property must contribute to the authority’s service objectives and how 
the powers link with borrowing powers.  

The first step in any proposal to acquire a commercial/investment property will be to confirm 
that the authority has the legal powers to:  
 

 purchase or lease the relevant land and buildings, and  

 Operate them on a commercial basis.  

For any acquisition, legal advice should be obtained that covers both of these questions 
comprehensively.  

Property acquisition  

Authorities have general powers under Section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
acquire land (inside or outside of their area) for the purposes of: 

  

 any of their functions, or  

 The benefit, improvement or development of their area.  

There are also specific powers, such as Section 132 of the 1972 Act, permitting the acquisition of 
halls and offices for public meetings and assemblies, and Section 9 of the Housing Act 1985, 
allowing the acquisition of houses for the purpose of providing accommodation.  

Where specific powers are not relevant, the general power of competence provided by Section 
1 of the Localism Act 2011 gives local authorities power to do anything that individuals generally 
may do, subject to certain constraints. Among the more important of these constraints is that 
charges for services provided must be limited (taking one financial year with another) to 
recovery of the costs of providing the service (Section 3) and that anything done for a 
commercial purpose must be done through a company (Section 4).  

It is beyond the scope and competence of this guidance to provide advice on legal powers. 
However, a significant conclusion from the range of powers available is that the greater 
challenge will not be identifying a power allowing the acquisition of rights to property, but 
aligning the authority’s reasons for purchasing or leasing the land and buildings with the 

Page 145



 

20 
 

statutory purposes that must be satisfied, and the constraints that must be met in exercising the 
powers identified.  

If property acquisition powers are not exercisable in the particular circumstances, then reliance 
will presumably be sought on investment powers (see ‘Investment powers’ below).  

Borrowing powers  

A particular issue for this guidance is the extent to which acquisitions can be supported by 
borrowing. Where an authority intends to fund an investment property transaction from loans, 
then legal advice will also be needed as to the extent to which this can be justified.  

This can be a complicated area. Authorities might need to borrow for many reasons, from 
addressing a temporary cash shortfall to financing a capital project that might have a life of 50 
years or more. However, it is not always straightforward to map individual loans to particular 
purposes such that a loan can be identified as directly supporting specific items of expenditure 
(and nor does the Prudential Code require it). Analysis might therefore need to consider as 
much how underlying requirements to borrow have come about – distinguishing in particular 
prudential borrowing and management of revenue activities – as why individual loans have 
been taken out.  

Powers to borrow are contained in Section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003. A local 
authority is empowered to borrow money:  
 

 for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment, or  

 For the purposes of the prudent management of their financial affairs.  

These powers are constrained by Section 3 of the Act, which requires local authorities to 
determine and keep under review how much money they can afford to borrow. In determining 
affordability of borrowing, local authorities are required by the Local Authorities (Capital 
Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 (SI 2003 No 3146, as amended) to have 
regard to the Prudential Code.  

Consequently, where an authority identifies a power to acquire a property, then as the exercise 
of a function of the authority, borrowing would presumably be justified by the first part of the 
borrowing power to support that exercise. The second part would allow for funds to be raised 
where a cash deficit arises and where, for example, it would not be prudent to liquidate 
investments to cover the deficit.  

However, the two parts of the borrowing power might be difficult to separate in practice. It is 
not a customary practice for authorities to take out loans to support particular transactions. 
Most authorities will manage their cash flows on a consolidated basis across all their activities. 
Individual transactions such as property purchases will generate an underlying need to borrow, 
but might not result in actual borrowing taking place, particularly because the authority might 
have surplus cash balances arising from its other business that can – at least temporarily – cover 
the cash out flow. These arrangements are referred to in the Prudential Code as ‘internal 
borrowing’.  

This means that there can be significant but legitimate timing differences between an authority 
entering into a transaction that may need to be supported by borrowing and that borrowing 
actually taking place. Internal borrowing does not therefore remove the need to identify 
borrowing powers, but relies on the existence of currently surplus cash balances to defer 
decisions actually to borrow.  

Page 146



 

21 
 

Clarity is provided by the need under the Prudential Code for authorities to keep a record of 
their capital financing requirement (CFR). The CFR records the underlying need to borrow for 
capital purposes. It increases when capital expenditure is incurred and reduces when resources 
are set aside to finance expenditure. The extent to which expenditure incurred exceeds the 
resources set aside measures the deficit that has to be funded from external or internal 
borrowing.  

A practical application of Section 1 (Power to Borrow) of the 2003 Act might then entail deeming 
that the authority:  

 
 commits to borrowing for a purpose relevant to its functions when a transaction is 

lawfully entered into that results in expenditure that increases the CFR  

 Incurs borrowing for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs 
when loans are actually taken out as part of cash flow management arrangements.  

Use of the borrowing power would therefore be more difficult to justify where either there has 
been no increase in the underlying need to borrow or cash inflows do not currently need to be 
supplemented. There are two particular situations where these difficulties are most sharply 
focused: 
 

 borrowing in advance of need  

 Non-lending.  

These two situations can be interlinked, but borrowing in advance of need usually refers to 
circumstances where an authority is forecasting a need for borrowing (usually by reference to 
its capital programme) and assesses that it would be favourable to take out loans before the 
relevant expenditure actually takes place. This would most commonly happen where interest 
rates for fixed rate borrowing are forecast to rise. In these circumstances, borrowing will lead to 
a temporary cash surplus that will require investment. An authority might forecast that any 
additional net interest payable in the period before the need for cash is actually projected to 
arise will be exceeded by the savings in interest payable after the loans would otherwise have 
been taken out.  

This is a generally accepted treasury management practice, which depends on accepting some 
risk of loss if forecasts are not proven correct. The practice becomes less prudent the further in 
advance of need that borrowing is taken out and as projections become more unreliable.  

This type of borrowing in advance of need differs from on-lending, where there is no projected 
need to borrow but an opportunity has been identified to make an investment return in excess 
of the authority’s cost of borrowing. There is no purpose for the borrowing other than to make 
such a return, On-lending has traditionally been presumed to be unlawful and any authority 
proposing it will be careful to ensure that their legal advisers have considered the possible 
implications of historical precedents. Before PWLB lending rules were amended to put the onus 
for determining the legality of their loan applications onto authorities, they prohibited 
borrowing for the purposes of on-lending. Paragraph 45 of the Prudential Code reflects this 
history by stating:  

Authorities must not borrow more than or in advance of their needs purely in order to profit from 
the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Authorities should also consider carefully whether 
they can demonstrate value for money in borrowing in advance of need and can ensure the 
security of such funds.  

Page 147



 

22 
 

Investment powers  

Arguments have been put that the circumstances changed since the Local Government Act 2003 
introduced a primary power to invest, rather than investment being something that was done 
incidentally to an authority’s other powers. Section 12 provides that an authority may invest in 
the same way that it may borrow: 

 
 for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment, or  

 For the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs.  

The 2003 Act does not define what would constitute investment. It is uncertain whether a 
commercial or an investment property would meet the statutory definition of an investment. 
The government view, as expressed in the updated Statutory Guidance on Local Authority 
Investments, is that non-financial investments such as commercial property fall within the 
general definition of investments. However, the view has not been tested in the courts and so is 
not a definitive interpretation.  

The issue will be important where the reasons for the acquisition of a property cannot reliably 
be aligned with one of the purposes for which the specific powers for property acquisition can 
be applied and Section 12 of the 2003 Act is being relied upon. Where a property is being 
acquired solely to generate an investment return, then the transaction is arguably constrained 
by Section 12 and has therefore to be justified as a component of the prudent management of 
the authority’s financial affairs. It should therefore exclude any substantial speculative 
elements.  

The first part of the Section 12 power (Power to invest) set out above suggests an intention that 
investment is not restricted solely to transactions involving the placement of surplus funds by an 
authority. Investment under the Section 12 powers might cover functional transactions, such as 
the acquisition of shares in companies and the making of loans to individuals and organisations 
for purposes that would relate to service objectives of the authority (e.g. economic 
development), where making a financial return is not the primary concern. For such 
investments, the fact that an arrangement might make a return would be a secondary issue and 
might even be an undesired outcome if, for instance, state aid rules require an authority to 
charge interest at a rate above its own cost of borrowing.  

The second part of the Section 12 power would more clearly relate to the stewardship of surplus 
cash held by an authority, where the prudent balancing of security, liquidity and yield is 
paramount. In order to apply this power, it would be a reasonable presumption that the surplus 
funds are already in the possession of the authority. Otherwise, there would be a problem of 
circular logic:  

 
 If the authority does not have surplus cash, it will need to exercise its borrowing powers 

to secure it  

 but… the exercise of borrowing powers is usually dependent on an authority incurring 
expenditure that will result in a cash deficit  

 and… if the proposal is to borrow to invest, a cash surplus would only arise once the 
investment is made.  

Generally, the principle is that investing implies having surplus cash to undertake the 

investment. Borrowing to create this surplus cash whether this is invested in a financial 

instrument/asset or a tangible fixed asset is likely to be on-lending. 

Page 148



 

23 
 

Appendix B (i) 

Confirmation of Council’s right to acquire the asset under consideration 

Requirement Evidence 
1. Proposed acquisition – Name & Address 

 
 

 

2. Solihull Ward (confirmation the acquisition is in Borough)  
3. Confirmation of legal power used to acquire the asset (Act 

/ Paragraph) 
 
If the power concerned is considered to be an investment 
power then the proposed acquisition should be considered 
under the Council’s Treasury Management Investment 
Strategy. No further assessment will be made here. 
 

 

4. Council service objective if relevant (e.g. Childrens 
Services, Adult Social Care). Describe how the asset will 
support the delivery of that function. 
 

 

5. Describe regeneration, economic development and place 
making impact, equality impact or responding to market 
failure implications. 

 

6. If (5) above is used to justify the acquisition provide:- 

 Local plan reference 

 The relevant objective in the Council Plan 

 A Fair Treatment Assessment where applicable 

 

P
age 149



 

24 
 

 

Appendix B (ii) 

Assessment Criteria – Technical matters to be 
assessed to inform Cabinet Report 

Range of potential outcomes to guide assessment 

Excellent / 
Very Good 

Good Acceptable Marginal  Poor 

Annual rental yield / annual & MRP interest 2+:1 2:1 1.5:1 1:1 Less than1:1 

Tenants Covenant Blue 
Chip/Public 

Sector 

Strong Corporate Independent Ltd 
company or LLP 

Sole Trader No Tenant 

Lease Repairing Terms Full Repairing 
and Insuring 

Expenditure 100% 
recoverable via a 

Service Charge 

Landlord liable 
for landscaping 

only. 

Landlord 
liable for all 

external 
repairs. 

Landlord liable 
for all repairs. 

Remaining Average Lease Term Greater than 
25 years 

Greater than 15 
years 

Greater than 10 
years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Less than 5 years 

Tenure Freehold Lease > 99 years Lease > 75 Years Lease > 49 
years 

Shorter Period 

Property Condition New Build Recently 
Refurbished 

In Good 
Condition 

Requires 
Landlord 

Works 

Building is Close 
to being Life 

Expired 

Management Intensity Single Tenant - 
Nominal 

Low Maintenance - 
Requires External 

Management 
Contract 

Medium 
Maintenance - 

Infrequent input 
from an agent. 

High 
Maintenance 

- requires 
regular input 
from Officers. 

Requires a 
permanent 

member of Staff 

Risk to Income from Voids 1 to 5 voids 
would have a 

minimal effect 
(Less than 

20%) 

1 to 5 voids would 
have a moderate 
effect (circa 20 to 

50%) 

1 to 5 voids 
would have a 

significant effect 
(circa 50-80%) 

1 to 5 voids 
would result 
in less than 

20% of 
income being 

achieved. 

Property is 
currently void. 

 

P
age 150



Document is Restricted

Page 151

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2021/22
	6 Solihull Town Centre Masterplan
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	7 Smarter Ways of Working Strategy
	Appendix

	8 Medium Term Financial Strategy update (incorporating the Period 6 position) as at 30th September 2020
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	9 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Recovery Plan
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	10 Property Investment Strategy
	Appendix A

	12 Private Appendix Property Investment Strategy

